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Established in 1961, Hong Leong Finance (HLF) marked its golden anniversary in 2011. Building on a 
foundation of helping individuals and businesses, the Company’s initiatives have been set on providing 
for the evolving needs of our customers.

We endeavour to continue developing innovative products and services to help our customers 
successfully attain their fi nancial goals. Our experienced and dedicated staff strives to understand 
our customers and drives businesses to greater heights. For our commitment to deliver innovative 
and quality service, HLF was named ‘Finance Company of the Year’ in 2007 and ‘Singapore Finance 
Company of the Year’ in 2011 at the Asian Banking & Finance Retail Banking Awards. We hope to 
keep building on this foundation of working with our customers to help them achieve the next level 
in their fi nancial journey.

BUILDING ON
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S$1.60
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

* Dividend per share and times covered are stated based on the interim/fi nal dividend(s) declared/proposed in respect of each fi nancial year. This 
differs from the accounting treatment whereby dividends are accounted for in the year declared regardless of the fi nancial year to which they relate.

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Capital employed 

Total assets $ million 9,505 8,901 8,936 9,689 9,962

Net equity $ million 1,598 1,549 1,469 1,365 1,341

Net assets per share $ 3.63 3.52 3.34 3.10 3.05

Share capital 

Number of shares in issue million 440.5 440.4 440.2 440.2 439.7 

Loans and deposits 

Loans net of allowances $ million 7,452 6,279 6,137 7,413 8,039

Deposits $ million 7,761 7,177 7,269 8,102 8,263

Profit and retained earnings

Profit before tax $ million 119.7 146.3 134.1 94.6 163.2 

Profit after tax $ million 99.8 122.0 111.2 78.0 133.4 

Interim/fi nal dividend(s) declared in the year $ million 52.9 44.0 8.8 57.2 86.4 

Earnings retained for the year $ million 46.9 78.0 102.4 20.8 47.0 

Special dividend $ million  -  -  -  - 54.0 

Earnings per share and dividends

Earnings per share cents  22.7  27.7  25.3  17.7  30.4 

Dividend - gross less tax * cents  -  -  -  -  12.0 

- tax exempt one-tier * cents  12.0  12.0  8.0  5.0  8.0 

Times covered *  1.9  2.3  3.2  3.5  1.7 

Special dividend - gross less tax cents  -  -  -  -  6.0 

Number of employees 653 640 655 690 692
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

LOANS NET OF 
ALLOWANCES
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DIVIDEND(S) 
DECLARED IN THE 
YEAR
($ million) 
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TOTAL ASSETS
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FINANCIAL OVERVIEW
Group profi t after tax attributable to shareholders for the 
year ended 31 December 2011 amounted to $99.8 million, 
equivalent to 22.7 cents per share. The results for the year 
were arrived at after writing back provision for settlements 
relating to wealth management products distributed and 
allowances for doubtful debts amounting to $26.8 million 
(2010: $23.9 million inclusive of recovery of impairment 
losses of other assets). 

The Group received good support from its domestic 
customers during the year. Loans and advances (before 
allowances) rose to $7.54 billion, an increase of 18.4% 
over the previous year. The Company continued to 
maintain a healthy customer deposits base which stood at 
$7.76 billion as at 31 December 2011, and there are no 
bank borrowings outstanding.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, I AM PLEASED TO 
PRESENT THIS ANNUAL REPORT OF THE GROUP AND THE COMPANY 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011.

CHAIRMAN’S
STATEMENT

At the end of the fi nancial year, Group shareholders’ funds 
totalled $1.60 billion, equivalent to $3.63 per share. The 
Group continues to maintain a strong capital adequacy 
ratio of 18.9% as at 31 December 2011.

An interim dividend of 4 cents per share (tax exempt 
one-tier) was paid on 15 September 2011. Subject to 
the approval of shareholders at the forthcoming Annual 
General Meeting, the Board is proposing the payment of 
a fi nal dividend of 8 cents per share (tax exempt one-tier) 
in respect of 2011. The aggregate distribution for the year 
will amount to approximately $53 million, similar to the 
amount paid in respect of 2010.

OPERATING PERFORMANCE
Financial Year 2011 marked a year of uncertainty and 
turbulence. The promising global economic recovery 
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outlook at the start of the year soon turned cautious with 
growing concern over Greek public debt. In the later part of 
the year, recovery was threatened by the slowdown in US 
recovery and the overwhelming sovereign debt problems 
in Europe. 

Being an open economy, Singapore experienced a phase 
of roller-coaster growth. The fi rst quarter of 2011’s healthy 
economic growth of 9.1% on a year-on-year basis was 
short-lived. It rapidly deteriorated to 1.2% growth in the 
second quarter, improving to 6.0% in the third quarter and 
3.6% in the fi nal quarter. For the year, the Singapore GDP 
recorded 4.9% growth.
 
At HONG LEONG FINANCE, we kept up with our 
unwavering commitment to help the SMEs sustain and 
develop their businesses during these challenging times. 
In commemoration of our Golden Jubilee, we launched a 
variety of special SME value-adding fi nancing bundles that 
assisted them to defray rising costs. We also provided a 
slew of government-assisted loan programmes to support 
their operations to compete in the corporate world. Many 
governments have turned their focus to giving help to 
their SMEs and in Singapore we have public-private sector 
support to meet the changing needs of our SMEs and to 
help them grow.

Furthermore, HONG LEONG FINANCE fi rmly believes in 
actively participating with and generously contributing 
to the SME community. We supported SME development 
events and government initiatives such as the SCCCI 
“13th Annual SMEs Conference”, Spring’s “Singapore 
Customer-Centric Initiative Symposium”, the fourth World 
Entrepreneurship Forum, the fi rst time the event was held 
in Asia and IDA’s “Project-i” to promote business makeover 
through information technology.

On the housing front, there were more land releases 
for private housing to meet the demands of upgrading 
aspirations of higher income Singaporeans and housing for 
permanent residents and foreigners who come here to work 
and live. However to prevent the build-up of a property 
bubble, the government introduced the Additional Buyer’s 
Stamp Duty (“ABSD”) on 8 December in the latest round 

of housing cooling measures. Overall for 2011, volume of 
sales by developers inclusive of Executive Condominiums 
was 8% higher than 2010. HDB also released more BTO 
projects this year compared to the past few years and raised 
the public housing application eligible household income 
ceiling in an effort to manage the pent-up demand. The 
commercial property market was also buoyant, given the 
relatively good Asian economic performance. 

HONG LEONG FINANCE continued to achieve growth 
in mortgage loans. This has driven the lending portfolio 
expansion which is backed by careful assessment of 
mortgagors’ repayment ability. The increase was attained 
by launching innovative and relevant HDB, private and 
commercial property loan packages to meet market needs, 
coupled with strong support provided principally to small 
and mid-size property developers in catering to their 
project fi nancing requirements. 

In the motor vehicle loan sector, there was a further 
reduction in the number of Certifi cates of Entitlement 
(“COE”). This regulatory measure resulted in the escalation 
of COE prices and a surge in car prices which correspondingly 
dampened the new car market activity. We maintained our 
competitiveness through strengthening relationships with 
our motor vehicle distributors and dealers.

At HONG LEONG FINANCE, we kept 
up with our unwavering commitment 
to help the SMEs sustain and 
develop their businesses during these 
challenging times. In commemoration 
of our Golden Jubilee, we launched 
a variety of special SME value-adding 
fi nancing bundles that assisted them 
to defray rising costs. 
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HONG LEONG FINANCE is very happy to have been chosen 
from amongst local fi nancial institutions and honoured to 
be appointed the fi rst Porsche fi nancial partner in Asia, to 
join the very select ranks of Porsche’s global partners, and 
to be part of the launch of Porsche Financial Services locally. 
Through an exclusive suite of carefully crafted fi nancial 
schemes: Porsche Hire Purchase and Porsche Intelligent 
Finance, Porsche car owners can enjoy unprecedented 
payment fl exibility and convenience. 

In celebration of our 50th Anniversary, we also embarked 
on the “Treasures of Abundance Fixed Deposit” and 
“Golden Jubilee G55 Plus Fixed Deposit” campaigns 
to expand our depositor base. Exclusive lifestyle 
premiums were specially produced to reward our loyal 
retail customers.

At HONG LEONG FINANCE, we are passionate in developing 
and embracing an inclusive customer service approach. Our 
latest Hong Lim branch, which opened in October 2011, 
is specially designed to serve the ageing population. With 
wheelchair-friendly features such as ramp accessibility and 
lower service counters, customers with mobility problems 
can now enjoy enhanced service standards at the branch.

We also relentlessly expanded our SME Centres @ Branches 
network from two to fi ve this year to be closer to the 
business community in view of the growing SME demand. 
The Centres offer a one-stop complete suite of fi nancial 
services and solutions to corporate customers such as loan 
application for trade fi nancing, factoring and government-
assisted fi nancing schemes. 

HONG LEONG FINANCE continually invests in IT to 
facilitate delivery of superior customer-focused services. 
To upgrade our IT infrastructure, the department together 
with one data centre were relocated to new premises 
at Tampines Grande. Our second data centre was 
re-sited at The Fort, a highly secure building with modern 
infrastructure, allowing us to bring data protection and 
security to the next level to better serve our customers.

At HONG LEONG FINANCE, we are honoured to be 
conferred the prestigious “Singapore Finance Company 

of the Year” award at the Asian Banking & Finance Retail 
Banking Awards 2011. This is the second time that we 
have earned the coveted accolade, a testament to our 
‘best-of-the-best’ practices with long standing excellence 
among the fi nancial industry’s key players based on three 
main criteria – innovation, effectiveness and dynamism. In 
this rapidly changing business environment, we cater to 
evolving customer needs by staying creative and adaptive. 
The award reaffi rmed that our pursuit in putting customers 
at the centre of everything we do is the right way to go. 

OUTLOOK
On the prospects for the year 2012, the Singapore economy 
is expected to experience a moderation in its growth rate 
amidst a challenging external environment due to sovereign 
debt strains in Europe and slowing growth in the US, and 
internal constraints of population and space, as seen in 
the government’s ongoing efforts to gradually reduce 
the infl ow of foreign workers and immigrants. SMEs will 
continue to see their strength and resilience being tested. 

Under current market conditions, lending spreads are very 
fi ne, impacting profi tability. Once spreads improve over 
time, we should obtain benefi ts from the commendable 
growth we have achieved in our loan portfolio. With 
weakness in Europe and the on-going recapitalisation of 
some of the overseas banks, there are also opportunities 
for us to seek to fulfi l the funding needs that may come 
about. 

The benign interest rate environment may also change if 
a protracted global slowdown materialises due to external 
shocks or fi nancial contagion. The silver lining in this may 
then be that infl ation may cool with a decline in global 
trade and demand, resulting in reduced tightness in the 
labour market and alleviation of price pressures.
 
Our main focus is to strengthen our relevance to our 
customers and increase our effectiveness in helping 
them amid an increasingly challenging environment. As a 
SME leader, HONG LEONG FINANCE will continue to 
invest fi nancially and strategically by opening more 
SME Centres @ Branches to bring value to the SME 
community. As previously announced, we recently 

6 Hong Leong Finance



received approval-in-principle from the Singapore 
Exchange to act as a full sponsor on Catalist, enabling 
us to assist SMEs wishing to raise capital on this board and 
providing us with another income stream.

The ongoing development of innovative products 
and services will enable us to build mutually benefi cial 
partnerships with both our corporate and retail customers 
and reinforce our competitive positioning to ensure 
continual development and a sustainable future. In 
fostering an inclusive growth and bringing further benefi ts 
to all segments of our customer base, HONG LEONG 
FINANCE will proactively identify emerging trends and 
anticipate market needs so as to bring about a conducive 
and supportive environment for all customers.

Our unceasing commitment over the last 50 years to 
prudent fi nancial management and sustainable business 
practices will keep us focused on safeguarding and 
enhancing shareholder interest, in both good times 
and poorer times.

APPRECIATION
On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to thank 
our valued customers, shareholders and business partners 
for their continued support, trust and confi dence in us. I 
wish to take this opportunity to extend a warm welcome to 
Mr Raymond Lim Siang Keat who will be joining the Board 
with effect from 1 March 2012. I am sure the Company 
will benefi t from his extensive and diverse experience and 
counsel. I also wish to formally place on record our sincere 
appreciation to Mr Woo Tchi Chu, who has indicated his 
desire to retire from the Board at the forthcoming Annual 
General Meeting, for his valuable contributions to the 
Company over the past 21 years. My appreciation also 
goes to my fellow Directors for their invaluable counsel 
and to the management and staff for their commitment 
and efforts throughout the year.

KWEK LENG BENG
Chairman
28 February 2012
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CORPORATE
PROFILE

Listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange in 1974 as the 
then Singapore Finance Ltd, Hong Leong Finance (HLF) 
is the fi nancial services arm of the Hong Leong Group 
Singapore, offering an extensive suite of fi nancial products 
and services, spanning from deposits and savings, 
corporate and consumer loans to government assistance 
programmes for SMEs. 

HLF is a pioneer in the Local Enterprise Finance Scheme 
administered by Spring Singapore. With 50 years of 
experience in serving the SME community, HLF has 
supported many local enterprises with customized 
fi nancing solutions to enable them to operate successfully 
in the corporate world. To help our corporate customers 
gain greater business effi ciency, HLF launched the Business 
Current Account in 2007 and became the only fi nance 
company here to offer chequeing account services. With 
our strong commitments towards the SMEs, HLF was twice 
conferred the “Friends of Enterprise” award by the Spirit 
of Enterprise. 

In our quest to maintain market leadership and deliver 
our services more effi ciently to the SMEs, HLF rolled out 
SME Centre @ Branches, a new initiative to further 
enhance our presence and bring us closer to the business 
community. There are currently fi ve centres across the 

INCORPORATED IN 1961 AS A SMALL & MEDIUM ENTERPRISE (SME), 
HONG LEONG FINANCE HAS EVOLVED TO BECOME 
SINGAPORE’S LARGEST FINANCE COMPANY WITH A 
DISTRIBUTION NETWORK OF 28 BRANCHES.

Across

Singapore

North, South, East, West & 

Central zones of Singapore

Servicing

The Community

285 50
BRANCHESSME CENTRES YEARS

north, south, east, west and central zones of Singapore, 
which have been reaching out to businesses in the vicinity. 

At HLF, we are committed to providing complete fi nancial 
solutions to both business enterprises and retail customers. 
We remain close to the community we serve through 
our branch network and aspire to serve our customers 
by listening to their requests and tailoring our suite of 
products and services to best cater to their needs. Whether 
it’s a business entity striving to expand its company or an 
individual wishing to build a secure fi nancial future, HLF 
will endeavour to cater to their every need. For that reason, 
HLF received the ‘Finance Company of the Year’ in 2007 
and ‘Singapore Finance Company of the Year’ in 2011 at 
the Asian Banking & Finance Retail Banking Awards. 

We believe in maintaining the trust and confi dence that 
our customers have in us by consistently developing and 
enhancing our capabilities to better serve our diverse 
customer base and be a fi nancial partner of choice.

Through the years, we have established a solid customer 
base and growth with them. We thank them for their 
continued support and look forward to many more years 
of golden service.  
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DIRECTORY
OF SERVICES

Commercial/Industrial Property Loan

Development Loan

Equipment Financing

Equipment Refi nancing

Factoring/Accounts Receivable Financing

HDB Factory Loan

HDB Shop Loan

Hire Purchase

Insurance Premium Financing Scheme

Internationalisation Finance Scheme (IFS)

Inventory Finance

JTC Factory Loan

Letters of Credit

Loans for Conservation Property

Loan Insurance Scheme (LIS)

Local Enterprise Finance Scheme (LEFS)

Medical Asset Financing

Micro Loan Programme

Revolving Working Capital Finance

Suppliers’ Invoice Financing

Trade Finance

Vessel Financing

Catalist Full Sponsor

Equity/Fund Raising

Initial Public Offering

Secondary Fund Raising

Underwriting of Shares

Corporate Advisory

Financial Advisory

Mergers & Acquisitions

Restructuring

Independent Financial Advisory

Car Loan (New & Used Cars)

HDB Home Loan 

Private Housing Loan

Share Financing

SME Loans Corporate Finance

Personal Loans

Business Current Account

Fixed Deposits

Savings Accounts

Savers Plus

Deposits
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2011
HIGHLIGHTS

January

August

May

March

July

CELEBRATING 50 YEARS OF SERVICE
HONG LEONG FINANCE (HLF) kicked off the
50th anniversary with a special edition of the 
Golden 55 Plus Fixed Deposit as thanks to its 
elderly customers who have given the Group their 
tireless support throughout the years. 

A NEW DESIGN AND BUILD DATA CENTRE
AT THE FORT
HLF takes data centre security to the next higher 
level with the relocation of a data centre to a new 
design and build premises at The Fort, a highly 
secure building with modern infrastructure. 

PARTICIPATION AT SCCCI ANNUAL
SMEs CONFERENCE
Reinforcing the unwavering support of the SMEs, 
HLF was once again a Jade Sponsor in the Singapore 
Chinese Chamber of Commerce & Industry 13th 
Annual SMEs Conference held in May at the Suntec 
Convention Centre. The conference was attended 
by more than 1,000 business delegates who wished 
to gain new market perspectives and enhance their 
knowledge on the importance of productivity to 
improve business competitiveness and increase profi t.

EXPANSION OF SME CENTRE NETWORK
TO THE EAST
HLF launched a third SME Centre at Bedok Branch 
to bring our products and services closer to the 
businessmen in the eastern part of Singapore.
SME Centre @ Bedok offers dedicated services to 
cater to the SME fi nancing needs.

HLF NAMED SINGAPORE FINANCE COMPANY 
OF THE YEAR 
For the second time, HLF was bestowed the honour 
of “Singapore Finance Company of the Year” at 
the Asian Banking and Finance Retail Banking 
Awards 2011. The award recognises fi nancial 
institutions in Asia that have proven to be industry 
leaders in innovation, effectiveness and dynamism. 

LAUNCH OF SME GOLDEN JUBILEE PACKAGE 
As a long-time supporter of small and medium 
enterprises (SMEs), HLF launched the SME Golden 
Jubilee Package, specifi cally tailored to the needs of 
corporate customers. The package provided special 
interest waivers and specialty fi nancing services such 
as property and equipment loans.

CONTINUED GROWTH OF SME CENTRE 
NETWORK TO THE NORTH 
HLF opens a fourth SME Centre at Yishun Branch 
which completes the foundational network of SME 
Centres in the north, south, east, west and central 
zones of Singapore to ensure that SMEs across the 
island will travel no more than 30 minutes to access 
a centre easily. 
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November

October

December

PARTNER AT THE FIRST WORLD 
ENTREPRENEURSHIP FORUM IN ASIA
As a fi rm believer in promoting the spirit of 
entrepreneurship, HLF is honoured to be a partner 
in the 4th World Entrepreneurship Forum, held in 
Asia for the fi rst time. Business leaders and thought 
leaders came to Singapore to participate in the 
event that sought to use entrepreneurship to break 
the cycle of poverty and social injustice.  

FESTIVE CELEBRATION WITH A BANG 
HLF began the holiday season celebration with 
the Festive Fixed Deposit Promotion to reward our 
deposit customers for saving with us. Exclusive and 
uniquely styled porcelain casseroles were given to 
depositors as a gesture of our appreciation. 

INTRODUCTION OF CUSTOMER-ORIENTED 
SERVICES AT HONG LIM BRANCH 
Our new Hong Lim Branch, relocated from Chinatown 
Point, is designed to better serve the fast ageing 
population. Equipped with wheelchair-friendly 
features such as ramp accessibility and lower service 
counters, customers with mobility problems can now 
enjoy enhanced service standards at the branch.

HLF CONFIRMS EXCLUSIVE TIE-UP
WITH PORSCHE 
HLF closed the year on a high note with an exclusive 
tie-up with Porsche Financial Services. The fi nancial 
scheme, which was launched in Jan 2012, provides 
uniquely tailored car loans to Porsche buyers here. 
HLF has become the fi rst fi nancial institution in Asia 
to work with Porsche.

OPENING OF THE FIFTH
SME CENTRE @ BRANCHES 
Enhancing our network of convenient corporate 
fi nancial services, HLF also opened a fi fth 
SME Centre @ Branches in the latest Hong Lim Branch.

HLF INTRODUCED NEW UNIFORMS FOR 
BRANCH SERVICE STAFF 
In celebration of the Golden Jubilee, HLF introduced 
new uniforms for all branch service staff. The new 
gold themed outfi ts provide a fresh vibe to our 28 
branches island-wide. 

HONG LEONG FINANCE IS TOP 100
SINGAPORE BRANDS
At the Brand Finance Singapore Forum 2011, HLF 
was ranked one of the top 100 Singapore brands 
companies. The forum, jointly presented by Singapore 
Management University and Brand Finance, a world’s 
leading brand valuation fi rm, assessed companies 
based on strong brand growth.

August
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Appointed Chairman of Hong Leong Finance Limited (“HLF” 
or the “Company”) since 28 November 1984 and Managing 
Director since 1 March 1979. Mr Kwek was last re-appointed 
a Director on 21 April 2011. Mr Kwek is also chairman of the 
Executive Committee (“Exco”) and sits on the Nominating 
Committee (“NC”) and Risk Management Committee (“RMC”) 
(formerly known as the Risk Committee). 

He is the Executive Chairman of City Developments Limited 
(“CDL”) and non-executive Chairman of Hong Leong Asia Ltd. 
(“HLA”) and Millennium & Copthorne Hotels plc (“M&C”).
He is also Chairman and Managing Director of City e-Solutions 
Limited (“CES”). 

Mr Kwek holds a law degree, LL.B. (London) and is also 
a fellow of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and 
Administrators. He has extensive experience in the fi nance 
business, having grown from day one with the original Hong 
Leong Finance Limited which has since merged its fi nance 
business with the Company. He also has vast experience in 
the real estate business, the hotel industry as well as the trading 
and manufacturing business. 

Mr Kwek’s other appointments include being a member of the 
East Asia Council of INSEAD since its inception in 2003 and board 
member of Singapore Hotel Association. He was also conferred 
Honorary Doctorate of Business Administration in Hospitality 
from Johnson & Wales University (Rhode Island, US) and Honorary 
Doctorate from Oxford Brookes University (UK).

BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

1  Kwek Leng Beng
 Age 71

2  Kwek Leng Joo
 Age 58

1 — 2

Appointed a Director of HLF since 1 September 2001, 
Mr Kwek was last re-elected a Director on 24 April 2009. 
Mr Kwek is also the Managing Director of CDL. He holds 
a Diploma in Financial Management and has extensive 
experience in property development and investment. 
Within the Hong Leong Group, he is also an Executive Director of 
CES and was a Director of M&C until May 2011. 

Mr Kwek contributes actively to the business community through 
several public appointments including Honorary President of the 
Singapore Chinese Chamber of Commerce and Industry and 
Chairman of the Board of Trustees of National Youth Achievement 
Award Council. He is also a member of the Board of Trustees of 
Nanyang Technological University and Board of Governors of 
S. Rajaratnam School of International Studies. 
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Appointed to the Board of HLF on 1 September 2001, Mr Kwek 
was last re-elected as Director on 23 April 2010. 

Mr Kwek is the Assistant Managing Director of Hong Leong 
Holdings Limited.

Mr Kwek has many years of experience in property investment, 
property development and the building and construction 
materials business. 

Appointed a Director of HLF since 1 January 1998, Mr 
Kwek was last re-elected on 21 April 2011. Mr Kwek also 
sits on the Exco (also as chairman’s alternate), the RMC and 
Hong Leong Finance Share Option Scheme 2001 Committee 
(“Share Option Scheme Committee”) of the Company. 

Mr Kwek is an Executive Director of HLA and also sits on the 
boards of CDL, M&C and China Yuchai International Limited. 
He is also the non-executive Chairman of Tasek Corporation 
Berhad. In the preceding 3-year period, he was also an 
Executive Director of CES until April 2009.

Mr Kwek holds a Diploma in Accountancy and has many years 
of experience in trading, manufacturing, property investment 
and development, hotel operations, corporate fi nance and 
management. 

3  Kwek Leng Peck
 Age 55

4  Kwek Leng Kee
 Age 57

3 — 4 — 5

5  Woo Tchi Chu
 Age 68

Appointed to the Board of HLF since 22 March 1991 and last 
re-elected on 23 April 2010, Mr Woo also sits on various Board 
Committees of the Company, namely the Exco, NC, Remuneration 
Committee (“RC”), Share Option Scheme Committee and RMC. 
Mr Woo who will be retiring at the Company’s 2012 Annual 
General Meeting will not be seeking re-election as Director when 
his term ends at the conclusion of the said meeting. Consequent 
thereto, he will also cease as a member of the Exco, NC, RC, 
Share Option Scheme Committee and RMC.

Mr Woo holds L.L.B. and L.L.M. degrees and is Managing Partner 
of Robert Wang & Woo LLP. He is also a Notary Public and Justice 
of the Peace. 

He is a member of the Law Society Inquiry Committee, 
Public Service Commission Disciplinary Sub-Committee and the 
Mediating Relational Disputes, Subordinate Courts.
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Appointed a Director of HLF since 23 April 2004, Mr Cheng was 
last re-appointed on 21 April 2011. Mr Cheng also sits on the RC, 
Exco and Share Option Scheme Committee and is the chairman 
of the RMC and NC of the Company. 

Mr Cheng retired as the Chief Executive Offi cer of POSBank in 
July 1997. In the preceding 3-year period, he was a Director of 
Singapore Petroleum Company Ltd until October 2009, Westech 
Electronics Limited until June 2010 and Thomson Medical Centre 
Limited until December 2010.

Currently, Mr Cheng is the Chairman of TeleChoice International 
Limited and Tee International Limited, Director of Pacifi c Andes 
Resources Development Limited and CFM Holdings Limited. 
He also holds directorships in various unlisted companies. 
Other appointments include being Chairman of the Medifund 

7  Cheng Shao Shiong @ Bertie Cheng
 Age 74

6 — 7— 8

8  Po’ad bin Shaik Abu Bakar Mattar
 Age 64

Appointed a Director of HLF on 24 April 2009, Mr Mattar is also 
the chairman of the AC, RC and Share Option Scheme Committee 
of the Company. He was also appointed as Lead Independent 
Director of the Company on 1 September 2010.

Mr Mattar sits on the board of Tiger Airways Holdings Limited. 
He also sits on other bodies in both the private and public sectors.

Mr Mattar holds a Bachelor of Accountancy from the University 
of Singapore and a Master in Management from the Asian 
Institute of Management (Makati, Philippines). He is a Certifi ed 
Public Accountant registered with the Institute of Certifi ed Public 
Accountants of Singapore and was formerly a Senior Partner with 
an international fi rm of public accountants.

6  Chng Beng Hua
 Age 46 

Appointed a Director of HLF since 1 July 2000, Mr Chng was last 
re-elected on 21 April 2011. He also sits on the Audit Committee 
(“AC”) of the Company. He is an Executive Director and the 
Chief Executive Offi cer of Compact Metal Industries Ltd. In the 
preceding 3-year period, Mr Chng was also the Deputy Chairman 
of Compact Metal Industries Ltd until April 2009.

Mr Chng holds a Bachelor of Business Administration (Finance) 
from University of Texas, Austin, USA. He has many years 
of experience in fi nance, management of hotel and service 
apartment, and real estate development. 

Committee, Singapore General Hospital, Vice-Chairman of the 
Board of Trustees, Consumers Association of Singapore (CASE) 
Endowment Fund, Advisor to POSBank and Chairman of the 
Investment Panel of SPRING SEEDS Capital Pte Ltd.

Mr Cheng holds a Bachelor of Arts Degree in Economics (Honours) 
from the University of Malaya in Singapore. He received the Public 
Administration Medal (Silver) in 1984, the Public Service Medal in 
2001 and the Friend of Labour Award from the National Trades 
Union Congress in 2008.

Cheng Shao Shiong @ Bertie Cheng (cont’d)
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9  Ter Kim Cheu
 Age 65

Appointed a Director of HLF on 1 September 2010, Mr Ter was 
last re-elected on 21 April 2011. He also sits on the AC and Exco 
of the Company. 

Mr Ter retired from the Singapore Legal Service after over 30 years 
of service. Prior to his retirement in 2008, he was the Parliamentary 
Counsel and Principal Senior State Counsel (Legislation Division), 
Attorney-General’s Chambers, Singapore and a Law Revision 
Commissioner of Singapore. He was also a member of the 
Securities Industry Council for two terms from 1993 to 1997. 

Currently, he provides legislative consultancy services in Singapore 
and overseas. 

He is a Fellow of the Singapore Institute of Arbitrators and a 
member of the Strata Titles Board of Singapore. 

Mr Ter holds a Bachelor of Social Sciences (Hons) degree from the 
University of Singapore and Bachelor (Hons) and Master of Law 
degrees from the University of London. He is also a Barrister-at-
Law, having been called to the English Bar at Lincoln’s Inn and an 
Advocate & Solicitor of the Supreme Court of Singapore. 

9 — 10

10  Raymond Lim Siang Keat
  Age 52

Appointed a Director of HLF on 1 March 2012. 

Mr Lim is a former Cabinet Minister in the Singapore Government 
and a Member of Parliament since 2001. He has held various 
ministerial appointments including Trade & Industry, Foreign 
Affairs, Finance and Transport and was at one stage the Minister 
in-charge of Entrepreneurship. 

Mr Lim is currently a Director of the Government of Singapore 
Investment Corporation Pte Ltd and a member of its Risk and 
Audit committees. He is also a Senior Advisor to John Swire & 
Sons (Southeast Asia) Pte Ltd.

Prior to entering politics in 2001, Mr Lim held various senior 
positions in the fi nancial industry including as a Managing 
Director of Temasek Holdings, Group Chief Executive Offi cer of 
DBS Vickers Securities and Chief Economist for Asia with ABN 
AMRO Asia Securities where he was ranked by international fund 
managers as one of the best economists in the region. He was 
also an Executive Director of Kim Eng Holdings Limited (now 
known as Maybank Kim Eng Holdings Limited) from June 1995 
to February 1998.

A Rhodes Scholar, Mr Lim graduated with First Class Honours 
in the Master of Law specializing in public international law at 
King’s College, Cambridge University and a B.A. (Jurisprudence) 
from Balliol College, Oxford University. He also has a First Class 
Honours degree in Economics from the University of Adelaide 
under the Colombo Plan scholarship. 
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CORPORATE
DIRECTORY

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
Executive Director:
Kwek Leng Beng   Chairman & Managing Director

Lead Independent Director:
Po’ad bin Shaik Abu Bakar Mattar 

Non-Executive Directors:
Kwek Leng Joo
Kwek Leng Peck
Kwek Leng Kee
Woo Tchi Chu   Independent
Chng Beng Hua   Independent
Cheng Shao Shiong @ Bertie Cheng   Independent
Ter Kim Cheu   Independent 
Raymond Lim Siang Keat   Independent

AUDIT COMMITTEE 
Po’ad bin Shaik Abu Bakar Mattar   Chairman 
Chng Beng Hua 
Ter Kim Cheu

NOMINATING COMMITTEE
Cheng Shao Shiong @ Bertie Cheng   Chairman
Kwek Leng Beng
Woo Tchi Chu 

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Po’ad bin Shaik Abu Bakar Mattar   Chairman 
Woo Tchi Chu
Cheng Shao Shiong @ Bertie Cheng

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
Kwek Leng Beng   Chairman
Kwek Leng Peck   also as Chairman’s alternate
Cheng Shao Shiong @ Bertie Cheng
Woo Tchi Chu
Ter Kim Cheu

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
Cheng Shao Shiong @ Bertie Cheng   Chairman
Kwek Leng Beng
Kwek Leng Peck
Woo Tchi Chu 

HONG LEONG FINANCE SHARE OPTION SCHEME 
2001 COMMITTEE
Po’ad bin Shaik Abu Bakar Mattar   Chairman
Kwek Leng Peck
Woo Tchi Chu
Cheng Shao Shiong @ Bertie Cheng

PRESIDENT
Ian Anthony Macdonald
(Please refer to page 28 of this Annual Report for additional 
information on the President)

SECRETARIES
Yeo Swee Gim, Joanne
Oh Su Chong
Chye Chan Yu

REGISTERED OFFICE
16 Raffl es Quay #01-05
Hong Leong Building
Singapore 048581
Tel: 6415 9433   Fax: 6224 6773
Email: customerservice@hlf.com.sg
  
SHARE REGISTRARS & SHARE TRANSFER OFFICE 
M & C Services Private Limited
138 Robinson Road #17-00
The Corporate Offi ce
Singapore 068906
Tel: 6227 6660 Fax: 6225 1452
 
INVESTOR RELATIONS
Tel: 6428 9309/6428 9306   Fax: 6534 3060
Email: gcasecretary@cdl.com.sg
 
AUDITORS
KPMG LLP
Certifi ed Public Accountants, Singapore
16 Raffl es Quay #22-00
Hong Leong Building, Singapore 048581

(Partner-in-charge: Quek Shu Ping, appointed from
commencement of audit of fi nancial statements for the
fi nancial year ended 31 December 2008)
 
BANKERS
Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited
Bank of America, N.A.
BNP Paribas
Crédit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank
DBS Bank Ltd
Deutsche Bank AG
HL Bank
Malayan Banking Berhad
Mizuho Corporate Bank, Ltd
Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited
Standard Chartered Bank
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation
The Bank of Nova Scotia
The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd 
The HongKong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited 
United Overseas Bank Limited
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COMPANY OVERVIEW, OBJECTIVES AND STRATEGIES

Hong Leong Finance Limited (“HLF” or the “Company”), incorporated in 1961, is the listed financial services arm of the Hong Leong 

Group Singapore.  Today, HLF is Singapore’s largest finance company with a network of 28 branches island-wide, serving all walks 

of life encompassing the Small and Medium Enterprises (“SMEs”) and retail customers.  Its activities are principally governed by the 

Finance Companies Act (Chapter 108) and regulated by the Monetary Authority of Singapore (“MAS”).  The principal activity of its 

subsidiaries is the provision of nominee services.

HLF’s core business is the taking of deposits from the public and the provision of a myriad of financial products and services that include 

consumer and corporate loans.  HLF is an active player in the SME market and a pioneer in the Local Enterprises Financing Scheme 

(“LEFS”).  With over 50 years of experience in helping SMEs build a strong and solid platform for sustainable growth and success, HLF 

understands the needs of the SMEs well.  Through its dedication and commitment, serving the SME business community has evolved 

to be HLF’s core business activity.

HLF is committed to strengthening its leadership status in the market and we believe that it takes more than just assets to be a real 

leader.  We maintain a strong commitment to building mutually rewarding relationships with our customers and business partners, 

understanding their financial needs and ensuring that we are with them every step of the way. 

In line with its commitment to expand the provision of accessible and comprehensive financial services to the SMEs and the HDB 

homeowners who are our core customers,  HLF has been constantly developing and creating more value in its products and services.  

The expansion of its SME Centre @ Branches network has further strengthened its foothold in the SME market and increased its 

visibility to businesses through its branch network.  

To complement its range of products and services extended to corporate customers, HLF became the only finance company in Singapore 

to render corporate advisory services.  Besides assisting SMEs who are interested in listing on the Singapore Exchange, HLF provides 

advisory on mergers and acquisitions and underwrites the sale of shares by listed companies.  HLF is also the first finance company 

here to offer chequeing account services to its corporate loan customers and this capability has provided greater business efficiency to 

its clients in terms of cash management.  HLF continues to participate in SMEs events and various government initiatives dedicated to 

helping SMEs grow and seize business opportunities, thus reaffirming its staunch support of local entrepreneurs.

To maintain and enhance our competitive edge in this ever intensifying competitive financial environment, we will be steadfast in 

developing and enhancing our products and services to continue to be customer-centric and with 28 branches strategically located, 

HLF is well positioned to assist both the SMEs and retail customers fulfill their aspirations and achieve their financial goals.

Further details of HLF’s products and services can be found in the corporate profile and 2011 highlights sections of this Annual Report 

2011.
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FINANCIAL ANALYSES

Analysis of Performance
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”).

2011
$mil

2010
$mil

Variance*
+/(-) %

Selected Profit and Loss Items
Net interest income/hiring charges 164.1 192.3 (14.7)

Fee and commission income 8.6 7.2 19.7

Other operating income 0.3 0.5 (41.1)

Income before operating expenses 173.0 200.0 (13.5)

Less : Operating expenses 80.1 77.6 3.1

Profit from operations before allowances/provision 92.9 122.4 (24.1)

Add : �Reversal or recovery of provision for settlements 

and costs relating to distribution of wealth 

management products and impairment losses 

of other assets and allowances for doubtful debts 26.8 23.9 11.9

Profit before tax 119.7 146.3 (18.2)

Profit after tax attributable to owners 99.8 122.0 (18.2)

Selected Balance Sheet Items
Loans, advances and receivables (net of allowances) 7,452  6,279 18.7

Deposits and balances of customers 7,761 7,177 8.1 

Total assets 9,505   8,901 6.8 

Total liabilities 7,907 7,352 7.5

Total equity 1,598 1,549 3.2

Key Financial Ratios
Net interest margin (%) 1.8 2.2 

Net interest income/total income (%) 94.8 96.1

Non-interest income/total income (%) 5.2 3.9 

Cost/income ratio (%) 46.3 38.8 

Loans/deposits ratio (%) 96 87

Non-performing loans ratio (%)

  - Secured by collateral 0.7 1.2

  - Unsecured and fully provided for 0.2 0.3

Return on equity (%) 6.3 8.1 

Return on assets (%) 1.1 1.4

Capital adequacy ratio (%) 18.9 22.3 

Earnings per share (cents)

  - per basic share 22.7 27.7 (18.2)

  - per diluted share 22.6 27.7 (18.2)

Net assets per share ($)

  - per basic share 3.63 3.52 3.1

  - per diluted share 3.50 3.41 2.6

* Calculated based on actual figures before rounding.
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2011 
cents

2010
cents

Dividend per share (tax exempt)
  - interim 4 4

  - final 8 8

Total 12 12

(a)	 Results for the year

Pre-tax profit from operations before allowances/provision was $92.9 million in 2011, a decrease of 24.1% from $122.4 million 

in 2010.  The Group reported profit after tax of $99.8 million for 2011, a decrease of $22.2 million or 18.2% over the previous 

year.  The results were arrived at after writing back provision for settlements relating to wealth management products distributed 

and allowances for doubtful debts amounting to $26.8 million (2010 : write back of provision for settlements relating to wealth 

management products distributed and impairment losses of other assets and allowances for doubtful debts of $23.9 million).

Net interest income/hiring charges declined by 14.7% to $164.1 million as a result of a reduction in lending spread achieved.  Net 

interest margin narrowed from 2.2% in 2010 to 1.8% in 2011.

Non-interest income increased to $8.9 million (2010 : $7.7 million) or by 15.2% in 2011.  Fee and commission income, the largest 

component of non-interest income, increased by 19.7% to $8.6 million from $7.2 million in 2010.

Staff costs rose by 1.9% to $58.1 million in 2011 from $57.0 million in 2010 due to salary increments.  Other operating expenses 

increased by 4.8% to $20.2 million in 2011 from $19.3 million in 2010 due to increased business promotion expenses.  The cost 

to income ratio increased to 46.3% from 38.8% a year ago.

(b)	 Loans and deposits

Loans, advances and receivables (net of allowances) increased by 18.7% in 2011 to $7,452 million from $6,279 million.  The non-

performing loans (“NPL”) ratio improved to an aggregate of 0.9% in 2011 from 1.5% in 2010 after accounting for recoveries 

and write-offs.  The NPL ratio comprised secured NPL of 0.7% (2010 : 1.2%), with the balance 0.2% (2010 : 0.3%) being the 

unsecured portion which is fully covered by specific allowances.

Deposits and balances of customers amounted to $7,761 million as at 31 December 2011.  The loans to deposits ratio increased 

to 96% from 87% in the previous year.  

(c)	 Shareholders’ equity and dividends

Return on equity was 6.3% in 2011, down from 8.1% in 2010 and return on assets was 1.1% in 2011, down from 1.4% in 2010. 

This is attributable to lower profits in 2011.  Net assets per share rose to $3.63 in 2011 from $3.52 in 2010.

As detailed in the Chairman’s Statement, an interim dividend of 4 cents per share (tax exempt one-tier) was paid on 15 September 

2011.  With the proposed payment of a final dividend of 8 cents per share (tax exempt one-tier) in respect of the financial year 

ended 31 December 2011, subject to the approval of shareholders, the total distribution for 2011 will amount to approximately 

$53 million, similar to the amount of $53 million paid in respect of 2010.  
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(d)	 No significant subsequent event

In the interval between the release of the preliminary financial statements and the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this 

report, no development has occurred which would materially affect the operating and financial performance of the Group.

Net Interest Income

Net interest income includes hiring charges.

Net interest income decreased by 14.7% to $164.1 million in 2011 from $192.3 million in 2010 with a closing loans to deposits ratio 

of 96% in 2011 against 87% in 2010.  The decrease in net interest income was due to a reduction in lending spread achieved in 2011.  

Net interest income was the major source of income contributing 94.8% (2010 : 96.1%) to total income.

Net interest margin as a percentage of interest-bearing assets narrowed from 2.2% in 2010 to 1.8% in 2011 as a result of a lower loan 

yield in the light of competition which was mitigated by slightly lower cost of deposit funds.

 2011 2010

Average
Balance Interest

Average
Rate

Average
Balance Interest

Average
Rate

$mil $mil % $mil $mil %

Interest-bearing Assets

Loans, advances and receivables 6,824 200.8 2.9 6,111 228.9 3.7

Singapore Government securities 870 20.2 2.3 976 24.3 2.5 

Other assets 1,268 4.1 0.3 1,622 5.6 0.3 

Total 8,962 225.1 2.5 8,709 258.8 3.0 

Interest-bearing Liabilities

Deposits and balances of customers 7,221 60.0 0.8 7,021 65.1 0.9 

Other liabilities 32 1.0 3.0 49 1.4 2.8 

Total 7,253 61.0 0.8 7,070 66.5 0.9 

Net interest income/margin as a percentage of 

interest-bearing assets – 164.1 1.8 – 192.3 2.2 
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Volume and rate analysis

The table below analyses the changes in net interest income in 2011 over 2010 due to changes in volume and changes in rates.	

	 2011

Increase/(decrease) due to change in Volume Rate Total

 $mil  $mil  $mil 

Interest Income

Loans, advances and receivables 26.7 (54.8) (28.1)

Singapore Government securities (2.6) (1.5) (4.1)  

Other assets (1.2) (0.3) (1.5)

Net 22.9 (56.6) (33.7)

Interest Expense

Deposits and balances of customers 1.9 (7.0) (5.1)

Other liabilities (0.5) 0.1     (0.4)

Net 1.4 (6.9) (5.5)

Net interest income 21.5 (49.7) (28.2)

Non-Interest Income

Non-interest income increased by 15.2% to $8.9 million in 2011 (2010 : $7.7 million).  Fee and commission income which constituted 

96.2% (2010 : 92.6%) of non-interest income was $8.6 million in 2011 compared to $7.2 million in 2010 due to higher fee income 

from some lending products and corporate advisory services.

Total non-interest income for 2011 was 5.2% of total income, up from 3.9% for 2010, with the non-lending portion comprising 0.4% 

of total income (2010 : 0.2%). 

2011 2010 Variance*

$mil $mil +/(-) % 

Fee and Commission Income

Loan related and other financing business 7.9 6.8 15.6

Non-lending business including corporate advisory services 

and other trailer fees 0.7 0.4 90.9

8.6 7.2 19.7

Other Operating Income 0.3 0.5 (41.1)

Total 8.9 7.7 15.2

* Calculated based on actual figures before rounding.
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Operating Expenses

Total operating expenses increased by 3.1% to $80.1 million in 2011 from $77.6 million in 2010.  Staff costs increased by 1.9% due to 

salary increments.  Other operating expenses increased to $20.2 million in 2011 from $19.3 million in 2010 due to increased business 

promotion expenses.

2011 2010 Variance*

 $mil  $mil +/(-) % 

Staff costs

	 -	 Short-term employee benefits 51.3 50.4 1.8

	 -	 Employer’s CPF contributions to defined contribution plans 5.2 4.9 4.6

	 -	 Share-based payments 1.6 1.7 (4.5)

58.1 57.0 1.9

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1.8 1.3 33.1

Other operating expenses

	 -	 Operating lease expenses 5.2 5.1 1.7

	 -	 IT-related expenses 1.7 2.1   (16.6)

	 -	 Other operating expenses 13.3 12.1 9.7

20.2 19.3 4.8

Total 80.1 77.6 3.1

Group staff strength – period end 653 640 2.0

Group staff strength – average 648 643 0.8

* Calculated based on actual figures before rounding.
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Reversal or Recovery of Provision for Settlements and Costs relating to Distribution of Wealth Management Products and 
Impairment Losses of Other Assets and Allowances for Doubtful Debts

Reversal or recovery of provision for settlements and costs relating to distribution of wealth management products and allowances for 

doubtful debts was $26.8 million in 2011, compared to $23.6 million in 2010.  There was no reversal of impairment losses of other 

assets in 2011 (2010 : $0.3 million).

General allowance for loans increased by $0.5 million for 2011 (2010 : Nil) in line with the increase in loans.  Specific allowances 

written back for loans was $1.8 million in 2011 compared to $4.6 million in 2010.

 

2011 2010 Variance*

$mil $mil +/(-) % 

Write-back of allowances for loans and advances (net) 1.3 4.6 (70.8)

Other recoveries 25.5 19.3 31.6

Total 26.8 23.9 11.9

Total Assets

Total assets were $9,505 million as at 31 December 2011, representing an increase of 6.8% over the figure of $8,901 million as at 

31 December 2010.  

Assets mix

2011 2010 Variance*

 $mil  $mil +/(-) % 

Cash at banks and in hand 901 1,475 (38.9)

Statutory deposit with the

Monetary Authority of Singapore 202 171 18.1

Singapore Government securities 889 925 (3.9)

Customer loans - net 7,452 6,279 18.7

Others 61 51 18.1

Total Assets 9,505 8,901 6.8

* Calculated based on actual figures before rounding.
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Analysis of Gross Loan Portfolio

(a)	 Customer loans by product group

With an increase in the loan portfolio, property related loans made up 75% of the total loan portfolio as at 31 December 2011 

(2010 : 69%), with property loans other than housing/HDB home loans taking the bigger share at 54% of total portfolio (2010 : 

45%).  The housing loans component decreased to 21% of the total (2010 : 24%) inclusive of HDB home loans of 11% (2010 : 

12%).

Hire purchase loans formed 20% of total loan portfolio as at 31 December 2011 (2010 : 24%).  Whilst such loans are principally 

fixed rate in nature, this is mitigated by monthly principal repayments and early redemptions. 

2011 2010

$mil % $mil %

Housing and HDB Home Loans 1,592 21 1,481 24

Other Property Loans 4,083 54 2,891 45

Hire Purchase/Block Discounting 1,518 20 1,520 24

Share Loans 261 4 395 6

Others 89 1 86 1

Total 7,543 100 6,373 100

2011

Other 
Property 
Loans
54%

Hire
Purchase/ 
Block
Discounting
20%

Share
Loans 
4%

Others
1%

Housing
and HDB
Home Loans
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2010

Others
1%

Other 
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Loans
45%

Housing
and HDB
Home Loans
24%

Share
Loans 
6%

Hire
Purchase/
Block
Discounting
24%
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(b)	 Customer loans by industrial classification

2011 2010

$mil % $mil %

Hire purchase/block discounting 1,518 20 1,520 24

Housing loans secured by property under finance 1,401 18 1,339 21

Other loans and advances:

Manufacturing 24 1 19 1

Building and construction 2,751 36 1,851 29

General commerce 53 1 140 2

Transport, storage and communication 18 1 22 1

Investment and holding companies 240 3 106 1

Professional and private individuals 557 7 570 9

Others (including hotels, associations and 
charitable organisations) 981 13 806 12

Total 7,543 100 6,373 100

2010

Manufacturing
1%

Others
12%

Hire
purchase/block
discounting
24%

Housing loans
secured by
property
under
finance
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OPERATING and financial review

(c)	 Customer loans by remaining contractual maturity

2011 2010

$mil % $mil %

Reviewable/due within 1 year 1,925 26 2,108 33

Due after 1 year but within 3 years 2,106 28 1,713 27

Due after 3 years but within 5 years 1,237 16 601 9

Over 5 years 2,275 30 1,951 31

Total 7,543 100 6,373 100

2011

Due after 
3 years 
but within 
5 years
16%

Over 5 years
30%

Reviewable/
due within 
1 year
26%

Due after
1 year
but within
3 years
28%

Over 5 years
31%

2010

Reviewable/
due within 
1 year
33%

Due after
1 year
but within
3 years
27%

Due after 
3 years 
but within 
5 years
9%
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OPERATING and financial review

(d)	 Non-performing loans

The loan portfolio includes secured non-performing loans of 0.7% of the portfolio in 2011 (2010 : 1.2%) together with unsecured 

non-performing loans of 0.2% of the portfolio in 2011 (2010 : 0.3%).  The Group currently maintains full specific allowances for 

all non-performing loans where the net outstanding debt is not covered by the value of the collateral held.

There are no loans and advances graded as doubtful as at 31 December 2011 and 2010.	

The non-performing loans position by grading and security coverage is given below.

2011 2010 Variance*

 $mil  $mil +/(-) % 

Substandard 52.4 78.3 (33.2)

Loss 15.4 19.1 (19.2)

Total 67.8 97.4 (30.4)

(i)	 Secured non-performing loans (“NPLs”) 52.4 78.3 (33.2)

Secured NPLs as % of total NPLs 77.3 80.4 (3.1%pt)

(ii)	 Unsecured NPLs 15.4 19.1 (19.2)

Specific allowances for NPLs 15.4 19.3 (20.1)

(iii)	Specific allowances as % of total NPLs 22.7 19.8 +2.9%pt

Funding Sources

Total funding (including total equity) increased by 6.8% in 2011 to $9,505 million from $8,901 million in 2010.  Customers’ deposits 

remained the main funding source contributing 81.6% (2010 : 80.6%) of total funds.  This funding source was $584 million or 8.1% 

higher in 2011 closing at $7,761 million from $7,177 million in 2010.

2011 2010 Variance*

 $mil  $mil +/(-) % 

Fixed deposits 7,346 6,809 7.9

Savings deposits and other balances of customers 408 360 13.2

Current accounts and other deposits 7 8 (10.8)

Total customer deposits 7,761 7,177 8.1

Other liabilities 146 175 (16.6)

Total shareholders’ equity 1,598 1,549 3.2

Total 9,505 8,901 6.8

Customer deposits by remaining contractual maturity

On demand/up to 1 year 7,135 6,694 6.6

Over 1 year to 3 years 626 483 29.6

Total customer deposits 7,761 7,177 8.1

* Calculated based on actual figures before rounding.
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OPERATING and financial review

Capital Adequacy

The Group’s capital adequacy ratio is higher than the minimum regulatory requirement.  With the increase in the loan portfolio, as at 

31 December 2011, the capital adequacy ratio was 18.9% compared to 22.3% as at 31 December 2010.  

2011 2010

 $mil  $mil 

Share capital 870 870 

Reserves 728 679 

Core Capital 1,598 1,549 

Risk-weighted assets 8,437 6,934 

Ratio 18.9% 22.3%

OTHER INFORMATION

A review of the outlook for the Company’s business can be found in the Chairman’s Statement.  Information on the background of 

the Directors is presented in the section on the Board of Directors, whilst information on the background of the President is set out 

below. Details of the Company’s risk management policies and processes have been included in the corporate governance section of 

this Annual Report 2011.

The President, Ian Macdonald

The President joined the Company in February 2002. He has extensive experience in the financial industry, having worked in Barclays 

Bank Australia for 13 years and with Australian Guarantee Corporation Ltd, Sydney (“AGC”) from 1994 to January 2002. His last held 

appointment with AGC was as National Manager, Business Finance.

Date : 16 March 2012
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Hong Leong Finance Limited (“HLF” or the “Company”) is committed to maintaining good corporate governance and business 

integrity in all its business activities.

To demonstrate its commitment to uphold the highest standards of corporate governance, HLF had joined the Securities Investors 

Association Singapore (“SIAS”) and its partners since 2010 in making the following public Statement of Support, which was reiterated 

at the 2nd Singapore Corporate Governance Week 2011 (organised by the SIAS) in October 2011:

“As an Organisation we are committed to upholding high standards of corporate governance to enhance shareholder 
value. We believe practising good corporate governance is central to the health and stability of our financial markets 
and economy.”

HLF has adopted a set of internal guidelines on corporate governance (“Internal CG Guidelines”) based on the provisions of the Code 

of Corporate Governance 2005 (“CG Code”) and the Guidelines on Corporate Governance issued by the Monetary Authority of 

Singapore (“MAS”) for Banks, Financial Holding Companies and Direct Insurers in September 2005 (“MAS CG Guidelines”). Although 

HLF does not come under the categories of banks, financial holding companies or direct insurers, it has taken steps to comply, to its 

best capability, with the MAS CG Guidelines including the revisions thereon in 2010.  

The following describes the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices in its application of the corporate governance 

principles as set out in the CG Code. 

BOARD MATTERS

Principle 1: The Board’s Conduct of Affairs

Primary Functions of the Board

The Board oversees the Company’s business and its performance. Its primary functions are to set broad policies, provide guidance on 

and approve strategic direction and plans for the Company, review the Company’s performance and satisfy itself as to the adequacy 

and effectiveness of the framework and processes for internal controls, risk management, financial reporting and compliance, and 

assume responsibility for good corporate governance. 

Independent Judgement

All Directors are required to exercise objective decision-making in the interests of the Company. Directors who are in any way, directly or 

indirectly, interested in a transaction or proposed transaction will declare the nature of their interests in accordance with the provisions 

of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 and the Finance Companies Act, Chapter 108, and also voluntarily abstain from deliberation on 

the same.  The assessment criteria used by the Company’s Nominating Committee in its annual evaluation of the Directors takes into 

account the individual Director’s objectivity, independent thinking and judgment. 
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Delegation by the Board

The primary functions of the Board are either carried out directly by the Board or through committees established by the Board, 

namely, the Executive Committee (“Exco”), the Risk Management Committee (“RMC”), the Audit Committee (“AC”), the Nominating 

Committee (“NC”), the Remuneration Committee (“RC”) and the Hong Leong Finance Share Option Scheme 2001 (“Share Option 

Scheme”) Committee (“Share Option Scheme Committee”), all collectively referred to hereafter as the Board Committees, and 

management committees such as the Loan Sub-Committee, Management Sub-Committees, Assets and Liabilities Committee and 

Corporate Finance Management Committee. Specific terms of reference for Board Committees are set out and approved by the Board 

and reviewed periodically. The powers and authorisation limits of the relevant management committees which have been delegated 

authority by the Board are also approved by the Board.  The composition of each Board Committee can be found under the ‘Corporate 

Directory’ section in this Annual Report 2011 (“AR”).  

The delegation of authority by the Board to the Board Committees and management committees enables the Board to achieve 

operational efficiency by empowering these Board Committees and management committees to decide on matters within their 

respective written terms of reference and/or limits of delegated authority and yet allow the Board to maintain control over major 

policies and decisions.  Please refer to the sections on Principles 4, 5, 7 and 11 in this report for further information on the activities 

of the NC, RC and AC.  Information on the activities of the Exco and RMC can be found under Principle 1 and the ‘Risk Management’ 

section in this report.

Board Processes

Board and Board Committee meetings are held regularly, with the Board meeting no less than 4 times a year. The proposed meetings 

for each new calendar year are set out in a schedule of meetings and notified to all Board members before the start of the calendar 

year.  Additional meetings are convened as and when circumstances warrant.  Records of all such meetings including discussions on 

key deliberations and decisions taken are maintained by the Company Secretary. The Company’s Articles of Association allow for 

the meetings of its Board and Board Committees to be held via teleconferencing.  The Board and Board Committees may also make 

decisions by way of circulating resolutions.

The attendance of the Directors at meetings of the Board and Board Committees, as well as the frequency of such meetings during 

the financial year under review, is disclosed on page 31 of the AR. Notwithstanding such disclosure, the Board is of the view that the 

contribution of each Director should not be focused only on his attendance at meetings of the Board and/or Board Committees. A 

Director’s contribution also extends beyond the confines of the formal environment of such meetings, through the sharing of views, 

advice, experience and strategic networking relationships which would further the interests of the Company. 
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Directors’ Attendance at Board and Board Committee Meetings in 2011

Board AC  NC  RC Share 
Option 
Scheme 

Committee

 RMC

Number of meetings held in 2011: 4 5 2 2 1 2

Name of Directors Number of meetings attended in 2011

Kwek Leng Beng 4 N.A. 2 N.A. N.A. 2

Kwek Leng Joo 4 N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A.

Kwek Leng Peck 4 N.A. N.A. N.A. 1 2

Kwek Leng Kee 2 N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A.

Woo Tchi Chu 4 N.A. 2 2 1 2

Chng Beng Hua 4 5 N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A.

Dr Manfred Otto Barth(a) 1 N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A.

Cheng Shao Shiong @ Bertie Cheng 4 N.A. 2 2 1 2

Lee Jackson @ Li Chik Sin(b) 1 3 N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A.

Po’ad bin Shaik Abu Bakar Mattar 4 5 N.A. 2 1 N.A.

Ter Kim Cheu(c) 4 3(d) N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A.

Notes:

(a)	 Dr Manfred Barth retired from the Board following the conclusion of the annual general meeting held in April 2011 (“2011 AGM”).

(b)	 Mr Jackson Lee also retired from the Board at the 2011 AGM, and consequently ceased to be a member of the AC and Exco.

(c)	 Mr Ter Kim Cheu was appointed as a member of the AC in place of Mr Jackson Lee on 21 April 2011.

(d)	 Includes attendance by invitation at one AC meeting.

Board Approval

The Board has adopted an internal guide wherein certain key matters are specifically reserved for approval by the Board such as 

the setting of strategic direction or policies or financial objectives which are, or may have material impact on the profitability or 

performance of the Company, decisions to commence, discontinue or modify significantly any business activity or to enter or withdraw 

from a particular market sector, corporate or financial restructuring, decisions over new borrowings or significant amendments to the 

terms and conditions of existing borrowings other than in the ordinary course of business, material acquisition and disposal of assets, 

adoption of corporate governance policies and any other matters which require Board approval as prescribed under the relevant 

legislations and regulations as well as the provisions of the Company’s Articles of Association.

The Company also has in place an authorisation matrix for various matters including limits for the granting of loans, guarantees or other 

credit facilities, corporate finance activities, operation of banking accounts, investments, capital expenditure and lease of properties.
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The Exco comprises 5 Directors with the majority of its members being independent. The Exco’s principal responsibility as set out in its 

written terms of reference, approved and adopted by the Board, is to assist the Board in the discharge of its duties by deliberating on 

matters requiring Board review that may arise between Board meetings. Its duties include, in particular, assisting the Board in approving 

banking-related matters such as banking facilities extended to the Company and the granting by the Company of loans, guarantees 

or credit facilities up to a limit fixed by the Board, and approving acquisition/disposal of assets which are non-discloseable pursuant to 

the Listing Rules of Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) up to a limit authorised by the Board. In 2011, the Exco 

members were also invited to attend management committee meetings relating to discussions on the grant of loans, guarantees or 

credit facilities by the Company.

Board Orientation and Training

Every newly appointed Director receives a formal letter, setting out his general duties and obligations as a Director pursuant to the 

relevant legislations and regulations.  The new Director will also receive an induction pack containing information and documents 

relating to the role and responsibilities of a director, the Company’s business, Board processes, corporate governance practices, relevant 

company policies and procedures as well as a  board meeting calendar for the year with a brief of the routine agenda for each meeting. 

The Company also conducts an induction programme for newly appointed Directors and in respect of appointments of existing 

Directors to Board Committees, which seeks to familiarise Directors with the Company’s business, board processes, internal controls 

and governance practices. The induction programme includes meetings with various key executives of the Management and briefings 

on key areas of the Company’s operations. 

The Directors are provided with updates and/or briefings from time to time by professional advisers, auditors, Management and the 

Company Secretary in areas such as directors’ duties and responsibilities, corporate governance practices, risk management matters 

and changes in financial reporting standards. During 2011, the Board and the Board Committees (where applicable) were also briefed 

by the Company Secretary on the proposed amendments to the CG Code, as well as the amendments to the Listing Rules of SGX-ST 

(“Listing Rules”), and their implications for the Company. The Directors are regularly kept informed by the Company Secretary of the 

availability of appropriate courses, conferences and seminars such as those run by the Singapore Institute of Directors, and the Directors 

are encouraged to attend such training at the Company’s expense. Two in-house seminars were conducted by invited speakers during 

2011, one on enterprise risk management tailored specifically for the Company and the other, on anti-corruption law and competition 

law and key proposed changes to the CG Code and the Listing Rules. In addition to the training courses/programmes, Directors are also 

at liberty to approach Management should they require any further information or clarification concerning the Company’s operations. 

Senior Management and Management team

The Board through the NC currently reviews the appointment of the Managing Director and senior executive positions equivalent to 

those of the Chief Executive Officer (being the Managing Director) and the Chief Operating Officer (being the President) together with 

the Chief Financial Officer.  

The role and responsibilities of these positions and other members of the Management team and their reporting relationships are set 

out in the Company’s organisation structure which is tabled annually and as and when there are changes for the Board’s information. 

The Board retains the right to require any changes to the organisation structure as it deems fit. 
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Corporate Values and Conduct of Business

The Board and Senior Management are committed to conducting business with integrity and consistent with high standards of 

business ethics, and in compliance with all applicable laws and regulatory requirements.  In addition to observing the Code of Conduct 

issued by the Finance Houses Association of Singapore, the Company has adopted an internal code of business and ethical conduct 

crystallising the Company’s business principles and practices with respect to matters which may have ethical implications. The code 

provides a communicable and understandable framework for staff to observe the Company’s principles such as honesty, integrity, 

responsibility and accountability at all levels of the organisation and in the conduct of the Company’s business in their relationships 

with customers, suppliers and amongst employees, including situations where there are potential conflicts of interests. The Company 

also has in place a policy and procedures on compliance with competition law which is modelled and updated periodically along the 

guidelines published by the Competition Commission of Singapore.

Internal Code on Dealing in Securities

The Company has adopted an internal code on securities trading which sets out the implications of insider trading and provides 

guidance and internal regulation with regard to dealings in the Company’s securities by its Directors and officers. These guidelines 

prohibit dealing in the Company’s securities on short-term considerations and while in possession of unpublished material price-

sensitive information in relation to such securities and during the “closed period”, which is defined as 2 weeks before the date 

of announcement of results for each of the first 3 quarters of the Company’s financial year and one month before the date of 

announcement of the full-year financial results, and ending on the date of the announcement of the relevant results. The Directors 

and employees of the Company are notified prior to the commencement of the “closed periods” relating to dealing in the Company’s 

securities.

Complaint Handling Procedures

Complaint handling procedures are also in place to ensure that all complaints from customers are dealt with professionally, fairly, 

promptly and diligently and decisions are clearly communicated to customers.

Principle 2: Board Composition and Guidance

Board Independence

The Board currently comprises 10 members. All members of the Board except for the Chairman are non-executive Directors (“NEDs”).  

Of the 9 NEDs, the Board considers 6 of them, being more than half of the Board, to be independent, thus providing for a strong 

and independent element on the Board capable of exercising objective judgment on corporate affairs of the Company. No individual 

or small group of individuals dominates the Board’s decision making. In addition to the annual review by the NC of the Directors’ 

independence, each independent NED also submits an annual declaration regarding his independence. 
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Board Composition and Size

The NC reviews the size and composition of the Board and Board Committees, and the skills and core competencies of the Board 

members annually. The Board comprises business leaders and professionals with financial, banking, legal and business management 

backgrounds. The members of the Board with their combined business, management and professional experience, knowledge and 

expertise, provide the core competencies to allow for diverse and objective perspectives on the Company’s business and direction. 

Taking into account the scope and nature of the operations of the Company, the Board is satisfied that the current composition and 

size of the Board provide for sufficient diversity and allow for effective decision making.

NEDs’ Participation

NEDs are encouraged to participate actively in Board meetings in the development of the Company’s strategic plans and direction, 

and in the review and monitoring of Management’s performance against targets.  To facilitate this, they are kept informed of the 

Company’s businesses and performance through monthly and quarterly reports from Management, and have unrestricted access to 

Management. They also sit on various Board Committees established by the Board to provide constructive input and the necessary 

review and monitoring of performance of the Company and Management. 

Principle 3: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Role of Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer

The Chairman of the Board, Mr Kwek Leng Beng, is also the Managing Director (“MD”).  Mr Kwek Leng Beng plays an instrumental 

role in providing the Company with strong leadership and vision, assisting the Board to develop policies and strategies, and ensuring 

that these are implemented effectively. As Chairman of the Board, he bears primary responsibility for the workings of the Board, 

by ensuring effectiveness in all aspects of its role including setting agenda for Board meetings with input from Management, and 

exercising control over the quality, quantity and timeliness of information flow between the Board and Management. At annual 

general meetings and other shareholder meetings, he plays a pivotal role in fostering constructive dialogue between shareholders, the 

Board and Management. As MD, he is the most senior executive in the Company and bears executive responsibility for the Company’s 

business.  He is assisted by the President, Mr Ian Macdonald and other members of the Management team. Mr Macdonald has 

extensive working experience in the banking and finance sector and has been with the Company for about 10 years. Please refer to 

the Operating and Financial Review on page 28 of the AR for additional information on the President. 

The Board recognises that best practices of corporate governance advocate that the chairman of the board and the chief executive 

officer should in principle be separate persons to ensure an appropriate balance of power, increased accountability and greater 

capacity of the board for independent decision making. The Board also recognises that there are instances where the two roles may be 

performed by one person for valid reasons, and that such a practice is not uncommon both locally and in other developed jurisdictions. 

Lead Independent Director

The holding of dual roles of Chairman and MD by the same Director, together with the strengths brought to these roles by a person 

of Mr Kwek Leng Beng’s stature and experience has been considered by the Board. There are internal controls in place to allow for 

effective oversight by the Board of the Company’s business to ensure an appropriate balance of power and authority is exercisable 

by the Board to enable objective decision-making in the interests of the Company. In view of the management structure in place, the 

Board is of the view that it is currently unnecessary to effect a separation of the roles of the Chairman from that of the MD to facilitate 

the Company’s decision making and implementation process. 
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Taking cognizance of the non-separation of the roles of Chairman and MD, the Board has in the spirit of good corporate governance, 

appointed Mr Po’ad Mattar as Lead Independent Director (“Lead ID”) in September 2010 to serve as a sounding board for the 

Chairman and also as an intermediary between the NEDs and the Chairman. The role of the Lead ID is set out under the written terms 

of reference of the Lead ID, which has been approved by the Board. Under the chairmanship of the Lead ID, a meeting of the NEDs 

was convened in 2011 without the presence of Management or the Chairman.

Principle 4: Board Membership

NC Composition and Role

2 out of the 3 members of the NC, including the NC chairman, are independent. Please refer to the ‘Corporate Directory’ section on 

page 16 of the AR, for the composition of the NC. 

The NC’s main role as set out in its written terms of reference approved and adopted by the Board, is to recommend all Board 

and Board Committee appointments and re-appointments, and determine the independence of each Director. The NC also reviews 

and recommends to the Board the appointment of key executive positions, including that of the MD, the President and the Chief 

Financial Officer. The Company Secretary maintains records of all NC meetings including records of discussions on key deliberations 

and decisions taken.

Re-nomination of Directors

The NC reviews annually the nomination of the relevant Directors for re-election and re-appointment as well as the independence 

of Directors.  When considering the nomination of Directors for re-election and re-appointment, the NC takes into account their 

contribution to the effectiveness of the Board as well as their time commitment especially for Directors who have multiple board 

representations, and also reviews their independence.

The Articles of Association of the Company provide that not less than one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire as 

Directors at each annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM”). All new Directors appointed by the Board shall hold office until 

the next AGM, and be eligible for re-election at the said AGM.

Excluding the Directors above 70 years of age who are subject to annual re-nomination, namely Mr Kwek Leng Beng and Mr Bertie 

Cheng, the remaining Directors of the Company will retire about once in every 2 to 3 years. In accordance with the Articles of 

Association of the Company, Messrs Kwek Leng Joo, Woo Tchi Chu and Po’ad Mattar are due to retire by rotation at the forthcoming 

AGM (“2012 AGM”).  Messrs Kwek Leng Joo and Po’ad Mattar have offered themselves for re-election whilst Mr Woo Tchi Chu has 

expressed his desire not to seek re-election. Mr Raymond Lim being a Director appointed by the Board will also retire and be eligible 

for re-election at the 2012 AGM.

Annual Review of Directors’ Independence

The NC reviews the independence of Directors annually according to the criteria on independence set out in the Internal CG Guidelines. 

Based on the review, 6 out of the current 10 Directors are considered by the NC to be independent. With the appointment of Mr 

Raymond Lim with effect from 1 March 2012 and the retirement of Mr Woo Tchi Chu at the 2012 AGM, 5 out of the resultant 9 

Directors on the Board are considered to be independent, which will be more than half of the Board, thus providing for a strong and 

independent element on the Board capable of exercising objective judgment on corporate affairs of the Company.
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When considering the independence of the Directors, the NC also reviews the Directors’ other directorships, the annual declaration 

by the independent NEDs regarding their independence, the Directors’ disclosures of interests in transactions and also any interests in 

advances, loans or credit facilities granted by the Company.

Directors’ Time Commitments

When considering the nomination of Directors for appointment or re-election/re-appointment, the NC also takes into account the 

competing time commitments faced by Directors with multiple board representations. An analysis of the directorships held by the 

Directors is reviewed annually by the NC. Based on the analysis and the Directors’ commitment and contributions to the Company 

which is also evident in their level of attendance and participation at Board and Board Committee meetings, the NC is satisfied that all 

Directors are able to carry out and have been adequately carrying out their duties as Directors of the Company.

Criteria and Process for Nomination and Selection of New Directors

The NC interviews the shortlisted candidates before formally considering and recommending them for appointment to the Board and 

where applicable, to the Board Committees.

In reviewing and recommending to the Board any new Director appointments, the NC considers: (a) the candidate’s independence, 

in the case of the appointment of an independent NED; (b) the composition requirements for the Board and Board Committees (if 

candidate is proposed to be appointed to any of the Board Committees) under the Internal CG Guidelines; (c) the candidate’s age, 

track record, experience and capabilities and such other relevant factors as may be determined by the NC which would contribute to 

the Board’s collective skills; (d) any competing time commitments if the candidate has multiple board representations; and (e) MAS’ fit 

and proper criteria.

As a finance company, all new appointments to the Board are subject to the approval of the MAS.

Key Information on Directors

Please refer to the ‘Board of Directors’ section in the AR for key information on the Directors, and the Notice of AGM for Directors 

proposed for re-election and re-appointment at the 2012 AGM.

Succession Planning for the Board and the MD

The Board believes in carrying out succession planning for itself and the MD to ensure continuity of leadership. Board renewal is 

a continuing process and in this regard, the NC reviews the composition of the Board, which includes size and mix, annually and 

recommends to the Board the selection and appointment of new Directors, whether in addition to existing Board members or as 

replacement of retiring Board members, with a view to identifying any gaps in the Board’s skills sets taking into account the Company’s 

business operations. The Board will be able to function smoothly notwithstanding any resignation or retirement of any Director given 

the present number of members and mix of competencies on the Board.
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Principle 5: Board Performance

Board Evaluation Process

The Company has in place a formal process for assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the contribution by 

each Director to the effectiveness of the Board. The NC assesses the Board’s performance as a whole annually using objective and 

appropriate quantitative and qualitative criteria which were recommended by the NC and approved by the Board.  When assessing 

the overall Board performance, the NC takes into consideration the feedback from individual Directors on areas relating to the Board’s 

competencies and effectiveness. The results of the overall evaluation of the Board by the NC including its recommendation, if any, for 

improvements are presented to the Board.

The annual evaluation process for each individual Director’s performance comprises 3 parts: (a) background information concerning the 

Director including his attendance records at Board and Board Committee meetings; (b) questionnaire for completion by each individual 

Board member; and (c) NC’s evaluation based on certain assessment parameters. The questionnaires and the assessment parameters 

were recommended by the NC and approved by the Board.  The completed questionnaires are then reviewed by the NC before the 

NC completes its evaluation of the individual Directors. When deliberating on the performance of a particular Director who is also a 

member of the NC, that member abstains from the discussions in order to avoid any conflict of interests.

The results of the individual evaluation of each of the Directors are also used by the NC, in its consultation with the Chairman of the 

Board (who is also a member of the NC), to review, where appropriate, the composition of the Board and Board Committees, and to 

support its proposals, if any, for appointment of new members and its recommendations for the re-appointment and re-election of 

retiring Directors. Comments from the Directors, if any, concerning the Board as a whole and the general performance of the Directors, 

are also presented to the Board.

Board Evaluation Criteria

The qualitative criteria is set out in a questionnaire covering 3 main areas relating to board composition, roles and responsibilities, 

conduct of meetings and access to information.

The quantitative criteria used to evaluate the overall Board performance comprises quarterly performance indicators which include 

a comparison of the Company’s performance for the financial period under review against the performance of the Company and 

industry peers for the corresponding period over the past 3 years and the longer term indicators such as the Company’s share price 

performance over a 5-year period and vis-à-vis the Singapore Straits Times Index. 

Individual Director Evaluation Criteria

Factors taken into account in the assessment of a Director’s performance include his abilities and competencies, his objectivity and the 

level of participation at Board and Board Committee meetings including his contribution to Board processes and the business strategies 

and performance of the Company. 
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Principle 6: Access to Information

Complete, Adequate and Timely Information and Access to Management

Prior to each meeting, members of the Board and the Board Committees are provided with the meeting agenda and the relevant 

papers submitted by Management, containing complete, adequate and timely information to enable full deliberation on the issues to 

be considered at the respective meetings. Management, the Company’s auditors and professional advisers who can provide additional 

insight into the matters for discussion are also invited from time to time to attend such meetings. The role and responsibilities of 

Management and their reporting relationships are set out in the Company’s organisation structure which is tabled annually and also as 

and when there are changes, for noting by the Board. Directors have separate and independent access to Management.

Draft agendas for Board and Board Committee meetings are circulated to the Chairman of the Board and the chairmen of the Board 

Committees, in advance, for them to review and suggest items for the agenda. The Board and the Board Committees are also furnished 

with routine reports, where applicable from the various departments. Each of the chairmen of the AC, NC, RC, Share Option Scheme 

Committee and Exco provides an annual report of the respective committees’ activities during the year under review to the Board. The 

chairman of the RMC provides reports to the Board twice yearly on its activities. The minutes of meetings of the Board Committees 

are circulated to all Board members.

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary, whose appointment and removal is subject to the Board’s approval, attends all Board and Board Committees 

meetings and ensures that all Board procedures are followed. The Company Secretary, together with Management, also ensures 

that the Company complies with all applicable statutory and regulatory rules.  Together with Management, she also assists the 

Board Chairman, the Board and Board Committees to implement and strengthen corporate governance practices and processes, 

including facilitating orientation for newly appointed Directors and appointments to Board Committees, and continuing training and 

development for the Directors.

On an ongoing basis, the Directors have separate and independent access to the Company Secretary. The duties and responsibilities of 

the Company Secretary are set out in the Internal CG Guidelines.

Independent Professional Advice

The Directors, whether as a group or individually, are entitled to take independent professional advice at the expense of the Company, 

in furtherance of their duties and in the event that circumstances warrant the same. The Company has in place internal guidelines 

allowing the Directors to seek independent professional advice.
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REMUNERATION MATTERS

Principle 7: Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

RC Composition and Role

The RC comprises 3 non-executive Directors, all of whom including the chairman of the RC are independent. The RC’s principal 

responsibilities as set out in its written terms of reference approved and adopted by the Board are to review and recommend, for the 

endorsement of the Board, a framework of remuneration and the specific remuneration packages for each Board member, including 

the MD, together with the President (who is the most senior member of the Management team outside the Board), which covers 

Directors’ fees, salaries, bonuses, allowances, options and other benefits in kind. The Company has in place principles concerning the 

Board’s remuneration. All the members of the RC also sit on the Share Option Scheme Committee and the chairman of the RC is also 

the chairman of the Share Option Scheme Committee. The Company Secretary maintains records of all RC meetings including records 

of discussions on key deliberations and decisions taken.

Principle 8: Level and Mix of Remuneration 

Directors’ Remuneration

In reviewing the remuneration package of the MD who is the only Executive Director of the Company together with that of the 

President (who is not a Board member), the RC, with the assistance of the Company’s Head of Human Resources, considers the level 

of remuneration based on the Company’s remuneration policy which comprises the following 3 distinct objectives:-

-	 to ensure that the remuneration packages are competitive in attracting and retaining employees capable of meeting the Company’s 

needs;

-	 to reward employees for achieving corporate and individual performance targets in a fair and equitable way; and

-	 to ensure that the remuneration reflects employees’ duties and responsibilities.

The Company also utilised longer term incentive schemes, in the form of the grant of options under the Share Option Scheme with 

certain grants subject to a vesting schedule.  Information on the Share Option Scheme is set out in the Directors’ Report on pages 57 

to 59 and the Financial Statements on pages 85 to 89 of the AR.

When reviewing the structure and level of Directors’ fees, the RC took into consideration the Directors’ respective roles and responsibilities 

in the Board and Board Committees. Changes in the business, corporate governance practices and regulatory rules and the impact 

of these changes on the Directors’ roles and responsibilities were also taken into account.  The comparability of the Company’s fee 

structure and level with those of other companies of comparable size and structure, both within and outside the financial industry was 

also taken into account. Other factors taken into consideration in the fee review included frequency of Board and Board Committee 

meetings, corporate performance for the financial year under review as well as the corporate and economic outlook in the new 

financial year, and the interval since the last fee review and changes. No Director is involved in deciding his own remuneration.
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Principle 9: Disclosure of Remuneration 

Disclosure of Remuneration

The total compensation packages for employees including the MD comprise a fixed component (in the form of a base salary and fixed 

allowances) and a variable component (which includes year-end and variable bonuses, share option grants for eligible employees 

and benefits-in-kind, where applicable), taking into account amongst other factors, the individual’s performance, the Company’s 

performance and industry practices. Each of the Directors receives a base Director’s fee, with the MD receiving an additional fee for 

serving as the Board Chairman.  Directors who serve on the various Board Committees also receive additional fees in respect of each 

Board Committee that they serve on, with the chairmen of the Board Committees (except the chairman of the Exco) receiving a higher 

fee in respect of their service as chairman of the committee.

The RC has recommended an increase in the NC and RC fees and the payment of a fee to the Lead ID in respect of the financial 

year ended 31 December (“FY”) 2011. The Board has endorsed the RC’s recommendations on the payment of the Directors’ fees for 

shareholders’ approval at the 2012 AGM. 

The breakdown (in percentage terms) of the Directors’ remuneration for FY 2011 is set out below.

Directors’ Remuneration for FY 2011

Base 
Salary(1)

%

Variable 
Bonuses/

Allowances(1)

%

Board/Board 
Committee 

Fees(2)

%

Share 
Option 
Grants(3)

%

Other 
Benefits

%

Total

%

$2,000,000 to below $2,250,000

1.	 Kwek Leng Beng 48 41 5 4 2 100

Below $250,000

2.	 Kwek Leng Joo - - 100 - - 100

3.	 Kwek Leng Peck - - 100 - - 100

4.	 Kwek Leng Kee - - 100 - - 100

5.	 Woo Tchi Chu - - 100 - - 100

6.	 Chng Beng Hua - - 100 - - 100

7.	 Dr Manfred Otto Barth - - 100 - - 100

8.	 Cheng Shao Shiong @ Bertie Cheng - - 99 - 1 100

9.	 Lee Jackson @ Li Chik Sin - - 100 - - 100

10.	Po’ad bin Shaik Abu Bakar Mattar - - 100 - - 100

11.	Ter Kim Cheu - - 100 - - 100

Notes:
(1)	 The salary and variable bonuses/allowances are inclusive of employer’s central provident fund contributions. 
(2)	 These fees comprise Board and Board Committee fees (excluding AC and RMC fees) for FY 2011, which are subject to approval by shareholders as 

a lump sum at the 2012 AGM as well as the AC and RMC fees for FY 2011 that have already been approved by shareholders at the 2010 and 2011 

AGMs. 
(3)	 These relate to options granted during FY 2011. The fair value of the options as at the date of grant is $0.2476 for each share under option taking 

into account the vesting schedule using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Formula.
(4)	 Dr Manfred Barth and Mr Jackson Lee retired at the 2011 AGM and the Board and Board Committee fees payable to them for FY 2011 are pro-rated 

accordingly.



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

41Annual Report 2011

The remuneration of the top 5 key executives (who are not Directors) is not disclosed in the AR as the Company does not believe it to 

be in its interest to disclose the identity of the top 5 key executives within the remuneration bands of $250,000 each or to provide a 

breakdown of each individual’s remuneration, having regard to the highly competitive human resource environment and for purposes 

of maintaining confidentiality of staff remuneration matters.

During FY 2011, none of the Directors had immediate family members not disclosed above who were or are employees of the 

Company and whose personal annual remuneration exceeded or exceeds $150,000. 

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Principle 10: Accountability 

Accountability of Board and Management 

The Board provides shareholders with quarterly and annual financial results. Results for the first 3 quarters are released to shareholders 

within 45 days of the end of each quarter whilst annual results are released within 60 days from the financial year end. In presenting 

the Group’s annual and quarterly results, the Board aims to provide shareholders with a balanced and understandable assessment of 

the Group’s performance and financial position with a commentary at the date of the announcement of the significant trends and 

competitive conditions of the industry in which it operates.  For the financial year under review, the Chief Financial Officer provided 

assurance to the AC on the integrity of the quarterly and the full year unaudited financial statements. The Board provided a negative 

assurance confirmation in respect of the unaudited financial statements for the first three quarters to the shareholders in accordance 

with the regulatory requirements.  

Management provides all Directors with monthly financial results including analysis of the same which are submitted within 30 days 

of each month end. 

Principle 11: Audit Committee
 

Composition of AC 

The AC comprises 3 non-executive Directors, all of whom including the chairman of the AC are independent. With the retirement of Mr 

Jackson Lee from the Board following the conclusion of the 2011 AGM, he also ceased to be a member of the AC. Pursuant to the NC’s 

recommendation and in consultation with the AC chairman, Mr Ter Kim Cheu, an independent Director, was appointed a member of 

the AC on 21 April 2011. Subsequent to his appointment, Mr Ter went through the AC induction programme, whereby he was briefed 

by the AC chairman, the President and the Head of Internal Audit (“IA”) on the functions and responsibilities of the AC, the Company’s 

framework on internal controls, and the role and work of the IA department respectively. Briefings by the Group Financial Controller 

on the roles and responsibilities of the Accounting and Finance department, and by the Head of Risk Management and Credit Control 

on the risk management framework of the Company and the functions of the Risk Management and Credit Control departments had 

earlier been provided during Mr Ter’s induction as a new board member in September 2010.

With the current composition, the AC believes that it has sufficient accounting and financial management expertise and experience to 

discharge its functions within its written terms of reference.    



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

42 Hong Leong Finance

Powers and Duties of the AC

The AC is authorised by the Board to investigate any matters it deems appropriate within its terms of reference and has full access to 

and co-operation of Management. It may invite any Director, officer or employee of the Company to attend its meetings and is also 

authorised to seek external professional advice to enable it to discharge its functions.

The principal responsibility of the AC is to assist the Board in maintaining a high standard of corporate governance, particularly by 

providing an independent review of the effectiveness of the Company’s financial reporting process (including reviewing the accounting 

policies and practices of the Company) and material internal controls, including financial, operational, compliance and risk management 

controls.  Other duties within its written terms of reference include:-

- 	 to review with Management and, where appropriate, with the external auditors the quarterly and full year financial statements to 

be issued by the Group before their submission to the Board to ensure their completeness, accuracy and fairness;

-	 to review and approve the audit plans of the external and internal auditors;

-	 to review, on an annual basis, the scope and results of the external audit and its cost-effectiveness and the independence and 

objectivity of the external auditors; and also to review on a periodic basis the nature and extent of any non-audit services provided 

by the external auditors to the Company;

-	 to review the effectiveness of the IA function; 

-	 to review annually with Management, the internal and external auditors the results of their review and evaluation of the Company’s 

material internal controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls, and risk management policies and systems;

-	 to make recommendations to the Board on the nomination for the appointment, re-appointment and removal of external auditors, 

and to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors; 

-	 to approve the appointment, resignation or dismissal of the Head of IA; and

-	 to review interested person transactions falling within the scope of Chapter 9 of the Listing Rules. 

The AC held 5 meetings during the year and carried out its duties as set out within its terms of reference. The Company Secretary 

maintains records of all AC meetings including records of discussions on key deliberations and decisions taken. The AC meets with the 

internal and external auditors, each separately without the presence of Management, annually. 

For the financial year under review, the AC conducted a self-assessment of its own effectiveness in the discharge of its roles and 

responsibilities. The assessment was facilitated through the use of a self-assessment checklist (“AC Self-Assessment Checklist”), based 

on the guidance from the Guidebook for Audit Committees in Singapore issued in October 2008 (“ACGC Guidebook”). 

The AC Self-Assessment Checklist covered the AC’s terms of reference, composition, meetings, training and resources, financial 

reporting, internal financial controls and risk management systems, internal and external audit processes, whistleblowing, relationships 

with the Board, communication with shareholders and contribution of AC members to the AC deliberations and decisions. 

Based on the self-assessment, the AC believes that it has fulfilled its responsibilities and discharged its duties as set out in the AC’s 

terms of reference.
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External Auditors

Taking cognizance that the external auditors should be free from any business or other relationships with the Company that could 

materially interfere with their ability to act with integrity and objectivity, the AC undertook a review of the independence of KPMG LLP 

(“KPMG”) and gave careful consideration to the Company’s relationships with them during 2011.  In determining the independence of 

KPMG, the AC reviewed all aspects of the Company’s relationships with them including the processes, policies and safeguards adopted 

by the Company and KPMG relating to audit independence. The AC also considered the nature of the provision of the non-audit 

services in 2011 and the corresponding fees and ensured that such non-audit fees did not impair or threaten the audit independence. 

Based on the review, the AC is of the opinion that KPMG is, and is perceived to be, independent for the purpose of the Company’s 

statutory financial audit. For details of the fees paid and/or payable to KPMG in respect of audit and non-audit services for FY 2011, 

please refer to note 21 of the Notes to the Financial Statements on page 100.

In reviewing the nomination of KPMG for re-appointment for the financial year ending 31 December 2012, the AC has considered the 

adequacy of the resources, experience and competence of KPMG. Consideration was also given to the engagement partner and key 

team members’ overall business acumen, knowledge and experience in the financial services industry. The size and complexity of the 

audit of the Company and the level of audit fee were further taken into account. The AC has also considered the audit team’s ability to 

work in a co-operative manner with Management whilst maintaining integrity and objectivity and to deliver their services professionally 

and within agreed time-lines. The AC also appreciated the candour of the external auditors in discussions on audit issues with the AC, 

both in a private session and during meetings.

KPMG has confirmed that they are registered with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority and are thus in compliance 

with Rule 712(2) of the Listing Rules. 

On the basis of the above, the AC has recommended to the Board the nomination of KPMG for re-appointment as external auditors 

at the 2012 AGM.

Review of Related Party and Interested Person Transactions

Taking a risk-based approach, the Company has established policies and procedures on related party and interested person transactions 

to ensure that such transactions are reported in a timely manner to the AC and undertaken on an arm’s length basis, on normal 

commercial terms consistent with the Company’s usual business practices and policies, are not prejudicial to the interests of the 

Company and its minority shareholders and on terms which are generally no more favourable to the related parties and/or interested 

persons (as defined in Chapter 9 of the Listing Rules), than those extended to other unrelated third parties under similar circumstances. 

IA reviews all interested person transactions and the related party lending transactions annually and as part of its review, updates the 

AC on such transactions reviewed and updates the Board on comments/findings if any relating to any loan related/connected to any 

AC member.

A list of related parties and interested persons is maintained by the Company for monitoring purposes.
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Particulars of interested person transactions required to be disclosed under Rule 907 of the Listing Rules are as follows:-

Name of Interested Person Aggregate value of all interested person 

transactions in FY 2011 (excluding 

transactions less than $100,000 and 

transactions conducted under any 

shareholders’ mandate pursuant to 

Rule 920)

($’000)

Aggregate value of all interested person 

transactions conducted in FY 2011 under 

shareholders’ mandate pursuant to 

Rule 920 (excluding transactions less than 

$100,000)

($’000)

Hong Leong Investment Holdings Pte. Ltd. 

group of companies

-	 Receipt of corporate and management 

services

220 Not applicable*

 

*	 The Company has not sought any shareholders’ mandate for interested person transactions pursuant to Rule 920. 

The above interested person transaction was carried out on normal commercial terms and was not prejudicial to the interests of the 

Company and its minority shareholders. 

Whistle-blowing policy

HLF has in place a whistle-blowing policy where staff of the Company can raise in confidence, whether anonymously or otherwise, 

concerns on possible improprieties relating to accounting, financial reporting, internal controls and auditing matters without fear of 

reprisals in any form. The AC has the responsibility of overseeing this policy which is administered by the Head of IA.  Under these 

procedures, arrangements are in place for independent investigation of such matters raised and for appropriate follow up action to be 

taken. To help instil greater confidence and to encourage employees to raise concerns on possible improprieties, the whistle-blowing 

policy was amended to add the Head of Human Resources to the present channels of reporting, being the Head of IA and the AC 

chairman.

Principle 12: Internal Controls

Internal Controls

The Directors recognise that they have overall responsibility to ensure proper financial reporting for the Company and effectiveness 

of the Company’s system of internal controls including financial, operational and compliance controls, and risk management policies 

and systems. 

The internal controls structure of the Company has been designed and put in place by Management to provide reasonable assurance 

against material financial misstatements or loss, for the safeguarding of assets, for the maintenance of proper accounting records, for 

the provision of financial and other information with integrity, reliability and relevance, and in compliance with applicable laws and 

regulations. However, no internal controls system can provide absolute assurance in view of inherent limitations of any internal controls 

system against the occurrence of human and system errors, poor judgment in decision-making, losses, fraud or other irregularities.
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The AC reviewed the adequacy of the Company’s key internal controls that address the Company’s financial, operational and compliance 

risks, with the assistance of the RMC, Management, the Risk Management and Credit Control departments, Compliance department 

and the internal and external auditors. 

Based on the work performed by  IA,  Risk Management, Credit Control and Compliance departments during the financial year, as well 

as the statutory audit by KPMG, and the assurance from Management, the Board, with the concurrence of the AC, is satisfied that, in 

the absence of any evidence to the contrary, the system of internal controls in place is adequate to address in all material respects the 

financial, operational and compliance risks within the current scope of the Company’s business operations.

Principle 13: Internal Audit

Reporting Line and Qualifications

The IA function is independent of the activities it audits. The Head of IA’s primary reporting line is to the chairman of the AC with 

an administrative line of reporting to the President of the Company. The appointment, resignation and dismissal of the Head of IA is 

reviewed and approved by the AC. The AC also provides input on the annual performance appraisal of the Head of IA and the AC 

chairman is consulted on all bonus payments and salary adjustments for this position. The AC meets the Head of IA at least once 

annually without the presence of Management. The Head of IA has unfettered access to the AC, the Board and Management.

IA operates within the framework stated in its IA Charter which is approved by the AC, and reviewed on an annual basis. The standards 

of the IA Charter are consistent with the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing set by the Institute 

of Internal Auditors.

Processes are in place to ensure that the professional competence of the IA staff is maintained or upgraded through training programmes, 

and the AC reviews on an annual basis the continuing professional education programme proposed for the IA team which comprises 

technical and non-technical training for professional and personal development of the IA staff.

Role and Activities of IA

The primary role of the IA is to assist the Board to evaluate the reliability, adequacy and effectiveness of the internal controls and risk 

management processes of the Company, by ensuring that the scope of the IA’s work is reasonably comprehensive to enable effective 

and regular review of the key operational, financial and related activities of the Company. 

The AC approved the annual IA plan in January 2011, which focus continued to be on the core loans and deposits operations, 

processes and controls.  The AC received regular reports during 2011 on the progress of the audit work under the IA plan. IA 

observations on control, operational and human lapses and recommendations to address them were also reviewed and discussed at 

the AC meetings. The AC was satisfied that recommendations made were dealt with by Management in a timely manner with any 

outstanding recommendations being closely monitored and reported back to the AC. 
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The AC reviewed the effectiveness and adequacy of the IA function through a review of the IA activities on a quarterly basis as well as 

its annual assessment of the IA function. The assessment was facilitated through the use of an evaluation framework modelled on the 

evaluation framework recommended in the ACGC Guidebook. The evaluation framework is comprehensive and covers IA organisation, 

resources and continuing training, audit plans, work scope, quality of reports and recommendations, IA Charter and IA internal control 

assessment. Based on the assessment, the AC is satisfied with the quality and effectiveness of the IA function and that the IA function 

is currently adequately resourced and has appropriate independent standing within the Company to perform its functions effectively.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Principle 14: Communication with Shareholders

The Company announces its quarterly and full-year results within the mandatory period. The financial statements and other presentation 

materials presented at the Company’s general meetings and any material and price-sensitive information are disseminated and publicly 

released via SGXNET on a timely basis. All shareholders of the Company receive the annual report of the Company and the notice of 

AGM is also advertised in the press and released via SGXNET. Shareholders and investors can access information on the Company at 

its website at www.hlf.com.sg which provides, inter alia, corporate announcements, press releases and the latest financial results as 

released by the Company on SGXNET. 

Principle 15: Greater Shareholder Participation

At general meetings of the Company, shareholders are given the opportunity to communicate their views and encouraged to ask the 

Directors and Management questions regarding matters affecting the Company. The chairmen of the AC, NC, RC and RMC and the 

external auditors were present at the last AGM, and will endeavour to be present at the 2012 AGM to assist the Directors in addressing 

queries raised by the shareholders.

The Company provides for separate resolutions at general meetings on each substantial issue, including treating the re-election or 

re-appointment of each Director as a separate subject matter. Detailed information on each item in the AGM agenda is provided in 

the explanatory notes to the notice of AGM in the annual report.  The Company also maintains minutes of the AGM, which includes 

the key comments and queries raised by shareholders and the responses from the Board, Management and/or the external auditors.

In accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company, shareholders may appoint one or 2 proxies to attend and vote at 

general meetings in their absence. All shareholders are allowed to vote in person or by proxy.  CPF investors of the Company’s securities 

may attend shareholders’ meetings as observers provided they have submitted their requests to do so with their agent banks within a 

specified timeframe. As the authentication of shareholder identity information and other related integrity issues still remain a concern, 

the Company has decided, for the time being, not to implement voting in absentia by mail or electronic means. In support of greater 

transparency and to allow for a more efficient voting system, the Company intends to provide electronic poll voting instead of voting 

by show of hands at the 2012 AGM in respect of all resolutions proposed at the 2012 AGM. With electronic poll voting, shareholders 

present in person or represented by proxy at the 2012 AGM will be entitled to vote on a ‘one share, one vote’ basis. The voting results 

of all votes cast in respect of each resolution will also be instantaneously displayed at the meeting and announced via SGXNET after 

the 2012 AGM.
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RISK MANAGEMENT 

Risk management plays an important role in the Company’s business activities and is an essential component of its planning process. It 

is therefore critical to the Company’s continuing profitability. Where risk is assumed, it is within a calculated and controlled framework. 

The Company ensures that it has the functional capability to manage risks in new and existing businesses, and that business plans are 

consistent with risks appetite. There is in place an independent and centralised risk management function which serves to broaden 

the Company’s existing risk management framework to include additional capabilities and approaches in line with modern risk 

management practice. This integrated risk management framework identifies, assesses, manages and reports risks on a consistent and 

reliable basis. With the enhanced and formalised risk management function in place, the Company aims to:- 

-	 build on existing developments in governance and risk management to create an effective system for management of the risks the 

Company incurs, supported by appropriate tools; 

-	 ensure the current operating system delivers the information needed for risk management; and 

-	 train and motivate staff to manage risks effectively. 

The Company believes that a strong risk management process will support effective capital allocation and management and, through 

this, increase shareholders’ value. It is also with this process that risk and return are evaluated with a goal of producing sustainable 

revenue and reducing earnings volatility. The maintenance of a strong control framework is a high priority and is the foundation for 

the delivery of effective risk management.

A strong risk governance structure is maintained to strengthen risk evaluation and management, whilst positioning the Company to 

manage the changing dynamic environment in an efficient and effective manner. The risk governance structure is reviewed regularly 

against best practices as set out in the industry and regulatory guidance. The Board establishes and oversees the Company’s risk 

management framework; and ensures the adequacy of independent risk management systems and practices.  Thus, the Board has 

overall responsibility for determining the type and level of business risks that the Company undertakes to achieve its corporate 

objectives. To assist the Board in fulfilling its duties, the RMC, a dedicated risk committee at board level oversees and reports to the 

Board on matters relating to the risk management function of the Company. It reviews and approves the risk management framework 

and related risk policies. It also oversees the establishment and operation of the risk management systems that are in place. The RMC 

comprises 4 Directors, 3 of whom are NEDs. The members of the RMC possess the relevant business experience and are therefore 

suitably qualified to discharge their responsibilities. The Company Secretary maintains records of all RMC meetings including records 

of discussions on key deliberations and decisions taken. 

During the year, the RMC did a self-assessment of its performance based on the self-assessment checklist (“Self-Assessment 

Checklist”). The Self-Assessment Checklist covered the RMC’s terms of reference, memberships and appointments, meetings, training 

and resources, risk management systems, risk disclosure, relationship with the Board and communication with shareholders. Based on 

the self-assessment, the RMC was of the view that it has fulfilled its responsibilities and discharged its duties as set out in its terms of 

reference.

An enterprise risk management executive briefing was conducted for the Board of Directors in 2011. The objective was to provide a 

better understanding of the applications of risk management, key risks to be managed, regulatory requirements and the latest global 

regulatory initiatives.

A risk management team is accountable to the RMC for maintaining an effective control environment that reflects established 

risks appetite and business objectives. The risk management team is independent of the business units, and performs the role of 

implementing risk management policies and procedures.
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All the Company’s business activities involve, to varying degrees, the analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management of risks or 

combinations of risks. The principal risks of the Company comprise strategic, credit, market and operational risks. Significant business 

risks are identified and a risk management action plan focusing on 4 main aspects, namely, Board oversight, senior management 

accountability, sound and well-documented risk policies and strong risk management, monitoring and control capabilities, implemented.  

The risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse the various risks, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to 

monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of reliable information systems.  Risk profiles, exposures and trends are regularly 

reported to Management and the RMC for review and appropriate action. The Company regularly reviews its risk management policies 

and systems to reflect changes in markets, products and emerging best practice. 

The Company recognises that the risk management process is an ongoing process and will thus continuously ensure that the Company’s 

current risk management system and processes are in line with regulatory guidelines and industry best practices. 

In the following paragraphs, a description is given of the way the various risk types are measured and managed in the Company. 

Strategic Risk

Strategic risk is the risk that adverse business decisions, ineffective or inappropriate business plans or failure to respond to changes in 

the competitive environment, business cycles, customer preferences, product obsolescence, execution and/or other intrinsic risks of 

business will impact the Company’s ability to meet its objectives. The Company is mindful of the changes in its operating environment 

from time to time and is constantly monitoring and reviewing the economic and strategic risks of the Company in order to be able to 

enhance the management of the same. An integrated business planning and budget process is used to help manage strategic risk. A 

key component of this process is the alignment of strategies, goals, tactics and resources by the various business units and support 

departments. A planning process flows through the business units, identifying business unit plans that are aligned with the Company’s 

direction.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the potential loss arising from failure of a debtor or counterparty to meet their contractual obligations. The risk is managed 

to achieve sustainable and superior risk-reward performance whilst maintaining exposures within acceptable risk appetite parameters. 

This is achieved through the combination of governance, policies, systems and controls, underpinned by sound judgment. The failure 

to effectively manage credit risk across the Company and all products, services and activities can have a direct, immediate and material 

impact on the Company’s earnings and reputation. 

The Company has a Credit Risk Management policy to document and formalise the credit risk framework. This policy sets forth credit 

risk principles and details how the risks are managed in the Company. It is supplemented by the Credit Manual which details the 

process and management relating to credit transactions. The comprehensive credit risk framework ensures that all credit risks arising 

from each business are identified, analysed and monitored. Credit stress testing is also conducted periodically to determine the impact 

of security values and other stress parameters on the Company’s loan portfolios. This stress testing allows the Company to assess the 

potential credit impact to losses arising from unlikely but plausible adverse events. 
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Credit risk analysis focuses on ensuring that credit risks are identified in order that a balanced assessment can be made accordingly. 

Loans and advances to customers provide the principal source of credit risk to the Company. The value of outstanding loans and 

advances balances, their risk profile, and potential concentrations within them can therefore have a considerable influence on the 

level of credit risk. The Company addresses credit risk concentration by setting a credit portfolio mix limit and monitoring the limit 

on a regular basis. Management periodically reviews the loans portfolio and concentration risk reports to monitor for undue credit 

concentrations.  More details on credit risk could be found in the Financial Statements on pages 104 to 107 of the AR.

Market Risk 

Market risk is the risk that values of assets and liabilities or revenues will be adversely affected by changes in market conditions such 

as interest rate movement. Traditional financial activities, such as lending and deposit taking, expose the Company to market risk, of 

which interest rate risk is a large component. Market risk also includes the risks of market access for funding and liquidity. 

The objective of balance sheet interest rate risk management is to secure stable and optimal net interest income over both the short 

and long term. Interest rate risk arises primarily from the fact that financial assets and liabilities typically reprice at different points in 

time. In liquidity risk management, the Company ensures that cash flow requirements of depositors and borrowers, as well as our 

operating cash needs are met taking into account all on and off-balance sheet funding demands. Liquidity risk management also 

includes ensuring cash flow needs are met at a reasonable cost. The liquidity funding requirements are integrated into the liquidity risk 

management policy with its aim to ensure that the Company has a stable diversified funding base without over-reliance on any one 

market segment.  Liquidity contingency funding plans are in place to identify potential liquidity crises using early warning indicators and 

to handle unexpected liquidity disruptions. Crisis escalation procedures, decision making authorities and various strategies including 

funding and communication have been developed to minimise the impact of any liquidity crunch. The Assets and Liabilities Committee 

comprising Management, reviews policies, strategies and limits in the management of market risk. The RMC assists the Board in 

ensuring the effective management of the market risk process. 

Analyses of cash flow, re-pricing mismatches, Present Value of a basis point impact of assets and liabilities and simulation modelling are 

performed to determine the net funding requirements as well as the interest rate risk profile. Tolerance tenor limits on the mismatches 

of liquidity and interest rates as well as risk ratios are established and monitored periodically. Liquidity stress testing is performed to 

assess and plan for the impact of various scenarios which may put the Company’s liquidity at risk. The Company implements the Asset 

and Liability Management and Funds Transfer Pricing (“FTP”) software systems to enhance market risk management. Interest rate risk 

sensitivity analyses are performed under various interest rate scenarios using dynamic simulation modelling. The FTP system, being an 

internal management pricing system, allows for the monitoring of net interest margin. It complements the performance measurement 

process by incorporating cost of funds dimension to the balance sheet. More details on liquidity and interest rate risks could be found 

in the Financial Statements on pages 107 to 114 of the AR.

Operational Risk 

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or external events. While 

the Company has established procedures and controls to manage risks, the potential for failure or inadequacy in these procedures and 

controls would be classified as an operational risk.  Operational risk is inherent in all the Company’s business activities it operates to 

provide services to customers, including the practices and controls used to manage other risks. Operational risk failures could lead to 

reputation damage, financial loss or regulatory consequences. 
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Operational risk is monitored and controlled through an operational risk management framework designed to provide a sound and well-

controlled operational environment. The framework protects the Company from potential financial loss or damage to its reputation; its 

customers or staff and to ensure that it meets the necessary regulatory and legal requirements. The daily management of operational 

risk exposures is through a comprehensive system of internal controls to ensure that operational policies and procedures are being 

adhered to at different levels throughout the Company. The Company’s operational risk self-assessment framework incorporates the 

mapping of risks into risk categories, monitoring of key risk indicators and loss events reporting. Action plans are formulated based 

on the severity of the assessed residual risks after considering mitigating controls. This is augmented through the use of a system that 

supports the operational risk management framework. The IA function checks the system of internal controls through regular and 

ongoing audit procedures and reports on the effectiveness of internal controls to Management and the AC. 

Date: 16 March 2012
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Directors’ report
Year ended 31 December 2011

We are pleased to submit this report to the members of Hong Leong Finance Limited (the “Company”) together with the audited 

financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2011.

Directors

The directors in office at the date of this report are as follows:-

	 Kwek Leng Beng

	 Kwek Leng Joo 

	 Kwek Leng Peck

	 Kwek Leng Kee 

	 Woo Tchi Chu

	 Chng Beng Hua

	 Cheng Shao Shiong @ Bertie Cheng

	 Po’ad bin Shaik Abu Bakar Mattar

	 Ter Kim Cheu

Arrangements to Enable Directors to Acquire Shares and Debentures

Except as disclosed under the section on “Share Options” in this report, neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year 

was the Company a party to any arrangements whose objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the Company 

to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate. 

Directors’ Interests in Shares or Debentures

Except as disclosed in this report, no director who held office at the end of the financial year had interests in shares, share options, 

warrants and/or debentures of the Company, or of related corporations, either at the beginning or at the end of the financial year.  

The directors of the Company consider Hong Leong Investment Holdings Pte. Ltd. (“HLIH”) to be the immediate and ultimate holding 

company of the Company.

According to the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings kept by the Company for the purposes of Section 164 of the Companies Act, 

Chapter 50, particulars of interests of directors who held office at the end of the financial year (including those of their spouses and 

infant children) in shares and/or share options in the Company and in related corporations are as follows:- 
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Holdings in which the director, his spouse
and infant children have a direct interest

At beginning
of the year

At end of
the year

The Company

	 Shares

	 Kwek Leng Beng 4,603,567 4,603,567

	 Kwek Leng Joo 703,610 703,610

	 Kwek Leng Peck 517,359 517,359

	 Kwek Leng Kee 1,595,079 1,595,079

	 Woo Tchi Chu	 57,976 57,976

Options to subscribe for the following number of shares 
under the Hong Leong Finance Share Option Scheme 2001

	 Kwek Leng Beng 3,560,000 3,920,000

Immediate and Ultimate Holding Company

	 Hong Leong Investment Holdings Pte. Ltd.

	 Ordinary Shares

	 Kwek Leng Beng 2,320 2,320

	 Kwek Leng Joo 1,290 1,290

	 Kwek Leng Peck 10,921 10,921

Related Corporations

	 Hong Leong Holdings Limited

	 Ordinary Shares

	 Kwek Leng Beng 259,000 259,000

	 Kwek Leng Joo 210,000 210,000

	 Kwek Leng Peck 381,428 381,428

	 Kwek Leng Kee 997,000 997,000

53Annual Report 2011



Directors’ report
Year ended 31 December 2011

Holdings in which the director, his spouse
and infant children have a direct interest

At beginning
of the year

At end of
the year

Related Corporations (continued)

	 City Developments Limited

	 Ordinary Shares

	 Kwek Leng Beng 397,226 397,226

	 Kwek Leng Joo 65,461 65,461

	 Kwek Leng Peck 43,758 43,758

	 Woo Tchi Chu 11,000 11,000

	 Preference Shares

	 Kwek Leng Beng	 144,445 144,445

	 Kwek Leng Joo 100,000 100,000

	 Hong Realty (Private) Limited

	 Ordinary Shares

	 Kwek Leng Beng 1,110 1,110

	 Kwek Leng Joo 510 510

	 Kwek Leng Peck 150 150

	 Kwek Leng Kee 300 300

	 Hong Leong Asia Ltd.

	 Ordinary Shares

	 Kwek Leng Beng 660,000 660,000

	 Kwek Leng Peck 1,430,000 1,680,000

	 Kwek Leng Kee 150,000 150,000

Options to subscribe for the following number of ordinary shares
under the Hong Leong Asia Share Option Scheme 2000

	 Kwek Leng Peck 420,000 470,000

54 Hong Leong Finance



Directors’ report
Year ended 31 December 2011

Holdings in which the director, his spouse
and infant children have a direct interest

At beginning
of the year

At end of
the year

Related Corporations (continued)

	 City e-Solutions Limited 

	 Ordinary Shares of HK$1.00 each

	 Kwek Leng Beng 3,286,980 3,286,980

	 Kwek Leng Joo 1,436,000 1,436,000

	 Kwek Leng Peck 2,082,200 2,082,200

	 Woo Tchi Chu 107,840 107,840

	 Millennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand Limited

	 Ordinary Shares

	 Kwek Leng Beng 3,000,000 3,000,000

	 Sun Yuan Holdings Pte Ltd

	 Ordinary Shares

	 Kwek Leng Beng 15,000,000 15,000,000

	 Euroform (S) Pte. Limited

	 Ordinary Shares

	 Kwek Leng Joo 50,000 50,000
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Other holdings in which the director 
is deemed to have an interest

At beginning
of the year

At end of
the year

Immediate and Ultimate Holding Company

	 Hong Leong Investment Holdings Pte. Ltd.

	 Ordinary Shares

	 Kwek Leng Beng 40,744 40,744

	 Kwek Leng Kee 47,019 47,019

The directors’ interests in the Company as at 31 December 2011 disclosed above remained unchanged as at 21 January 2012.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

During the financial year, the Company and/or its related corporations have in the normal course of business entered into transactions 

with directors and/or their affiliated parties, being related parties and parties in which some of the directors are deemed to have 

an interest, with the directors having disclosed their interests in such transactions pursuant to Section 156 of the Companies Act, 

Chapter 50.  Such transactions may comprise loans, deposits, provision of nominee and corporate advisory services, foreign exchange 

transactions, insurance transactions, property-related transactions, construction-related transactions, industrial-related transactions, 

consumer-related transactions, investing in real estate used for hospitality and/or hospitality-related purposes, purchase/sale of 

investments, property, industrial and consumer biodegradable and non-biodegradable products, goods including vehicles, parts and 

accessories and provision and receipt of after-sales services, hotel-related transactions, procurement services, information technology 

services, e-commerce-related transactions, management and consultancy services and/or other transactions carried out on normal 

commercial terms and in the normal course of business of the Company and/or its related corporations.

However, the directors have neither received nor become entitled to receive any benefit arising out of these transactions other than 

those to which they may be entitled as customers, suppliers, directors and members of these corporations.

Except as disclosed above and in the accompanying financial statements, and except for remuneration and professional fees paid/

payable by related corporations, since the end of the last financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit 

by reason of a contract made by the Company and/or its related corporations with the director, or with a firm of which he is a member 

or with a company in which he has a substantial financial interest.
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Share Options 

(a)	Hong Leong Finance Share Option Scheme 2001 (the “Share Option Scheme”)

The Share Option Scheme was approved by the shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 31 

January 2001 for an initial duration of 10 years (from 31 January 2001 to 30 January 2011).  At the annual general meeting of 

the Company held on 23 April 2010, the shareholders approved the extension of the duration of the Share Option Scheme for a 

further period of 10 years from 31 January 2011 to 30 January 2021.  Other than the extension of the duration of the Share Option 

Scheme, all other rules of the Share Option Scheme remain unchanged.

The Share Option Scheme is administered by a committee comprising the following members:-

		  Po’ad bin Shaik Abu Bakar Mattar (Chairman)

		  Kwek Leng Peck

		  Woo Tchi Chu

		  Cheng Shao Shiong @ Bertie Cheng

The Share Option Scheme provides the Company with the flexibility of granting options to participants at Market Price (as defined 

in the Share Option Scheme) and/or with a discount (either up-front or a deferred discount) to the Market Price.  All options granted 

to date under the Share Option Scheme are at Market Price and were granted to Group Employees and Parent Group Employees 

(both as defined in the Share Option Scheme).  Subject to any applicable vesting schedule, these options may be exercised one year 

after the date of the grant and have a term of ten years from the date of the grant. 

The aggregate number of shares in the capital of the Company (“Shares”) over which options may be granted under the Share 

Option Scheme on any date, when added to the number of Shares issued and issuable in respect of all options granted under the 

Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 15% of the total number of issued Shares on the day preceding the relevant date of grant.  

The aggregate number of Shares which may be offered by way of grant of options to Parent Group Employees and Parent Group 

Non-Executive Directors (as defined in the Share Option Scheme) collectively under the Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 20% 

of the total number of Shares available under the Share Option Scheme. 

(b)	Options granted under the Share Option Scheme 

During the financial year under review, the following options were granted to Group Employees under the Share Option Scheme:-

Date of grant Exercise period
Number of Shares
under option

Subscription
Price

29.9.2011 29.9.2012 to 28.9.2021 3,406,800 $2.28
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Share Options (continued)

(b)	Options granted under the Share Option Scheme (continued)

(i)	 Included in the above are options granted to an Executive Director of the Company, details of which are as follows:-

Name of Director

Shares under option 

granted during 

financial year under

 review

Aggregate Shares 

under option granted 

since commencement 

of Share Option 

Scheme to end of 

financial year under 

review

Aggregate Shares 

under option exercised 

since commencement 

of Share Option 

Scheme to end of 

financial year under 

review

Aggregate Shares 

under option 

outstanding as at end 

of financial year under 

review

Kwek Leng Beng 360,000 3,920,000 - 3,920,000

(ii)	 None of the participants were regarded by the Directors as controlling shareholders of the Company.

(iii)	None of the other participants were granted options representing 5% or more of the total number of Shares under option 

available under the Share Option Scheme.

(iv)	None of the Parent Group Employees were granted options representing 5% or more of the total number of Shares under 

option available under the Share Option Scheme to all Parent Group Employees and Parent Group Non-Executive Directors.  A 

total of 250,000 Shares under option were granted to Parent Group Employees since the commencement of the Share Option 

Scheme to the end of the financial year under review.

(v)	 Except for options granted to persons in their capacity as Group Employees and/or Parent Group Employees, no other options 

have been granted by the Company to any other categories of persons since the commencement of the Share Option Scheme.

(vi)	The options granted to certain participants of executive rank (including those granted to an Executive Director of the Company) 

since the commencement of the Share Option Scheme are subject to a vesting schedule as follows:-

(1)	 one year after the date of grant for up to 33% of the Shares over which the options are exercisable;

(2)	 two years after the date of grant for up to 66% (including (1) above) of the Shares over which the options are exercisable; 

and

(3)	 three years after the date of grant for up to 100% (including (1) and (2) above) of the Shares over which the options are 

exercisable. 

(vii)	The persons to whom options have been granted do not have any right to participate by virtue of these options in any share 

issue of any other company.
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Share Options (continued)

(c)	 Unissued Shares under option

There were a total of 21,112,240 unissued Shares under option granted pursuant to the Share Option Scheme at the end of the 

financial year.  Details of the options to subscribe for Shares (including those granted to an Executive Director) are as disclosed in 

the accompanying financial statements.

Except as disclosed above and in the accompanying financial statements, during the financial year, there were:-

(i) 	 no options granted by the Company or its subsidiaries to any person to take up unissued Shares of the Company or its subsidiaries; 

and

(ii)	 no Shares issued by virtue of any exercise of options to take up unissued Shares of the Company or its subsidiaries. 
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive members of the Board of Directors.  The members of the Audit 

Committee at the date of this report are:-

	 Po’ad bin Shaik Abu Bakar Mattar (Chairman)

	 Chng Beng Hua

	 Ter Kim Cheu

The Audit Committee held five meetings since the date of the last directors’ report and carried out the functions of an audit committee 

under its terms of reference including those specified in the Companies Act, Chapter 50.  In carrying out its functions, the Audit 

Committee inter-alia reviewed the overall scope of both internal and external audits and the assistance given by the Company’s officers 

to the auditors.  It met with the Company’s internal and external auditors to discuss the results of their respective examinations and 

their evaluation of the Group’s system of internal controls.  The Audit Committee also reviewed the consolidated financial statements 

and the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2011 as well as the auditors’ report thereon.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board of Directors that the auditors, KPMG LLP, be nominated for re-appointment as 

auditors at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company subject to the approval of the Monetary Authority of Singapore.*

Auditors

The auditors, KPMG LLP, have indicated their willingness to accept re-appointment. 

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Kwek Leng Beng
Director

Po’ad bin Shaik Abu Bakar Mattar
Director

Singapore 
28 February 2012
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In our opinion:-

(a)	 the consolidated financial statements of the Group consisting of Hong Leong Finance Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 

and the statement of financial position and the statement of changes in equity of the Company, together with the notes, set out 

on pages 64 to 126 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 

December 2011 and the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and the changes in equity of the Company for the 

year ended on that date in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 and Singapore Financial 

Reporting Standards; and

(b)	 at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when 

they fall due.

The Board of Directors has, on the date of this statement, authorised these financial statements for issue.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Kwek Leng Beng
Director

Po’ad bin Shaik Abu Bakar Mattar
Director

Singapore
28 February 2012

Statement by directors
Year ended 31 December 2011
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Report on the financial statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Hong Leong Finance Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the 

“Group”), which comprise the statements of financial position of the Group and the Company as at 31 December 2011, the statement 

of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows of the Group and statement of changes in 

equity of the Company for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, 

as set out on pages 64 to 126.

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the provisions of 

the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards, and for devising and maintaining 

a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from 

unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the 

preparation of true and fair profit and loss accounts and balance sheets and to maintain accountability of assets.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in accordance 

with Singapore Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the 

audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  The 

procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 

entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 

the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit 

also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 

management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Independent Auditors’ Report
To the Members of Hong Leong Finance Limited
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Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and statement of changes 

in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting 

Standards to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2011 and the results, 

changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and the changes in equity of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiaries incorporated 

in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

KPMG LLP
Public Accountants and

Certified Public Accountants

Singapore

28 February 2012

Independent Auditors’ Report
To the Members of Hong Leong Finance Limited
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Group Company

Note 2011 2010 2011 2010

Number of shares in issue 4 440,473,793 440,369,293 440,473,793 440,369,293

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Share capital 4 869,824 869,535 869,824 869,535

Reserves 4 559,581 533,044 559,581 533,044

Accumulated profits 168,234 146,262 165,626 143,768

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 1,597,639 1,548,841 1,595,031 1,546,347

Liabilities

Deposits and balances of customers 6 7,760,675 7,176,706 7,764,520 7,180,519

Trade and other payables 7 109,157 133,936 107,902 132,677

Current tax payable 37,374 41,725 37,365 41,717

Total liabilities 7,907,206 7,352,367 7,909,787 7,354,913

Total equity and liabilities 9,504,845 8,901,208 9,504,818 8,901,260

Assets

Cash at banks and in hand 9 901,111 1,474,582 900,550 1,474,100

Statutory deposit with the 

Monetary Authority of Singapore 9 202,356 171,319 202,356 171,319

Singapore Government securities 10 889,201 925,586 889,201 925,586

Loans, advances and receivables 11 7,451,816 6,278,595 7,451,816 6,278,595

Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 12 25,585 18,501 25,584 18,500

Subsidiaries 13 - - 535 535

Investments (long term) 14 546 546 546 546

Property, plant and equipment 15 19,566 16,817 19,566 16,817

Deferred tax assets 8 14,664 15,262 14,664 15,262

Total assets 9,504,845 8,901,208 9,504,818 8,901,260

Acceptances, guarantees and other obligations 

on behalf of customers 16 18,633 17,097 18,633 17,097

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Statements of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2011
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended 31 December 2011

Group

2011 2010

Note $’000 $’000

Profit and loss account:

Interest on loans 147,560 163,413

Hiring charges 53,250 65,453

Other interest income 24,273 29,984

Interest income/hiring charges 225,083 258,850

Less:	 Interest expense 60,999 66,529

Net interest income/hiring charges 17 164,084 192,321

Fee and commission income 18 8,577 7,167

Other operating income 19 338 574

Income before operating expenses 172,999 200,062

Less:	 Staff costs 20 58,057 56,993

	 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 15 1,769 1,329

	 Other operating expenses 21 20,245 19,322

Profit from operations before allowances/provision 92,928 122,418

Add:	� Reversal or recovery of provision for settlements and costs relating to 

distribution of wealth management products and impairment losses 

of other assets and allowances for doubtful debts 7, 11 26,750 23,903

Profit before income tax 119,678 146,321

Less:	 Income tax expense 22 19,905 24,360

Profit for the year/Comprehensive income attributable to 
owners of the Company 99,773 121,961

Earnings per share (cents) 23

	 Basic 22.65 27.70

	 Diluted 22.63 27.67

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Share
capital

$’000

Statutory
reserve

$’000

Capital
reserve

$’000

Share
option

reserve
$’000

Accumulated
profits

$’000

Total
equity
$’000

Group

At 1 January 2010 869,006 493,765 2,307 4,813 98,812 1,468,703

Issue of shares under share option scheme 529 529

Value of employee services received for 

issue of share options 1,668 1,668

Final dividend paid of 6 cents per share 

(tax exempt one-tier) in respect of year 2009 (26,412) (26,412)

Interim dividend paid of 4 cents per share 

(tax exempt one-tier) in respect of year 2010 (17,608) (17,608)

Comprehensive income for the year 121,961 121,961

Transfer to Statutory reserve 30,491 (30,491) -

At 31 December 2010 869,535 524,256 2,307 6,481 146,262 1,548,841

At 1 January 2011 869,535 524,256 2,307 6,481 146,262 1,548,841

Issue of shares under share option scheme 289 289

Value of employee services received for 

issue of share options 1,593 1,593

Final dividend paid of 8 cents per share 

(tax exempt one-tier) in respect of year 2010 (35,238) (35,238)

Interim dividend paid of 4 cents per share 

(tax exempt one-tier) in respect of year 2011 (17,619) (17,619)

Comprehensive income for the year 99,773 99,773

Transfer to Statutory reserve 24,944 (24,944) -

At 31 December 2011 869,824 549,200 2,307 8,074 168,234 1,597,639

The statutory reserve is maintained in compliance with the provisions of Section 18 of the Finance Companies Act, Chapter 108.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended 31 December 2011
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Share
capital

$’000

Statutory
reserve

$’000

Capital
reserve

$’000

Share
option

reserve
$’000

Accumulated
profits

$’000

Total
equity
$’000

Company

At 1 January 2010 869,006 493,765 2,307 4,813 96,414 1,466,305

Issue of shares under share option scheme 529 529

Value of employee services received for 

issue of share options 1,668 1,668

Final dividend paid of 6 cents per share 

(tax exempt one-tier) in respect of year 2009 (26,412) (26,412)

Interim dividend paid of 4 cents per share 

(tax exempt one-tier) in respect of year 2010 (17,608) (17,608)

Comprehensive income for the year 121,865 121,865

Transfer to Statutory reserve 30,491 (30,491) -

At 31 December 2010 869,535 524,256 2,307 6,481 143,768 1,546,347

At 1 January 2011 869,535 524,256 2,307 6,481 143,768 1,546,347

Issue of shares under share option scheme 289 289

Value of employee services received for 

issue of share options 1,593 1,593

Final dividend paid of 8 cents per share 

(tax exempt one-tier) in respect of year 2010 (35,238) (35,238)

Interim dividend paid of 4 cents per share 

(tax exempt one-tier) in respect of year 2011 (17,619) (17,619)

Comprehensive income for the year 99,659 99,659

Transfer to Statutory reserve 24,944 (24,944) -

At 31 December 2011 869,824 549,200 2,307 8,074 165,626 1,595,031

The statutory reserve is maintained in compliance with the provisions of Section 18 of the Finance Companies Act, Chapter 108.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended 31 December 2011
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2011 2010

(restated)

Note $’000 $’000

Operating activities

Comprehensive income after tax for the year 99,773 121,961

Adjustments for:-

	 Impact of accrual of interest income 1,384 2,561

	 Impact of accrual of interest expense (4,948) (17,080)

	 Reversal of allowances for doubtful debts  

	 and impairment losses on investments (long term) (1,338) (4,921)

	 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,769 1,329

	 Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (4) (81)

	 Value of employee services received for issue of share options 1,593 1,668

	 Income tax expense 22 19,905 24,360

118,134 129,797

Changes in working capital:-

	 Loans, advances and receivables (1,171,883) (137,015)

	 Other receivables, deposits and prepayments (8,468) 5,886

	 Singapore Government securities 36,385 101,683

	 Deposits and balances of customers 583,969 (92,112)

	 Trade and other payables (19,831) (8,340)

Cash (used in) operations (461,694) (101)

	 Income taxes paid (23,658) (20,459)

Cash flows (used in) operating activities (485,352) (20,560)

Investing activities

Redemption of investments (long term) - 5,529

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (4,519) (933)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 5 116

Cash flows from/(used in) investing activities (4,514) 4,712

Financing activities

Proceeds from exercise of share options 289 529

Dividends paid (52,857) (44,020)

Cash flows (used in) financing activities (52,568) (43,491)

Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (542,434) (59,339)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 29 1,645,901 1,705,240

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 9 1,103,467 1,645,901

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended 31 December 2011
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2011

These notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2011 were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 February 

2012.

1.	 Domicile and Activities

Hong Leong Finance Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated in the Republic of Singapore.  The address of the Company’s 

registered office is 16 Raffles Quay #01-05 Hong Leong Building, Singapore 048581.

The directors consider Hong Leong Investment Holdings Pte. Ltd., a company incorporated in the Republic of Singapore, to be the 

immediate and ultimate holding company of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group as at and for the year ended 31 December 2011 relate to the Company and its 

subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”).

The principal activities of the Company are those relating to financing business and provision of corporate advisory services.  The 

principal activities of the subsidiaries are the provision of nominee services.

2.	 Basis of Preparation

(a)	Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”). 

(b)	Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial assets and financial liabilities 

which are stated at fair value.

(c)	 Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Singapore dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency.  All financial 

information presented in Singapore dollars has been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated.  

(d)	Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates and 

assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 

expenses.  Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in 

the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.
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2.	 Basis of Preparation (continued)

(d)	Use of estimates and judgements (continued)

Information about critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts 

recognised in the financial statements and assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting 

in a material adjustment within the next financial year is included in Note 28, Use of Accounting Estimates and Judgements.

(e)	Changes in accounting policies

Identification of related party relationships and related party disclosures

From 1 January 2011, the Group has applied the revised FRS 24 Related Party Disclosures (2010) to identify parties that 

are related to the Group and to determine the disclosures to be made on transactions and outstanding balances, including 

commitments, between the Group and its related parties.  FRS 24 (2010) improved the definition of a related party in order to 

eliminate inconsistencies and ensure symmetrical identification of relationships between two parties.

The adoption of FRS 24 (2010) has resulted in some change to parties identified as related to the Group.  Transactions and 

outstanding balances, including commitments, with related parties for the current and comparative years have been disclosed 

accordingly in Note 27 to the financial statements.

The adoption of FRS 24 (2010) affects only the disclosures made in the financial statements.  There is no financial effect on the 

results and financial position of the Group for the current and previous financial years.  Accordingly, the adoption of FRS 24 

(2010) has no impact on earnings per share.

3.	 Significant Accounting Policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently by the Group to all periods presented in these financial 

statements.

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current year’s presentation (see Note 29).

(a)	Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.  Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity 

so as to obtain benefits from its activities.  In assessing control, the Group takes into consideration potential voting rights that 

are presently exercisable.  The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from 

the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income or expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are 

eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.  Investments in subsidiaries are stated in the Company’s statement 

of financial position at cost less accumulated impairment losses.  
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3.	 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(b)	Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to Singapore dollars at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.  

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the end of the reporting period are retranslated to the 

functional currency at the exchange rate at that date.  The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference 

between amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the year, adjusted for effective interest and payments 

during the year, and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the year.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated to the 

functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined.  Non-monetary items in a foreign currency 

that are measured in terms of historical cost are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.  Foreign 

currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in profit or loss, except for differences arising on the retranslation 

of available-for-sale equity instruments or qualifying cash flow hedges, which are recognised in other comprehensive income.  

(c)	 Financial instruments

(i)	 Fair value measurement

The determination of fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities is based on quoted market prices for financial 

instruments traded in active markets.

(ii)	 Non-derivative financial assets

The Group initially recognises loans and receivables and deposits on the date that they are originated.  All other financial 

assets (including assets designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognised initially on the trade date, which is the 

date that the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.    

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it 

transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all 

the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred.  Any interest in transferred financial assets that is 

created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability.  The Group also derecognises certain assets 

when it charges off balances pertaining to the assets deemed to be uncollectible.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only 

when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset 

and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group classifies non-derivative financial assets into the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss, held-to-maturity financial assets, loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets.
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3.	 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(c)	 Financial instruments (continued)

(ii)	 Non-derivative financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
A financial asset is classified as fair value through profit or loss if it is classified as held for trading or is designated as such 

upon initial recognition.  Financial assets are designated as fair value through profit or loss if the Group manages such 

investments and makes purchase and sale decisions based on their fair value in accordance with the Group’s documented 

risk management or investment strategy.  Attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.  Financial 

assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value, and changes therein are recognised in profit or loss.

Held-to-maturity financial assets
If the Group has the positive intent and ability to hold debt securities to maturity, then such financial assets are classified 

as held-to-maturity.  Held-to-maturity financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable 

transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-maturity financial assets are measured at amortised cost 

using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.  Any sale or reclassification of a more than insignificant 

amount of held-to-maturity investments not close to their maturity would result in the reclassification of all held-to-maturity 

investments as available for sale.  It would also prevent the Group from classifying investment securities as held-to-maturity 

for the current and the following two financial years.

Held-to-maturity financial assets comprise Singapore Government securities.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.  Such 

assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition, 

loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

Loans and receivables comprise cash and cash equivalents, loans, advances and receivables, and other receivables.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances, bank deposits and statutory deposit with the Monetary Authority of 

Singapore.
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3.	 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(c)	 Financial instruments (continued)

(ii)	 Non-derivative financial assets (continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available for sale or are not 

classified in any of the above categories of financial assets.  Available-for-sale financial assets are recognised initially at fair 

value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at fair value 

and changes therein, other than impairment losses (see Note 3(f)(i)) and foreign currency differences on available-for-sale 

monetary items (see Note 3(b)), are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in the fair value reserve in 

equity.  When an investment is derecognised, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is reclassified to profit or loss.  Equity 

investments without active quoted market prices and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost 

less any impairment losses.

Available-for-sale financial assets comprise equity securities.

(iii)	Non-derivative financial liabilities

The Group initially recognises debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities on the date that they are originated.  All 

other financial liabilities (including liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognised initially on the 

trade date, which is the date that the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only 

when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset 

and settle the liability simultaneously.

Non-derivative financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.  

Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 

method.

Such financial liabilities comprise deposits and balances of customers, borrowings and trade and other payables.  Deposits 

and borrowings are the Group’s sources of debt funding.

(iv)	Share capital

Shares are classified as equity.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of shares are recognised as a deduction 

from equity, net of any tax effects.
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3.	 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(c)	 Financial instruments (continued)

(v)	 Derivative financial instruments, including hedge accounting

The Group holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its interest rate risk exposures.  Embedded derivatives are 

separated from the host contract and accounted for separately if the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract 

and the embedded derivative are not closely related, a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative 

would meet the definition of a derivative, and the combined instrument is not measured at fair value through profit or loss.

On initial designation of the derivative as the hedging instrument, the Group formally documents the relationship between 

the hedging instrument and hedged item, including the risk management objectives and strategy in undertaking the hedge 

transaction and the hedged risk, together with the methods that will be used to assess the effectiveness of the hedging 

relationship.  The Group makes an assessment, both at the inception of the hedge relationship as well as on an ongoing 

basis, of whether the hedging instruments are expected to be “highly effective” in offsetting the changes in the fair value or 

cash flows of the respective hedged items attributable to the hedged risk, and whether the actual results of each hedge are 

within a range of 80%-125%.  For a cash flow hedge of a forecast transaction, the transaction should be highly probable 

to occur and should present an exposure to variations in cash flows that could ultimately affect reported profit or loss.

Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value; attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.  

Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes therein are accounted for as described 

below.

Fair value hedges
Changes in the fair value of a derivative hedging instrument designated as a fair value hedge are recognised in profit or loss.  

The hedged item is also stated at fair value in respect of the risk being hedged; the gain or loss attributable to the hedged 

risk is recognised in profit or loss with an adjustment to the carrying amount of the hedged item.

Cash flow hedges
When a derivative is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of the variability in cash flows attributable to a 

particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction that could affect profit 

or loss, the effective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised in other comprehensive income and 

presented in the hedging reserve in equity.  Any ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised 

immediately in profit or loss.

When the hedged item is a non-financial asset, the amount accumulated in equity is included in the carrying amount of the 

asset when the asset is recognised.  In other cases, the amount accumulated in equity is reclassified to profit or loss in the 

same period that the hedged item affects profit or loss.  If the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge 

accounting, expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or the designation is revoked, then hedge accounting is discontinued 

prospectively.  If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, then the balance in equity is reclassified to profit 

or loss.
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3.	 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(c)	 Financial instruments (continued)

(v)	 Derivative financial instruments, including hedge accounting (continued)

Separable embedded derivatives
Changes in the fair value of separated embedded derivatives are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Other non-trading derivatives
When a derivative financial instrument is not designated in a hedge relationship that qualifies for hedge accounting, all 

changes in its fair value are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

(vi)	Financial guarantees

Financial guarantees are financial instruments issued by the Group that require the issuer to make specified payments to 

reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to meet payment when due in accordance with the 

original or modified terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantees are recognised initially at fair value and are classified as financial liabilities.  Subsequent to initial 

measurement, the financial guarantees are stated at the higher of the initial fair value less cumulative amortisation and 

the amount that would be recognised if they were accounted for as contingent liabilities.  When financial guarantees are 

terminated before their original expiry dates, the carrying amount of the financial guarantee is transferred to profit or loss.

(d)	Property, plant and equipment

(i)	 Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 

losses.  

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.  Purchased software that is integral to 

the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.  Property, plant and equipment acquired 

through finance leases are carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.  

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items 

(major components) of property, plant and equipment.

The carrying amounts of material land and properties are reviewed annually to determine whether they are in excess of their 

recoverable amounts at the reporting date.  If the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount, the asset is written 

down to the lower value.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined by comparing the proceeds from 

disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, and is recognised net within other income/other 

expenses in profit or loss.  
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3.	 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(d)	Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(ii)	 Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the 

item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the component will flow to the Group, and its cost 

can be measured reliably.  The carrying amount of the replaced component is derecognised.  The costs of the day-to-day 

servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

(iii)	Depreciation

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value.  Significant components of individual assets are assessed 

and if a component has a useful life that is different from the remainder of that asset, that component is depreciated 

separately.

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each component of an 

item of property, plant and equipment.  Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful 

lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.  Freehold land is not 

depreciated.  

The estimated useful lives (or lease term where shorter) for the current and comparative years are as follows:-

Properties other than freehold land	 23 to 50 years

Office equipment, fixtures and fittings	 3 to 5 years

Computer equipment	 3 years

Motor vehicles	 5 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted if 

appropriate.

(e)	Leased assets

Leases in terms of which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases.  

Upon initial recognition, the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of 

the minimum lease payments.  Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting 

policy applicable to that asset.  

Other leases are operating leases and are not recognised in the Group’s statement of financial position.  
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3.	 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(f)	 Impairment

(i)	 Non-derivative financial assets

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at the end of each reporting period to determine 

whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired.  A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss 

event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event has a negative effect on the estimated 

future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably.

Objective evidence that financial assets (including equity securities) are impaired can include default or delinquency by a 

debtor, restructuring of an amount due to the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise, indications 

that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy, adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers or issuers in the Group, 

economic conditions that correlate with defaults or the disappearance of an active market for a security.  In addition, for 

an investment in an equity security, a significant or prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost is objective evidence of 

impairment.

Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investment securities
The Group considers evidence of impairment for loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investment securities at both a 

specific asset and collective level.  All individually significant loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investment securities 

are assessed for specific impairment.  All individually significant loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investment 

securities found not to be specifically impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but 

not yet identified.  Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investment securities that are not individually significant are 

collectively assessed for impairment by grouping together loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investment securities 

with similar risk characteristics.

In assessing collective impairment, the Group uses historical trends of the probability of default, the timing of recoveries and 

the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for management’s judgement as to whether current economic and credit conditions 

are such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or less than suggested by historical trends.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its 

carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the asset’s original effective interest 

rate.  Losses are recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account against loans and receivables or held-

to-maturity investment securities.  Interest on the impaired asset continues to be recognised.  When a subsequent event 

(e.g. repayment by a debtor) causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed 

through profit or loss.
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3.	 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(f)	 Impairment (continued)

(i)	 Non-derivative financial assets (continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets
Impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets are recognised by reclassifying the losses accumulated in the 

fair value reserve in equity to profit or loss.  The cumulative loss that is reclassified from equity to profit or loss is the 

difference between the acquisition cost, net of any principal repayment and amortisation, and the current fair value, less 

any impairment loss recognised previously in profit or loss.  Changes in impairment provisions attributable to application 

of the effective interest method are reflected as a component of interest income.  If, in a subsequent period, the fair value 

of an impaired available-for-sale debt security increases and the increase can be related objectively to an event occurring 

after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, then the impairment loss is reversed.  The amount of the reversal 

is recognised in profit or loss.  However, any subsequent recovery in the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale equity 

security is recognised in other comprehensive income.

(ii)	 Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting 

date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable 

amount is estimated.  An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its related cash-generating unit 

(“CGU”) exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell.  In assessing 

value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 

current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU.  For the purpose of 

impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that 

generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or CGU.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has 

decreased or no longer exists.  An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 

the recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed 

the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been 

recognised.
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3.	 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(g)	Employee benefits

(i)	 Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a 

separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts.  Obligations for contributions 

to defined contribution plans are recognised as an employee benefit expense in profit or loss in the periods during which 

services are rendered by employees.

(ii)	 Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service 

is provided.  A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus if the Group has a 

present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee, and the 

obligation can be estimated reliably.

(iii)	Share-based payment transactions

The grant date fair value of share-based payment awards granted to employees is recognised as an employee expense, 

with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the employees unconditionally become entitled to the awards. 

The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which the related service and non-

market vesting conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognised as an expense is based on 

the number of awards that meet the related service and non-market performance conditions at the vesting date.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital when the options are 

exercised.

The fair value of employee share options is measured using a Black-Scholes model.  Measurement inputs include share 

price on measurement date, exercise price, expected volatility (based on weighted average historic volatility adjusted for 

changes expected due to publicly available information), weighted average expected life of the options (based on historical 

experience and general option holder behaviour), expected dividends, and the risk-free interest rate (based on government 

bonds).

(h)	Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be 

estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.
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3.	 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(i)	 Recognition of income and expense

(i)	 Interest

Interest income and expense are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method.  The effective interest rate 

is the rate that discounts the estimated future cash payments and receipts through the expected life of the financial asset 

or liability (or, where appropriate, a shorter period) to the carrying amount of the financial asset or liability.  The effective 

interest rate is established on initial recognition of the financial asset and liability and is not revised subsequently unless 

contractually adjusted.

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes fees, transaction costs, and discounts or premiums that are an integral 

part of the effective interest rate.  Transaction costs include incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, 

issue or disposal of a financial asset or liability.

Interest income and expense presented in the statement of comprehensive income include interest on financial assets 

and liabilities at amortised cost on an effective interest rate basis and gains and losses on hedging instruments that are 

recognised in profit or loss.

Where charges are added to the principal financed at the commencement of the period, the general principle adopted 

for crediting income to profit or loss is to spread the income over the period in which the repayments are due using the 

following bases for the various categories of financing business:-

Income earned on hire purchase and leasing
Term charges on hire purchase and leasing transactions are accounted for using the Rule of 78 (sum of digits) method.  The 

balance of such term charges at the financial year end is carried forward as unearned charges.

Income earned on loans
Interest is charged on either an annual rest, monthly rest or daily basis and credited to profit or loss in the period to which 

it relates.

Income earned on trade finance and factoring accounts
Interest is charged principally on a monthly rest basis.

Income from debt securities
Interest income from debt securities with a fixed maturity is recognised as it accrues. 

Income from bank deposits
Interest income from bank deposits is accrued on a time-apportioned basis.

Expense on deposits and balances of customers and interest-bearing borrowings
Interest expense is accrued on a time-apportioned basis.
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3.	 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(i)	 Recognition of income and expense (continued)

(ii)	 Fee and commission

Fee and commission income and expense that are integral to the effective interest rate on a financial asset or liability are 

included in the measurement of the effective interest rate.  Other fee and commission income are recognised as the related 

services are performed.

Other fee and commission expense relates mainly to transaction and service fees, which are expensed as the services are 

received.

(iii)	Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the date that the Group’s right to receive payment is established, which 

in the case of quoted securities is normally the ex-dividend date.

(iv)	Offsetting

Gains and losses arising from a group of similar transactions are presented on a net basis.

(j)	 Government grant – Jobs Credit Scheme

Cash grants received from the government in relation to the Jobs Credit Scheme are recognised as an offset against staff costs.

(k)	Lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.  Lease 

incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease.

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the reduction of the 

outstanding liability.  The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic 

rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

Contingent lease payments are accounted for by revising the minimum lease payments over the remaining term of the lease 

when the lease adjustment is confirmed.

Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease
At inception of an arrangement, the Group determines whether such an arrangement is or contains a lease.  A specific asset 

is the subject of a lease if fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of that specified asset.  An arrangement 

conveys the right to use the asset if the arrangement conveys to the Group the right to control the use of the underlying asset.
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3.	 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(k)	Lease payments (continued)

Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease (continued)
At inception or upon reassessment of the arrangement, the Group separates payments and other consideration required by 

such an arrangement into those for the lease and those for other elements on the basis of their relative fair values.  If the 

Group concludes for a finance lease that it is impracticable to separate the payments reliably, then an asset and a liability are 

recognised at an amount equal to the fair value of the underlying asset.  Subsequently, the liability is reduced as payments are 

made and an imputed finance charge on the liability is recognised using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

(l)	 Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.  Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss except to 

the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or 

substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial 

reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.  Deferred tax is not recognised for:-

•	 temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and 

that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss;

•	 temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that it is probable 

that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and

•	 taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on 

the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and 

they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they 

intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the extent that it 

is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised.  Deferred tax assets are reviewed 

at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

In the ordinary course of business, there are certain transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax treatment is 

uncertain.  Therefore, the Group recognises tax liabilities based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.  The 

Group believes that its accruals for tax liabilities are adequate for all open tax years based on its assessment of many factors 

including interpretations of tax law and prior experience.  This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve 

a series of multifaceted judgements about future events.  New information may become available that causes the Group to 

change its judgement regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilities, such changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in 

the period that such a determination is made.
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3.	 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(m)	Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share data for its shares.  Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing 

the profit or loss after tax attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted average number of shares outstanding 

during the year.  Diluted earnings per share is determined by adjusting the profit or loss after tax attributable to owners and 

the weighted average number of shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential shares, which comprise shares under 

option granted to employees.

(n)	Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and 

incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other components.  The 

Group operates in only one segment.  Its activities relate to financing business augmented by secondary non-lending activities 

such as provision of corporate advisory services and provision of nominee services.  All activities are carried out in the Republic 

of Singapore.  Revenue in respect of these activities is presented in Notes 17 and 18.

(o)	New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning after 

1 January 2011, and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements.  None of these are expected to have a 

significant effect on the financial statements of the Group.

4.	 Capital and Reserves

Share capital

Company

2011 2010

Note Number
of shares

Number

of shares

Fully paid shares, with no par value:-

At 1 January 440,369,293 440,179,793

Issue of shares under share option scheme 5 104,500 189,500

At 31 December 440,473,793 440,369,293
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4.	 Capital and Reserves (continued)

Share capital (continued)

In 2011, pursuant to the Hong Leong Finance Share Option Scheme 2001 (“Share Option Scheme”), the Company issued new 

shares fully paid in cash as follows:-

Company

2011 2010

	 Exercise price Number
of shares

Number

of shares

	 $2.85 15,000 -

	 $3.62 - 6,000

	 $3.06 2,000 16,500

	 $2.74 87,500 167,000

104,500 189,500

The holders of shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at 

meetings of the Company.  All shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

Reserves

Group and Company

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Statutory reserve 549,200 524,256

Capital reserve 2,307 2,307

Share option reserve 8,074 6,481

559,581 533,044

The statutory reserve is maintained in compliance with the provisions of Section 18 of the Finance Companies Act, Chapter 108.

The capital reserve comprises premium on issue of bonds with warrants and surplus on liquidation of subsidiaries.

The share option reserve comprises the cumulative value of employee services received for the issue of share options.

Details of movements in reserves are shown in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and statement of changes in equity.
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4.	 Capital and Reserves (continued)

Reserves (continued)

Dividends
After the balance sheet date, the Directors proposed a final dividend of 8 cents per share, tax exempt one-tier, amounting to 

$35,238,000 (2010: 8 cents per share, tax exempt one-tier, amounting to $35,238,000) when estimated based on the number of 

shares in issue as at the balance sheet date.  The dividend has not been recognised in the financial statements.  The proposed final 

dividend is in addition to an interim dividend of 4 cents per share, tax exempt one-tier, (2010: 4 cents per share, tax exempt one-

tier) amounting to $17,619,000 (2010: $17,608,000) paid on 15 September 2011 (2010: 15 September 2010).

5.	 Employee Share Options

The Share Option Scheme was approved and adopted by members at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 31 January 2001 

for an initial duration of 10 years (from 31 January 2001 to 30 January 2011).  At the Annual General Meeting of the Company 

held on 23 April 2010, the shareholders approved the extension of the duration of the Share Option Scheme for a further period 

of 10 years from 31 January 2011 to 30 January 2021.  Other than the extension of the duration of the Share Option Scheme, all 

other rules of the Share Option Scheme remain unchanged.  The Share Option Scheme is administered by the Company’s Share 

Option Scheme Committee which comprised the following directors as at 31 December 2011:-

Po’ad bin Shaik Abu Bakar Mattar (Chairman)

Kwek Leng Peck

Woo Tchi Chu

Cheng Shao Shiong @ Bertie Cheng

Information regarding the Share Option Scheme is as follows:-

(a)	 The subscription price for each share under option is fixed by the Share Option Scheme Committee and to date has been at a 

price equal to the average of the last dealt prices for one share in the capital of the Company, as determined by reference to 

the daily official list made available by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited, for the 3 consecutive trading days 

immediately preceding the date of grant, subject to the rules of the Share Option Scheme.

(b)	 Each option is exercisable, in whole or in part, during the option period applicable to that option subject to any conditions, 

including a vesting schedule, that may be imposed by the Share Option Scheme Committee in relation to any shares comprised 

in that option.

(c)	 All options are settled by delivery of shares.

(d)	 The options granted to Group Employees and Parent Group Employees expire 10 years from the date of grant.  The options 

granted to Non-Group Employees expire 5 years from the date of grant.
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5.	 Employee Share Options (continued)

Movements in the number of share options and their related weighted average exercise prices are as follows:-

Weighted
average
exercise

price
Number of

options

Weighted

average

exercise

price

Number of

options

2011 2011 2010 2010

$ (’000) $ (’000)

At 1 January 3.14 18,374 3.15 15,154

Granted 2.28 3,449 3.10 3,636

Not accepted 2.28 (42) 3.10 (55)

Lapsed 3.19 (565) 3.10 (172)

Exercised 2.76 (104) 2.80 (189)

At 31 December 3.00 21,112 3.14 18,374

Exercisable at 31 December 3.15 16,421 3.18 13,528

Options exercised in 2011 resulted in 104,500 (2010: 189,500) shares being issued at a weighted average price of $2.76 (2010: 

$2.80) each.  The weighted average share price during the year was $2.65 (2010: $3.03) per share.

The fair value of services received in return for share options granted is measured based on the grant-date fair value of share 

options.  The grant-date fair value of the share options is measured using a Black-Scholes model.  The expected life used in the 

model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and 

behavioural considerations.  Expected volatility is estimated by considering historic average share price volatility.

There are no market and non-market performance conditions associated with the share option grants.  Service conditions are not 

taken into account in the measurement of fair value of the services to be received at the grant date.
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5.	 Employee Share Options (continued)

The inputs used in the measurement of the fair values at grant date of the share options are as follows:-

Fair value of share options and assumptions

Date of grant
of options 5.12.2002 16.9.2003 28.9.2004 28.9.2005 28.9.2006 19.9.2007 30.9.2008 29.9.2009 28.9.2010 29.9.2011

Fair value at 

grant date $0.17 $0.31 $0.13 $0.31 $0.23 $0.39 $0.26 $0.53 $0.49 $0.28

Share price $1.79 $2.66 $2.84 $3.78 $3.24 $3.68 $2.95 $2.76 $3.09 $2.29

Exercise price $1.85 $2.63 $2.85 $3.82 $3.22 $3.62 $3.06 $2.74 $3.10 $2.28

Expected volatility 22.6% 22.0% 15.5% 18.4% 16.4% 21.3% 21.3% 28.3% 28.1% 27.2%

Expected  

option life

2.2 to 

10 years

2.2 to 

10 years

2.4 to 

10 years

2.4 to 

10 years

2.7 to 

10 years

2.9 to 

10 years

3.4 to 

10 years

4.2 to 

10 years

4.4 to 

10 years

4.9 to 

10 years

Expected  

dividend yield 4.9% 4.1% 6.3% 4.8% 5.6% 4.9% 5.1% 2.9% 3.9% 5.2%

Risk-free interest 

rate (based on 

government 

bonds)

1.2 to 

3.0%

1.2 to 

3.7%

1.6 to 

3.2%

2.4 to 

2.9%

3.0 to 

3.2%

2.2 to 

2.7%

1.5 to 

3.2%

1.2 to 

2.5%

0.8 to 

2.0%

0.5 to 

1.7%

Employee expenses:-

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

	 Share options granted in

		  2007 - 43

		  2008 31 84

		  2009 164 1,143

		  2010 1,179 398

		  2011 219 -

	 Total expense recognised as employee costs 1,593 1,668
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5.	 Employee Share Options (continued)

Details of the options granted under the Share Option Scheme on unissued shares of the Company at the end of the year are as 

follows:-

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5)

Date of grant of options 5.12.2002 16.9.2003 28.9.2004 28.9.2005 28.9.2006

Expiry date 4.12.2012 15.9.2013 27.9.2014 27.9.2015 27.9.2016

Exercise price $1.85 $2.63 $2.85 $3.82 $3.22

Number of options outstanding at 1.1.2011 633,000 590,500 671,500 2,066,320 1,460,485

Options lapsed - - - 43,790 37,350

Options exercised (1.1.2011 to 31.12.2011) - - 15,000 - -

Number of options outstanding at 31.12.2011 633,000 590,500 656,500 2,022,530 1,423,135

Number of options exercisable at 1.1.2011 633,000 590,500 671,500 2,066,320 1,460,485

Number of options exercisable at 31.12.2011 633,000 590,500 656,500 2,022,530 1,423,135

Option exercise period of options outstanding at 

31.12.2011

5.12.2003 to 4.12.2012	 vested on 5.12.2003 231,000

	 vested on 5.12.2004 198,000

	 vested on 5.12.2005 204,000

16.9.2004 to 15.9.2013	 vested on 16.9.2004 244,780

	 vested on 16.9.2005 170,280

	 vested on 16.9.2006 175,440

28.9.2005 to 27.9.2014	 vested on 28.9.2005 339,280

	 vested on 28.9.2006 153,780

	 vested on 28.9.2007 163,440

28.9.2006 to 27.9.2015	 vested on 28.9.2006 1,334,440

	 vested on 28.9.2007 338,910

	 vested on 28.9.2008 349,180

28.9.2007 to 27.9.2016	 vested on 28.9.2007 853,300

	 vested on 28.9.2008 280,665

	 vested on 28.9.2009 289,170
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5.	 Employee Share Options (continued)

(6) (7) (8) (9) (10)

Date of grant of options 19.9.2007 30.9.2008 29.9.2009 28.9.2010 29.9.2011

Expiry date 18.9.2017 29.9.2018 28.9.2019 27.9.2020 28.9.2021

Exercise price $3.62 $3.06 $2.74 $3.10 $2.28

Number of options outstanding at 1.1.2011 3,002,500 3,318,500 3,057,500 3,574,200 -

Options granted - - - - 3,449,000

Options not accepted - - - - 42,200

Options lapsed 124,500 136,020 110,105 105,000 7,800

Options exercised (1.1.2011 to 31.12.2011) - 2,000 87,500 - -

Number of options outstanding at 31.12.2011 2,878,000 3,180,480 2,859,895 3,469,200 3,399,000

Number of options exercisable at 1.1.2011 3,002,500 2,880,240 2,223,015 - -

Number of options exercisable at 31.12.2011 2,878,000 3,180,480 2,436,425 2,600,411 -

Option exercise period of options outstanding at 

31.12.2011

19.9.2008 to 18.9.2017	 vested on 19.9.2008 2,128,605

	 vested on 19.9.2009 369,105

	 vested on 19.9.2010 380,290

30.9.2009 to 29.9.2018	 vested on 30.9.2009 2,340,610

	 vested on 30.9.2010 401,610

	 vested on 30.9.2011 438,260

29.9.2010 to 28.9.2019	 vested on 29.9.2010 2,025,410

	 vested on 29.9.2011 411,015

	 vesting on 29.9.2012 423,470

28.9.2011 to 27.9.2020	 vested on 28.9.2011 2,600,411

	 vesting on 28.9.2012 427,911

	 vesting on 28.9.2013 440,878

29.9.2012 to 28.9.2021	 vesting on 29.9.2012 2,627,830

	 vesting on 29.9.2013 379,830

	 vesting on 29.9.2014 391,340
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6.	 Deposits and Balances of Customers

Group Company

2011 2010 2011 2010

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Fixed deposits 7,345,774 6,808,606 7,349,619 6,812,419

Savings deposits and other balances of customers 407,667 359,989 407,667 359,989

Current accounts and other deposits 7,234 8,111 7,234 8,111

Total deposits and balances of customers 7,760,675 7,176,706 7,764,520 7,180,519

7.	 Trade and Other Payables 

Group Company

2011 2010 2011 2010

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Due after 12 months

Amount due to SPRING Singapore 4,322 19,257 4,322 19,257

Due within 12 months

Amount due to SPRING Singapore 14,989 23,871 14,989 23,871

Interest payable 36,544 41,492 36,559 41,505

Other trade payables and accrued operating expenses 51,868 48,028 50,671 46,829

Other payables 1,434 1,288 1,361 1,215

104,835 114,679 103,580 113,420

Total trade and other payables 109,157 133,936 107,902 132,677

Amount due to SPRING Singapore represents unsecured advances from Standards, Productivity and Innovation Board under the 

Local Enterprise Finance Scheme (“LEFS”) and Extended Local Enterprise Finance Scheme (“ELEFS”) to finance LEFS and ELEFS 

borrowers.  The interest rates and repayment periods vary in accordance with the type, purpose and security of the facilities granted 

under these schemes.  Credit risks are shared with SPRING Singapore.

Included in other trade payables and accrued operating expenses is a provision for settlements and costs relating to distribution of 

wealth management products.

During the financial year, provision for settlements and costs amounting to $0.5 million was reclassified to collective allowances.  

In 2010, provision for settlements and costs amounting to $13 million was reversed following the first and final distribution to 

the Company from the trustee of a series of structured notes, in respect of notes obtained by the Company upon settlement with 

customers who had earlier purchased such notes through the Company.
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8.	 Deferred Tax

Movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are as follows:-

Group and Company

At

1 January

2010

$’000

Recognised

in profit

or loss

(Note 22)

$’000

At

31 December

2010

$’000

Recognised
in profit

or loss
(Note 22)

$’000

At
31 December

2011
$’000

Deferred tax assets 

Trade and other payables (3,414) 529 (2,885) 549 (2,336)

Loans, advances and receivables (13,533) 752 (12,781) (38) (12,819)

(16,947) 1,281 (15,666) 511 (15,155)

Deferred tax liabilities 

Property, plant and equipment 184 50 234 257 491

Other items 170 - 170 (170) -

354 50 404 87 491

Net deferred tax assets (16,593) 1,331 (15,262) 598 (14,664)

Deferred tax assets relate primarily to timing differences in respect of provisions and collective allowances for doubtful debts 

expected to be realisable at a future date.  Deferred tax liabilities relate primarily to differences arising between capital allowances 

granted and accumulated depreciation in respect of capital expenditure and other timing issues.

9.	 Cash and Cash Equivalents

Group

2011 2010

(restated)

$’000 $’000

Cash at banks and in hand 901,111 1,474,582

Statutory deposit with the Monetary Authority of Singapore 202,356 171,319

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of cash flows 1,103,467 1,645,901
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10.	Singapore Government Securities

Group and Company

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Singapore Government securities, held to maturity at amortised cost 

- Within 12 months 253,324 158,499

- After 12 months 635,877 767,087

889,201 925,586

Market value 912,515 955,826

	
11.	Loans, Advances and Receivables

Group and Company

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

(a) Loans, advances and receivables at amortised cost

Due after 12 months

Loans, advances and hire purchase receivables 5,690,150 4,346,222

Less:	Unearned charges and interest 72,074 81,305

5,618,076 4,264,917

Less:	Allowances for doubtful debts

	 -  Loans and advances 48,857 38,854

	 -  Hire purchase receivables 18,701 25,042

67,558 63,896

5,550,518 4,201,021

Due within 12 months

Loans, advances, factoring receivables and hire purchase receivables 1,967,696 2,156,703

Less:	Unearned charges and interest 43,139 48,835

1,924,557 2,107,868

Less:	Allowances for doubtful debts

	 -  Loans, advances and factoring receivables 16,525 20,704

	 -  Hire purchase receivables 6,734 9,590

23,259 30,294

1,901,298 2,077,574

Total loans, advances and receivables 7,451,816 6,278,595
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11.	Loans, Advances and Receivables (continued)

(b)	 Allowances for doubtful debts

Group and Company

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Specific allowances

	 At 1 January 19,289 28,538

	 Net allowances reversed during the year (1,838) (4,590)

	 Receivables written off against allowances (2,035) (4,659)

	 At 31 December 15,416 19,289

Collective allowances

	 At 1 January 74,901 74,901

	 Reclassified from provision for settlements and costs 500 -

	 At  31 December 75,401 74,901

Total allowances for doubtful debts 90,817 94,190

(c)	 Hire purchase receivables are categorised as follows:-

Group and Company

 2011  2010 

Receivables
$’000

Interest
$’000

Principal
$’000

Receivables

$’000

Interest

$’000

Principal

$’000

Due within 1 year 443,761 41,919 401,842 468,391 47,631 420,760

Due after 1 year but within 5 years 1,016,083 66,300 949,783 1,023,142 75,350 947,792

Due after 5 years 171,805 5,660 166,145 156,736 5,793 150,943

Total 1,631,649 113,879 1,517,770 1,648,269 128,774 1,519,495

The Company’s leasing arrangements comprise hire purchase contracts mainly for motor vehicles and equipment.
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12.	Other Receivables, Deposits and Prepayments

Group Company

2011 2010 2011 2010

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Interest receivables 10,200 11,583 10,200 11,583

Deposits 1,381 1,463 1,381 1,463

Prepayments 964 1,036 963 1,035

Other receivables 13,040 4,419 13,040 4,419

Total 25,585 18,501 25,584 18,500

13.	Subsidiaries

	 Company

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Unquoted equity investments, at cost 535 535

Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:-

Effective equity

held by the Group

Name of Subsidiary

Country of

incorporation

2011
%

2010

%

Hong Leong Finance Nominees Pte Ltd Singapore 100 100

Singapore Nominees Private Limited Singapore 100 100

KPMG LLP Singapore is the auditor of the subsidiaries.

94 Hong Leong Finance



Notes to the Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2011

14.	Investments (long term)

Group and Company

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Available for sale unquoted equity securities, at cost 558 558

Less:

Impairment losses:-

At 1 January 12 514

Impairment losses reversed upon redemption during the year - (502)

At 31 December 12 12

Net investments 546 546

In 2010, an investment amounting to $5,198,000 net of impairment loss in The Enterprise Fund Ltd, whose fund sponsors were IE 

Singapore Holdings Pte Ltd and the Company and which was targeted at making equity investments to support small and medium 

enterprises, was redeemed at $5,529,000.
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15.	Property, Plant and Equipment

Group and Company

Freehold

land

Freehold

buildings

Leasehold

buildings

Office

equipment,

fixtures and

fittings

Computer

equipment

Motor

vehicles Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cost

At 1 January 2010 50 2,938 18,367 8,940 8,831 966 40,092

Additions - - - 594 167 172 933

Disposals - - - (795) (272) (220) (1,287)

At 31 December 2010 50 2,938 18,367 8,739 8,726 918 39,738

Additions - - - 3,978 541 - 4,519

Disposals - - - (174) (175) - (349)

At 31 December 2011 50 2,938 18,367 12,543 9,092 918 43,908

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses

At 1 January 2010 - 1,121 5,039 7,480 8,735 469 22,844

Depreciation charge for the year - 60 439 541 99 190 1,329

Disposals - - - (786) (271) (195) (1,252)

At 31 December 2010 - 1,181 5,478 7,235 8,563 464 22,921

Depreciation charge for the year - 60 440 865 221 183 1,769

Disposals - - - (173) (175) - (348)

At 31 December 2011 - 1,241 5,918 7,927 8,609 647 24,342

Carrying amount

At 1 January 2010 50 1,817 13,328 1,460 96 497 17,248

At 31 December 2010 50 1,757 12,889 1,504 163 454 16,817

At 31 December 2011 50 1,697 12,449 4,616 483 271 19,566

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment of the Group and the Company includes amounts totalling $12,449,000 

(2010: $12,889,000) in respect of leasehold buildings held under finance leases.
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15.	Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

Properties held at 31 December are as follows:-

Group and Company

2011
$’000

2010

$’000

Freehold Land and Buildings

(1)	 Property with carrying amount exceeding $1,000,000 comprises a shop unit at 288 

Balestier Road #01-02, Singapore, comprising 1,281 sq. ft. on freehold land held as 

branch premises. 1,108 1,135

(2)	 Property with carrying amount more than $500,000 to $1,000,000 comprises 1 shop 

unit held as branch premises. 560 591

(3)	 Property with carrying amount up to $500,000 comprises 1 shop unit held as branch 

premises. 79 81

Total 1,747 1,807

Leasehold Buildings

(1)	 Properties with carrying amounts exceeding $1,000,000 each are as follows:-

(a)	 A shop unit at Block 203 Bedok North Street 1 #01-451, Singapore, with a floor 

area of approximately 4,026 sq. ft. on a 84-year lease commencing July 1992 held 

as branch premises. 1,574 1,626

(b)	 A shop unit at Block 725 Clementi West Street 2 #01-216, Singapore, with a floor 

area of approximately 3,832 sq. ft. on a 85-year lease commencing November 1995 

held as branch premises. 1,914 1,972

(c)	 A shop unit at Block 504 Jurong West Street 51 #01-211, Singapore, comprising 

1,539 sq. ft. on a 91-year lease commencing January 1994 held as branch premises. 1,088 1,120

(d)	 A shop unit at Block 520 Lorong 6 Toa Payoh #02-54, Singapore, comprising 1,195 

sq. ft. on a 99-year lease commencing May 2002 held as branch premises. 1,672 1,714

(2)	 Properties with carrying amounts more than $500,000 to $1,000,000 each comprise 4 

shop units held as branch premises. 3,161 3,254

(3)	 Properties with carrying amounts up to $500,000 each comprise 5 shop units held as 

branch premises and 4 industrial units used as warehousing facilities. 3,040 3,203

Total 12,449 12,889
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16.	Acceptances, Guarantees and Other Obligations on behalf of Customers

These are commitments entered into by the Group and the Company on behalf of customers for which customers have corresponding 

obligations under their contracts with the Group and the Company, and are in respect of the following:-

Group and Company

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Letters of credit 6,353 546

Guarantees 12,280 16,551

Total 18,633 17,097

These contingent liabilities are not secured on any of the Group’s assets.

17.	Net Interest Income/Hiring Charges

Group

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Interest income/hiring charges

Loans, advances and receivables 200,810 228,866

Deposits placed 4,097 5,638

Singapore Government securities and other liquid assets 20,176 24,346

Total interest income/hiring charges 225,083 258,850

Interest expense

Deposits and balances of customers 60,028 65,131

Others 971 1,398

Total interest expense 60,999 66,529

Net interest income/hiring charges 164,084 192,321

There are no interest income/hiring charges and interest expense reported above that relate to financial assets or liabilities that are 

carried at fair value through profit or loss or classified as available-for-sale.
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18.	Fee and Commission Income

Group

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Fee and commission income arising from:-

Loans and advances 7,745 6,691

Non-lending activities 737 386

Others 95 90

Total 8,577 7,167

There is no fee and commission income relating to financial assets or liabilities carried at fair value through profit or loss or classified 

as available-for-sale.

19.	Other Operating Income

Group

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Gain on disposal of plant and equipment 4 81

Other operating income 334 493

Total 338 574

20.	Staff Costs

Group

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Short-term employee benefits 51,305 50,391

CPF contributions to defined contribution plans 5,159 4,934

Share-based payments 1,593 1,668

Total 58,057 56,993
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21.	Other Operating Expenses

Group

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Audit fees to auditors 346 346

Non-audit fees to auditors

	 -  provision in respect of current year 84 64

	 -  underprovision in respect of prior years 74 15

Operating lease expenses 5,185 5,096

IT-related expenses 1,734 2,079

Other expenses 12,822 11,722

Total 20,245 19,322

Included in other expenses are fee and commission expenses arising from loans and advances amounting to $1,753,000 (2010: 

$1,804,000).

22.	Income Tax Expense

Group

2011 2010

Note $’000 $’000

Current tax expense

Current year 19,307 23,029

Deferred tax expense

Origination and reversal of temporary differences 8 598 1,331

Total income tax expense 19,905 24,360
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22.	Income Tax Expense (continued)

Reconciliation of tax expense

Group

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Profit after tax for the year 99,773 121,961

Income tax expense 19,905 24,360

Profit before income tax 119,678 146,321

Tax calculated using Singapore tax rate of 17% (2010: 17%) 20,345 24,874

Tax effect on:-

	 Exempt income not taxable for tax purposes (37) (35)

	 Tax incentives (357) (72)

	 Bad debts recovered not subject to tax (2) (2)

	 Income taxed at concessionary tax rate (583) (831)

	 Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 523 420

Others 16 6

Income tax expense 19,905 24,360

23.	Earnings Per Share

(a)	 Basic earnings per share

Group

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Basic earnings per share is based on:-

Profit after tax for the year attributable to owners of the Company 99,773 121,961
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23.	Earnings Per Share (continued)

(a)	 Basic earnings per share (continued)

Group

2011 2010

Number
of shares

Number

of shares

(’000) (’000)

Issued shares at 1 January 440,369 440,180

Effect of share options exercised 79 58

Weighted average number of shares during the year 440,448 440,238

(b)	 Diluted earnings per share

Group

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Diluted earnings per share is based on:-

Profit after tax for the year attributable to owners of the Company 99,773 121,961

For the purpose of calculating the diluted earnings per share, the weighted average number of shares in issue is adjusted to 

take into account the dilutive effect arising from the dilutive share options, with the potential shares weighted for the period 

outstanding.

The effect of the exercise of share options on the weighted average number of shares in issue is as follows:-

Group

2011 2010

Number
of shares

Number

of shares

(’000) (’000)

Weighted average number of:-

shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share 440,448 440,238

potential shares issuable under share options 395 601

Weighted average number of issued and potential shares assuming full conversion 440,843 440,839
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23.	Earnings Per Share (continued)

(b)	 Diluted earnings per share (continued)

Outstanding share options that were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because the share options 

were anti-dilutive amounted to 16,489,740 at $2.74 to $3.82 as at 31 December 2011 (2010: 13,845,475 at $3.06 to $3.82).

The average market value of the shares for the purposes of calculating the dilutive effect of share options was based on quoted 

market prices for the period that the options were outstanding.

24.	Financial Risk Management

(a)	 Overview

Risk is an inherent part of the Group’s business activities.  Managing risks is therefore integral to the Group’s business strategy 

and continuing profitability.  Where risk is assumed, it is within a calculated and controlled framework.  As the business activities 

involve the use of financial instruments, the Group has exposure to the following risks:-

(i)	 credit risk

(ii)	 liquidity risk

(iii)	 interest rate risk

(iv)	operational risk.

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and 

processes for measuring and managing these risks, and the Group’s management of capital.

Risk management framework
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for determining the type and level of business risks that the Group undertakes 

to achieve its corporate objectives.  To assist the Board in fulfilling its duties, the Risk Management Committee, a dedicated 

risk committee at board level oversees and reports to the Board on matters relating to the risk function of the Group.  A risk 

management team is accountable to the Risk Management Committee for maintaining an effective control environment that 

reflects established risks appetite and business objectives.  The risk management team is independent of the business units, and 

performs the role of reviewing and implementing risk management policies and procedures.

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk 

limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits by means of reliable information systems.  Risk management 

policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions, products and services offered, and emerging 

best practices.  The Group, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and 

constructive control environment, in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

The Audit Committee reviews the effectiveness of the financial reporting process and material internal controls as well as risk 

management policies and systems with the assistance of internal audit.
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24.	Financial Risk Management (continued)

(b)	 Credit risk

Credit risk is the potential financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet 

its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s loans and advances to customers.  Other than loans and 

advances, the Group’s investment in debt securities comprises Singapore Government securities, which are held to meet 

liquidity and statutory reserve requirements.  For risk management reporting purposes, the Group considers and consolidates 

all elements of credit risk exposure.  Credit risk concentration is addressed by setting appropriate credit portfolio limits and 

monitoring its exposures against the limits on a regular basis.

Management of credit risk
Credit risk is managed to achieve sustainable and superior risk-reward performance whilst maintaining exposures within 

acceptable risk appetite parameters.  Credit risk analysis focuses on ensuring that credit risks are identified in order that a 

balanced assessment can be made accordingly.

The Board of Directors has delegated responsibility for the management of credit risk oversight to its Risk Management 

Committee whilst reserving for itself and various committees approval authority for exposures exceeding pre-set limits.  A 

separate Risk Management and Credit Control department is responsible for management of the Group’s credit risk, including:-

(i)	 Formulating credit policies in consultation with business units, covering collateral requirements, credit assessment, risk 

grading and reporting, documentary and legal procedures, and compliance with regulatory and statutory requirements.

(ii)	 Monitoring the Group’s loans portfolio and concentration risk exposures.

(iii)	Reviewing and assessing credit risk.

(iv)	Maintaining the Group’s risk gradings.

(v)	 Providing advice, guidance and specialist skills to business units to promote best practice throughout the Group in the 

management of credit risk.

Credit stress testing is performed and forms an integral part of the credit portfolio analysis.  It allows the Group to assess the 

potential financial impact of losses arising from unlikely but plausible adverse events.

Exposure to credit risk
The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of the financial assets in the statements of financial 

position, reduced by the value of the collateral held.
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24.	Financial Risk Management (continued)

(b)	 Credit risk (continued)

Loans and advances to customers can be analysed as follows:-

Group and Company

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Performing accounts that are

-	 neither past due nor impaired 7,136,266 6,010,129

-	 past due but not impaired 338,579 265,220

Gross amount 7,474,845 6,275,349

Collective allowances (75,401) (74,901)

Carrying amount 7,399,444 6,200,448

Individually impaired

-	 Substandard (payment not kept current for 90 days but fully secured) 52,372 78,347

-	 Loss (fully provided for) 15,416 19,089

Gross amount 67,788 97,436

Specific allowances (15,416) (19,289)

Carrying amount 52,372 78,147

Total carrying amount 7,451,816 6,278,595

There are no loans and advances graded as doubtful as at 31 December 2011 and 2010.

Impaired: when the Group determines that it is probable that it will be unable to collect all principal and interest due according 

to the contractual terms of the transaction.

Past due but not impaired: when contractual interest or principal payments are past due by not more than three months 

and the Group believes that specific impairment is not appropriate on the basis of the security available and/or the stage of 

collection.  Collective allowances have been set aside on a portfolio basis.

Allowances for doubtful debts: represents the Group’s estimate of incurred losses in its loan portfolio, and comprises principally 

a specific loss component relating to individually significant exposures and a collective loss component established for groups 

of homogeneous assets not subject to individual assessment for impairment.

Write-off policy: The Group writes off wholly or partially loan balances (together with any related allowances for doubtful 

debts) when the Group determines that they are uncollectible.  This determination is reached after considering information 

such as the occurrence of a deterioration in the borrower’s financial position such that the borrower can no longer pay the 

obligation, or that proceeds from collateral will not be sufficient to repay the entire exposure.
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24.	Financial Risk Management (continued)

(b)	 Credit risk (continued)

Set out below is an analysis of the gross and net (of allowances for doubtful debts) amounts of individually impaired loans and 

advances to customers by risk grade.

Gross amount

Amount net of
individual

allowances

$’000 $’000

31 December 2011

Substandard 52,372 52,372

Loss 15,416 -

Total 67,788 52,372

31 December 2010

Substandard 78,347 78,347

Loss 19,089 (200)

Total 97,436 78,147

The Group normally holds collateral against loans and advances to customers.  These are in the form of mortgage interests 

over property and ownership or other registered interests over assets.  Estimates of fair value of collateral are assessed in each 

accounting period prior to determination of individual allowances.

An estimate of the financial effect of collateral and other security enhancements held against loans and advances to customers 

on maximum credit risk exposure amounted to $7,364,955,000 (2010: $6,168,009,000).  The Group’s claim against such 

collateral has been limited to the obligations of the respective obligors.

The nature and carrying amount of collateral held against financial assets, obtained by taking possession of the collateral held 

as security, which remain held at the reporting date are as follows.  Claims against such collateral are limited to the outstanding 

obligations.

Group and Company

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Motor vehicles 261 202
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24.	Financial Risk Management (continued)

(b)	 Credit risk (continued)

The Group monitors concentrations of credit risk by sector.  An analysis of concentrations of credit risk at the reporting date is 

shown below:-

Loans and advances
to customers

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Gross carrying amount 7,542,633 6,372,785

  

Concentration by sector

Hire purchase/block discounting 1,517,770 1,519,495

Housing loans secured by property under finance 1,400,690 1,338,715

Other loans and advances:-

Manufacturing 23,674 19,313

Building and construction 2,751,128 1,850,677

General commerce 53,400 139,914

Transport, storage and communication 17,855 21,775

Investment and holding companies 239,851 106,343

Professional and private individuals 556,760 570,655

Others 981,505 805,898

Total 7,542,633 6,372,785

At balance sheet date, there was no significant concentration of credit risk.

Financial guarantees comprising guarantees issued by the Company to third parties on behalf of customers amounted to 

$12,280,000 as at 31 December 2011 (2010: $16,551,000).  At the reporting date, the Company does not consider it probable 

that claims will be made against the Company under the guarantees.

(c)	 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations and commitments resulting from its 

financial liabilities, or can only access these cash flow needs at excessive cost.

Management of liquidity risk
The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet 

its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage 

to the Group’s reputation.
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24.	Financial Risk Management (continued)

(c)	 Liquidity risk (continued)

The Group is currently funded from equity and deposit liabilities.  Liquidity risk arises from the management of the net funding 

position after accounting for the ongoing cash flows from the loan assets and the deposit liabilities at various points in time.

Liquidity risk is managed in accordance with the Group’s liquidity framework of policies, contingency funding plan, controls and 

limits approved by the Risk Management Committee.  This framework ensures that liquidity risk is monitored and managed in 

a manner that ensures sufficient sources of funds are available over a range of market conditions.  Stress testing is conducted 

under the name specific crisis and general market crisis scenarios.  This is undertaken to assess and plan for the impact of the 

scenarios which may put the Group’s liquidity at risk.

Liquidity risk is also mitigated through the large number of customers in the Company’s diverse loans and deposits bases and 

the close monitoring of exposure to avoid any undue concentration.

Contingency funding plans are in place to address potential liquidity crises using early warning indicators.  Crisis escalation 

procedures and various strategies including funding and communication have been developed to minimise the impact of any 

liquidity crunch.

Exposure to liquidity risk
The Company monitors the liquidity limit, being a ratio of liquid assets (comprising cash balances with the Monetary Authority 

of Singapore and reserve assets principally comprising Singapore Government securities) to net liabilities as at the reporting 

date and during the reporting period.  Details of the ratio of liquid assets to net liabilities at the reporting date and during the 

reporting period were as follows:-

Company

2011 2010

At 31 December 16.83% 20.10%

Average for the period 18.20% 21.71%

Maximum for the period 20.49% 23.32%

Minimum for the period 16.63% 20.00%
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24.	Financial Risk Management (continued)

(c)	 Liquidity risk (continued)

The table below shows the remaining contractual undiscounted cash flows of the Group’s financial liabilities on the basis of 

their earliest possible contractual maturity.  The Group’s expected cash flows on these instruments could vary significantly from 

this analysis.  In particular, the carrying amount of deposits from customers is expected to remain stable; not all undrawn loan 

commitments are available to be drawn down immediately upon finalisation of legal documentation, due to factors like the 

progressive nature of the facility to be based on the stage of completion of work in progress.

Carrying
amount

Gross
nominal
outflow

Up to
1 month

Over
1 month to

3 months

Over
3 months
to 1 year

Over
1 year to

5 years
More than

5 years

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group

31 December 2011

Non-derivative liabilities

Deposits and balances 

of customers 7,760,675 (7,797,145) (2,303,556) (1,271,852) (3,592,286) (629,451) -

Amount due to 

SPRING Singapore 19,311 (19,385) (2,443) (3,090) (9,513) (4,339) -

Other liabilities 53,302 (53,302) (10,882) (4,961) (24,970) (10,038) (2,451)

7,833,288 (7,869,832) (2,316,881) (1,279,903) (3,626,769) (643,828) (2,451)

Financial guarantees - (12,280) (12,280) - - - -

7,833,288 (7,882,112) (2,329,161) (1,279,903) (3,626,769) (643,828) (2,451)

Derivative liabilities

Undrawn loan 

commitments - (3,158,322) (1,522,796) (1,635,526) - - -

7,833,288 (11,040,434) (3,851,957) (2,915,429) (3,626,769) (643,828) (2,451)

31 December 2010

Non-derivative liabilities

Deposits and balances 

of customers 7,176,706 (7,218,064) (2,169,175) (1,140,963) (3,421,689) (486,237) -

Amount due to 

SPRING Singapore 43,128 (43,262) (2,972) (4,167) (16,807) (17,206) (2,110)

Other liabilities 49,316 (49,316) (8,775) (2,839) (27,306) (8,107) (2,289)

7,269,150 (7,310,642) (2,180,922) (1,147,969) (3,465,802) (511,550) (4,399)

Financial guarantees - (16,551) (16,551) - - - -

7,269,150 (7,327,193) (2,197,473) (1,147,969) (3,465,802) (511,550) (4,399)

Derivative liabilities

Undrawn loan 

commitments - (1,998,663) (1,448,112) (550,551) - - -

7,269,150 (9,325,856) (3,645,585) (1,698,520) (3,465,802) (511,550) (4,399)
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24.	Financial Risk Management (continued)

(c)	 Liquidity risk (continued)

Carrying
amount

Gross
nominal
outflow

Up to
1 month

Over
1 month to

3 months

Over
3 months
to 1 year

Over
1 year to

5 years
More than

5 years

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Company

31 December 2011

Non-derivative liabilities

Deposits and balances 

of customers 7,764,520 (7,801,005) (2,304,206) (1,272,066) (3,592,895) (631,838) -

Amount due to 

SPRING Singapore 19,311 (19,385) (2,443) (3,090) (9,513) (4,339) -

Other liabilities 52,032 (52,032) (10,859) (4,957) (24,953) (9,408) (1,855)

7,835,863 (7,872,422) (2,317,508) (1,280,113) (3,627,361) (645,585) (1,855)

Financial guarantees - (12,280) (12,280) - - - -

7,835,863 (7,884,702) (2,329,788) (1,280,113) (3,627,361) (645,585) (1,855)

Derivative liabilities

Undrawn loan 

commitments - (3,158,322) (1,522,796) (1,635,526) - - -

7,835,863 (11,043,024) (3,852,584) (2,915,639) (3,627,361) (645,585) (1,855)

31 December 2010

Non-derivative liabilities

Deposits and balances 

of customers 7,180,519 (7,221,890) (2,169,819) (1,141,177) (3,424,657) (486,237) -

Amount due to 

SPRING Singapore 43,128 (43,262) (2,972) (4,167) (16,807) (17,206) (2,110)

Other liabilities 48,044 (48,044) (8,752) (2,829) (27,289) (7,477) (1,697)

7,271,691 (7,313,196) (2,181,543) (1,148,173) (3,468,753) (510,920) (3,807)

Financial guarantees - (16,551) (16,551) - - - -

7,271,691 (7,329,747) (2,198,094) (1,148,173) (3,468,753) (510,920) (3,807)

Derivative liabilities

Undrawn loan 

commitments - (1,998,663) (1,448,112) (550,551) - - -

7,271,691 (9,328,410) (3,646,206) (1,698,724) (3,468,753) (510,920) (3,807)
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24.	Financial Risk Management (continued)

(d)	 Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of the Group’s financial assets and/or financial liabilities changes because of changes 

in interest rates.  Interest rate risk arises primarily from the fact that financial assets and financial liabilities typically reprice at 

different points in time.

Management of interest rate risk
The overall objective of interest rate risk management is to manage current and future earnings sensitivity arising from various 

interest rate exposures and to secure stable and optimal net interest income over the short term and long term.  Interest rate risk 

exposures are measured using a combination of repricing gap, present value of 1 basis point reports and simulation modeling.  

The Risk Management Committee approves policies, strategies and limits in the management of interest rate risk.

Exposure to interest rate risk
The Company does not hold a trading portfolio.  The principal risk to which its non-trading portfolio is exposed arises from 

the risk of fluctuations in the future cash flows or fair values of financial instruments due to changes in market interest rates.  

Interest rate risk is managed principally through monitoring interest rate gaps and by having pre-approved limits for repricing 

bands.

Besides Singapore Government securities intended to be held to maturity, the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk relates 

primarily to the Group’s loan portfolio, deposit liabilities and any interest-bearing borrowings.  Interest rate risk will arise when 

these assets and liabilities mature or reprice at different times or in differing amounts, or when market conditions dictate the 

extent of repricing possible.  The Group manages this risk through diversity in its loan portfolio and to a lesser extent in its 

deposit portfolio, and maintains a capital adequacy ratio in excess of statutory requirements.  

Repricing analysis
The following table indicates the periods in which the financial instruments reprice or contractually mature, whichever is the 

earlier.

Actual repricing dates may differ from contractual repricing dates due to prepayment of loans or early withdrawal of deposits.
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24.	Financial Risk Management (continued)

(d)	 Interest rate risk (continued)

Group

Note

Carrying
amount

$’000

Up to
1 year
$’000

Over
1 to 5
years
$’000

After
5 years

$’000

Non-
interest
bearing

$’000

31 December 2011

Financial assets

Loans, advances and receivables 11 7,451,816 5,997,989 1,289,683 164,144 -
Singapore Government securities 10 889,201 253,324 598,101 37,776 -
Cash at banks and in hand 9 901,111 889,583 - - 11,528
Statutory deposit with the 

Monetary Authority of Singapore 9 202,356 - - - 202,356
Other assets 24,621 - - - 24,621
Investments (long term) 14 546 - - - 546

Financial liabilities

Deposits and balances of customers 6 7,760,675 6,947,841 626,337 - 186,497
Amount due to SPRING Singapore 19,311 14,989 4,322 - -
Other liabilities 89,846 - - - 89,846

31 December 2010

Financial assets

Loans, advances and receivables 11 6,278,595 4,770,106 1,359,778 148,711 -

Singapore Government securities 10 925,586 158,499 745,085 22,002 -

Cash at banks and in hand 9 1,474,582 1,464,063 - - 10,519

Statutory deposit with the 

Monetary Authority of Singapore 9 171,319 - - - 171,319

Other assets 17,465 - - - 17,465

Investments (long term) 14 546 - - - 546

Financial liabilities

Deposits and balances of customers 6 7,176,706 6,569,085 483,302 - 124,319

Amount due to SPRING Singapore 43,128 23,871 17,153 2,104 -

Other liabilities 90,808 - - - 90,808
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24.	Financial Risk Management (continued)

(d)	 Interest rate risk (continued)

Company

Note

Carrying
amount

$’000

Up to
1 year
$’000

Over
1 to 5
years
$’000

After
5 years

$’000

Non-
interest
bearing

$’000

31 December 2011

Financial assets

Loans, advances and receivables 11 7,451,816 5,997,989 1,289,683 164,144 -
Singapore Government securities 10 889,201 253,324 598,101 37,776 -
Cash at banks and in hand 900,550 889,022 - - 11,528
Statutory deposit with the 

Monetary Authority of Singapore 202,356 - - - 202,356
Other assets 24,621 - - - 24,621
Investments (long term) 14 546 - - - 546

Financial liabilities

Deposits and balances of customers 6 7,764,520 6,949,306 628,717 - 186,497
Amount due to SPRING Singapore 19,311 14,989 4,322 - -
Other liabilities 88,591 - - - 88,591

31 December 2010

Financial assets

Loans, advances and receivables 11 6,278,595 4,770,106 1,359,778 148,711 -

Singapore Government securities 10 925,586 158,499 745,085 22,002 -

Cash at banks and in hand 1,474,100 1,463,581 - - 10,519

Statutory deposit with the 

Monetary Authority of Singapore 171,319 - - - 171,319

Other assets 17,465 - - - 17,465

Investments (long term) 14 546 - - - 546

Financial liabilities

Deposits and balances of customers 6 7,180,519 6,572,898 483,302 - 124,319

Amount due to SPRING Singapore 43,128 23,871 17,153 2,104 -

Other liabilities 89,549 - - - 89,549
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24.	Financial Risk Management (continued)

(d)	 Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis
Interest rate sensitivity analyses are performed under various interest rate scenarios using simulation modeling where the 

sensitivity of projected net interest income is measured against changes in market interest rates.  The projected impact on future 

net interest income before tax over the next twelve months from the close of the year resulting from a 100 basis points parallel 

shift in the yield curves applied to the year end position is a gain/(loss) of:-

Group

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

+ 100 basis points parallel shift in yield curves 17,521 14,498

- 100 basis points parallel shift in yield curves (7,803) (8,351)

The above sensitivity analysis is illustrative only.  It assumes that interest rates of all tenors move by the same amount and does 

not reflect the potential impact on net interest income of some rates changing while others remain unchanged.  The analysis 

also assumes that all financial assets and liabilities run to contractual maturity without action by the Group to mitigate any 

impact of changes in interest rates.

(e)	 Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes and/or systems, personnel or external 

events.  This risk includes operational risk events such as technology problems, missing or inadequate internal controls, human 

error, fraud and external threats.  Operational risks arise from all of the Group’s operations and are faced by all business entities.

Management of operational risk
The Group’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and damage to the 

Group’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that restrict initiative and creativity.

The operational risk management process has been established to ensure that operational risks are identified, monitored, 

managed and reported in a structured, systematic and consistent manner.

The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational risk is assigned to 

management within each department.  This responsibility is supported by the development of overall Group standards for 

the management of operational risk.  The operational risk self-assessment (ORSA) framework has been implemented and 

incorporates the mapping of risks into risk categories, monitoring of key risk indicators and loss events reporting.
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24.	Financial Risk Management (continued)

(f)	 Capital management

The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, customer and market confidence and to sustain 

future development of the business.  The Assets and Liabilities Committee reviews the adequacy of capital by monitoring 

the levels of major assets and liabilities taking into account the underlying risks of the Group’s business and compliance with 

regulatory capital requirements.  The Board of Directors monitors the level of dividends to shareholders.

Regulatory capital
The Group maintains a capital adequacy ratio in excess of the prescribed ratio, expressed as a percentage of total capital to 

total risk-weighted assets.

The Group’s regulatory capital includes share capital, accumulated profits, statutory reserve, capital reserve and share option 

reserve.  Risk-weighted assets are determined according to regulatory requirements that reflect the varying levels of risk attached 

to assets and off-balance sheet exposures.

The Group’s regulatory capital position at 31 December is as follows:-

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Share capital 869,824 869,535

Accumulated profits 168,234 146,262

Statutory reserve 549,200 524,256

Capital reserve 2,307 2,307

Share option reserve 8,074 6,481

Regulatory capital 1,597,639 1,548,841

Risk-weighted assets 8,437,077 6,933,934

Capital adequacy ratio 18.9% 22.3%

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year.
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25.	Financial Instruments

Accounting classifications and fair values

(a)	 Loans, advances and receivables and deposits and balances of customers

The fair value of fixed rate loans, advances and receivables and deposits and balances of customers, which will mature and 

reprice more than six months after the reporting date, has been determined by discounting the relevant cash flows using 

current interest rates for similar instruments at the reporting date.  The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial 

liabilities with a maturity of six months or less (including other loans, advances and receivables, and other deposits/savings 

accounts) approximate their fair values.

(b)	 Singapore Government securities

Fair value is based on quoted market bid prices at the reporting date.

(c)	 Other financial assets and financial liabilities

The carrying amounts of other financial assets and financial liabilities with a maturity of less than one year (including other 

receivables, other deposits, cash, trade payables and other payables) are estimated to approximate their fair values in view of 

the short period to maturity.

There are no financial assets and financial liabilities classified as held for trading.
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25.	Financial Instruments (continued)

In accordance with the accounting policy on Financial Instruments and pursuant to FRS 39, certain financial assets and financial 

liabilities are not carried at fair value in the statements of financial position as at 31 December.  The aggregate net fair values of 

these financial assets and financial liabilities are disclosed in the following table:-

Group

Note

Carrying
amount

2011
$’000

Fair
value
2011

$’000

Carrying

amount

2010

$’000

Fair

value

2010

$’000

Financial assets

Loans, advances and receivables 11 7,451,816 7,468,753 6,278,595 6,307,883

Singapore Government securities 10 889,201 912,515 925,586 955,826

8,341,017 8,381,268 7,204,181 7,263,709

Financial liabilities

Deposits and balances of customers 6 (7,760,675) (7,777,552) (7,176,706) (7,192,026)

Net financial assets 580,342 603,716 27,475 71,683

Unrecognised gain 23,374 44,208

Company

Note

Carrying
amount

2011
$’000

Fair
value
2011

$’000

Carrying

amount

2010

$’000

Fair

value

2010

$’000

Financial assets

Loans, advances and receivables 11 7,451,816 7,468,753 6,278,595 6,307,883

Singapore Government securities 10 889,201 912,515 925,586 955,826

8,341,017 8,381,268 7,204,181 7,263,709

Financial liabilities

Deposits and balances of customers 6 (7,764,520) (7,781,403) (7,180,519) (7,195,851)

Net financial assets 576,497 599,865 23,662 67,858

Unrecognised gain 23,368 44,196
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26.	Commitments

(a)	 Operating lease commitments

At 31 December, the Group and the Company had commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 

operating leases as follows:-

Group and Company

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Within 1 year 4,946 5,257

After 1 year but within 5 years 10,943 14,465

After 5 years 2,527 2,629

18,416 22,351

The Group leases office premises, residential premises and motor vehicles under operating leases.  The length of the leases 

ranges from one to ten years, with options to renew the leases.  None of the leases include contingent rentals.

(b)	 Capital commitments

At 31 December, the Group and the Company had outstanding capital commitments in respect of contracts to purchase 

property, plant and equipment amounting to $46,000 (2010: $465,000).

27.	Related Party Transactions

The Company is considered to be a subsidiary of Hong Leong Investment Holdings Pte. Ltd.   Transactions entered into by the Group 

and the Company with related corporations and other related parties incurred in the ordinary course of business from time to time 

and at market value, primarily comprise loans, deposits, provision of corporate advisory services, insurance transactions, property-

related transactions, purchase/sale of property, management services, incidental expenses and/or other transactions relating to the 

business of the Group and the Company.
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27.	Related Party Transactions (continued)

Key Management Personnel Compensation
Key management personnel compensation comprised:-

Group

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Short-term employee benefits 2,731 2,868

CPF contributions to defined contribution plans 5 4

Depreciation of motor vehicles 5 5

Other operating expenses including principally directors’ fees 851 787

Share-based payments 134 307

3,726 3,971

Directors’ remuneration (inclusive of fees) included in key management personnel compensation amounted to $2,735,000 (2010: 

$2,878,000).

Key management personnel of the Company participate in the Share Option Scheme as described in Note 5.  During the year, 

options to 520,000 (2010: 590,000) shares were granted to key management personnel.  These share options are subject to a 

vesting schedule.

Options granted to key management personnel outstanding at the end of the year are as follows:-

2011 2010

Granted on

5.12.2002 600,000 600,000

16.9.2003 400,000 400,000

28.9.2004 360,000 360,000

28.9.2005 540,000 540,000

28.9.2006 377,600 377,600

19.9.2007 567,000 567,000

30.9.2008 567,000 567,000

29.9.2009 530,000 530,000

28.9.2010 590,000 590,000

29.9.2011 520,000 -
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27.	Related Party Transactions (continued)

Options granted to an Executive Director included in key management personnel outstanding at the end of the year are as follows:-

2011 2010

Granted on

5.12.2002 600,000 600,000

16.9.2003 400,000 400,000

28.9.2004 360,000 360,000

28.9.2005 360,000 360,000

28.9.2006 324,000 324,000

19.9.2007 378,000 378,000

30.9.2008 378,000 378,000

29.9.2009 360,000 360,000

28.9.2010 400,000 400,000

29.9.2011 360,000 -

Other Related Party Transactions
Related party balances as at the reporting date and transactions during the financial year are as follows:-

Group 

Holding

Company

Fellow Subsidiaries 

and Associates of

Holding Company

Key

Management

Personnel*

$’000 $’000 $’000

(a) Secured loans, advances and hire purchase receivables

	 Outstanding balances:

	 As at 1 January 2010 - 55 187,323

	 Increase - - 30,356

	 (Decrease) - (31) (37,289)

	 As at 31 December 2010 - 24 180,390

	 Increase - - 24,436
	 (Decrease) - (24) (25,641)
	 As at 31 December 2011 - - 179,185

	 Undrawn loan commitments:

	 As at 1 January 2010 20,000 30,000 90,009

	 Increase - - 13,388

	 (Decrease) - - (35,247)

	 As at 31 December 2010 20,000 30,000 68,150

	 Increase - - 183,287
	 (Decrease) - - (146,456)
	 As at 31 December 2011 20,000 30,000 104,981
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27.	Related Party Transactions (continued)

Group 

Holding

Company

Fellow Subsidiaries

and Associates of

Holding Company

Key

Management

Personnel*

$’000 $’000 $’000

(b) Specific allowances for doubtful debts

	 As at 31 December 2010 - - -

	 As at 31 December 2011 - - -

(c) Other receivables, deposits and prepayment

	 Outstanding balances:

	 As at 1 January 2010 - 977 -

	 Increase - 221 -

	 (Decrease) - (105) -

	 As at 31 December 2010 - 1,093 -

	 Increase - 6 -
	 (Decrease) - (62) -
	 As at 31 December 2011 - 1,037 -

(d) Deposits and balances of customers

	 Outstanding balances:

	 As at 1 January 2010 - 13,556 20,899

	 Increase - 23,698 1,645

	 (Decrease) - (1,124) (4,821)

	 As at 31 December 2010 - 36,130 17,723

	 Increase 70,125 8,232 16,652
	 (Decrease) - (289) -
	 As at 31 December 2011 70,125 44,073 34,375

(e) Trade and other payables

	 Outstanding balances:

	 As at 1 January 2010 - 188 35

	 Increase - 106 2

	 (Decrease) - (10) (7)

	 As at 31 December 2010 - 284 30

	 Increase 64 4 26
	 (Decrease) - (61) (4)
	 As at 31 December 2011 64 227 52

(f) Lease commitments

	 Operating lease commitments

	 As at 31 December 2010 - 19,394 -

	 As at 31 December 2011 - 15,334 -
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27.	Related Party Transactions (continued)

Group

Holding

Company

Fellow Subsidiaries

and Associates of

Holding Company

Key

Management

Personnel*

$’000 $’000 $’000

(g) Profit and loss transactions

Year ended 31 December 2011

-	 Interest income on loans and advances and hiring 

charges in respect of hire purchase receivables - - 4,443
-	 Interest expense on deposits (188) (95) (137)
-	 Fee, commission and other income 1 25 49
-	 Other operating expenses - (4,653) -
-	 Specific allowances for bad and doubtful debts - - -

Year ended 31 December 2010

-	 Interest income on loans and advances and hiring 

charges in respect of hire purchase receivables - 1 6,014

-	 Interest expense on deposits - (31) (121)

-	 Fee, commission and other income 1 33 10

-	 Other operating expenses - (4,190) -

-	 Specific allowances for bad and doubtful debts - - -

(h) Expenses incurred on account of customers for 

professional services

Year ended 31 December 2011 - - (3)
Year ended 31 December 2010 - - (10)
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27.	Related Party Transactions (continued)

Company

Holding

Company

Fellow

Subsidiaries

and Associates

of Holding

Company

Key

Management

Personnel* Subsidiaries

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(a) Secured loans, advances and hire purchase receivables

	 Outstanding balances:

	 As at 1 January 2010 - 55 187,323 -

	 Increase - - 30,356 -

	 (Decrease) - (31) (37,289) -

	 As at 31 December 2010 - 24 180,390 -

	 Increase - - 24,436 -
	 (Decrease) - (24) (25,641) -
	 As at 31 December 2011 - - 179,185 -

	 Undrawn loan commitments:

	 As at 1 January 2010 20,000 30,000 90,009 -

	 Increase - - 13,388 -

	 (Decrease) - - (35,247) -

	 As at 31 December 2010 20,000 30,000 68,150 -

	 Increase - - 183,287 -
	 (Decrease) - - (146,456) -
	 As at 31 December 2011 20,000 30,000 104,981 -

(b) Specific allowances for doubtful debts

	 As at 31 December 2010 - - - -

	 As at 31 December 2011 - - - -

(c) Other receivables, deposits and prepayment

	 Outstanding balances:

	 As at 1 January 2010 - 977 - -

	 Increase - 221 - -

	 (Decrease) - (105) - -

	 As at 31 December 2010 - 1,093 - -

	 Increase - 6 - -
	 (Decrease) - (62) - -
	 As at 31 December 2011 - 1,037 - -
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27.	Related Party Transactions (continued)

Company

Holding

Company

Fellow

Subsidiaries

and Associates

of Holding

Company

Key

Management

Personnel* Subsidiaries

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(d) Deposits and balances of customers

	 Outstanding balances:

	 As at 1 January 2010 - 13,556 20,899 3,482

	 Increase - 23,698 1,645 331

	 (Decrease) - (1,124) (4,821) -

	 As at 31 December 2010 - 36,130 17,723 3,813

	 Increase 70,125 8,232 16,652 32
	 (Decrease) - (289) - -
	 As at 31 December 2011 70,125 44,073 34,375 3,845

(e) Trade and other payables

	 Outstanding balances:

	 As at 1 January 2010 - 185 35 27

	 Increase - 100 2 5

	 (Decrease) - (10) (7) (3)

	 As at 31 December 2010 - 275 30 29

	 Increase 64 4 26 3
	 (Decrease) - (56) (4) (1)
	 As at 31 December 2011 64 223 52 31

(f) Lease commitments

	 Operating lease commitments

	 As at 31 December 2010 - 19,394 - -

	 As at 31 December 2011 - 15,334 - -

*	 Key Management Personnel relate to key management personnel of the Group and the Company and of the holding company 

of the Company and their close family members.

Loans and deposits transactions with related parties are conducted at arm’s length in the ordinary course of business.  Credit 

facilities granted are subject to the Company’s normal credit evaluation, approval, monitoring and reporting processes.  Loans and 

advances are secured on equity securities or property, plant and equipment.

No impairment losses have been recorded against balances outstanding during the financial year with related parties, and no 

specific allowance has been made for balances with related parties at the end of the financial year.
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28.	Use of Accounting Estimates and Judgements

These disclosures supplement the commentary on financial risk management in Note 24.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

(a)	 Impairment losses on loans, advances and receivables

The Group reviews the loan portfolio to assess impairment at least on a quarterly basis.  The specific counterparty component of 

the total allowances for doubtful debts applies to claims evaluated individually for impairment and is based on management’s 

best estimate of the present value of the cash flows that are expected to be received.  In estimating these cash flows, management 

makes judgements about a counterparty’s financial situation and the net realisable value of any underlying collateral.  Each 

impaired asset is assessed on its merits.

Collectively assessed allowances cover credit losses inherent in portfolios of claims with similar economic characteristics when 

there is objective evidence to suggest that they contain impaired claims, but the individual impaired items cannot yet be 

identified.  The Group makes judgements as to whether there is any observable data indicating a measurable decrease in 

the estimated future cash flows of the loan portfolio.  The evidence may include observable data indicating adverse changes 

in the payment status of certain groups of borrowers or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults in the loan 

portfolio.  Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for loans, advances and receivables with credit 

risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the loan portfolio when scheduling future cash 

flows.  The methodology and assumptions used for estimating the amount and timing of cash flows are reviewed regularly to 

reduce any differences between estimates and actual loss experience.  Collectively assessed allowances also take into account 

prevailing regulatory considerations.

(b)	 Held-to-maturity investments

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity are classified as held to maturity.  In 

classifying financial assets as held-to-maturity, the Group has determined that it has both the positive intention and ability to 

hold the assets to maturity.  The Group does not classify any financial assets as held to maturity if during the current financial 

year or during the two preceding financial years, it sold or reclassified more than an insignificant amount of held-to-maturity 

investments before maturity.  If the conditions are not complied with, the investments will be reclassified as available-for-sale 

and measured at fair value.  As at the end of the current financial year, had the held-to-maturity investments been classified as 

available-for-sale, the fair value would have increased by $23,314,000 (2010: $30,240,000), with a corresponding entry in the 

fair value reserve in equity.

(c)	 Provision for settlements and costs relating to distribution of wealth management products

The Company has made a provision for settlements with customers together with costs relating to compensation sought in 

respect of wealth management products distributed by the Company, based on management’s best estimates to arrive at a fair 

and equitable resolution.
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29.	Comparative Information

Pursuant to FRS 7 (Cash Flow Statements), Singapore Government securities held as liquid assets with a tenor exceeding three 

months at the point of purchase, although readily marketable, will not be treated as cash and cash equivalents.  Accordingly, Cash 

and cash equivalents and Singapore Government securities in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows have been restated as 

follows:-

2010

As previously

reported Adjustments

2010

Restated

$’000 $’000 $’000

Changes in working capital:

Singapore Government securities - 101,683 101,683

Cash and cash equivalents

at beginning of year 2,732,509 (1,027,269) 1,705,240

at end of year 2,571,487 (925,586) 1,645,901

The restatement does not have any impact on the statements of financial position as cash at bank and in hand, statutory deposit 

with the Monetary Authority of Singapore and Singapore Government securities were previously presented separately on the 

statements of financial position.
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Number of shares in issue : 440,506,793 

Class of Shares : Ordinary Shares  

Number of Shareholders : 11,388 

Voting Rights : 1 vote for 1 share 

No. of No. of

Range of Shareholdings Shareholders % Shares Held % 

1 – 999 1,318 11.57 420,360 0.10 

1,000 – 10,000 8,086 71.01 32,176,302 7.30

10,001 – 1,000,000 1,959 17.20 96,227,490 21.84

1,000,001 and above 25 0.22 311,682,641 70.76

11,388 100.00 440,506,793 100.00 

Based on the information available to the Company as at 9 March 2012, approximately 49.31% of the total number of issued shares of 

the Company is held by the public and therefore, Rule 723 of the Listing Manual issued by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading 

Limited is complied with. 

Major Shareholders List - Top 20 as at 9 March 2012
(As shown in the Register of Members) 

No. Name No. of Shares Held % *

1 Hong Leong Investment Holdings Pte. Ltd. 99,608,176 22.61

2 Hong Realty (Private) Limited 23,271,370 5.28

3 DBS Nominees Pte Ltd 21,850,056 4.96

4 Hong Leong Corporation Holdings Pte Ltd 19,685,812 4.47

5 United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 18,747,482 4.26

6 BNP Paribas Securities Services Singapore Branch 17,115,933 3.89

7 SGI Investment Holdings Pte Ltd 16,899,187 3.84

8 Garden Estates (Pte.) Limited   16,710,670 3.79

9 Hong Leong Foundation 13,854,823 3.15

10 HSBC (Singapore) Nominees Pte Ltd 11,733,798 2.66

11 City Developments Limited 9,149,817 2.08

12 Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd  8,687,053 1.97

13 Tudor Court Gallery Pte Ltd   6,517,000 1.48

14 Hong Leong Holdings Limited 5,460,422 1.24

15 Hong Leong Enterprises Pte Ltd 4,485,047 1.02

16 HL Bank Nominees (S) Pte Ltd  3,952,000 0.90

17 DBSN Services Pte Ltd 2,530,588 0.57

18 DBS Vickers Securities (S) Pte Ltd 1,767,971 0.40

19 OCBC Nominees Singapore  Private Limited 1,632,054 0.37

20 Kwek Leng Kee 1,595,079 0.36

305,254,338 69.30

* The percentage of shares held is based on the total number of issued shares of the Company as at 9 March 2012.
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Substantial Shareholders 
(As shown in the Register of Substantial Shareholders as at 9 March 2012) 

 No. of Shares 

Direct
Interest 

Deemed
Interest

Total
Interest % *

Hong Realty (Private) Limited 23,271,370 23,678,335 (1) 46,949,705 10.66

Hong Leong Enterprises Pte. Ltd. 4,485,047 19,968,812 (2) 24,453,859 5.55

Hong Leong Investment Holdings Pte. Ltd. 99,608,176 106,252,582 (3) 205,860,758 46.73

Davos Investment Holdings Private Limited - 205,860,758 (4) 205,860,758 46.73

Kwek Holdings Pte Ltd - 205,860,758 (4) 205,860,758 46.73

Aberdeen Asset Management Asia Limited - 22,168,707 (5) 22,168,707 5.03

Aberdeen Asset Management plc and its subsidiaries - 22,168,707 (6) 22,168,707 5.03

* The percentage of shares held is based on the total number of issued shares of the Company as at 9 March 2012.

Notes:
(1)	 Hong Realty (Private) Limited (“HR”) is deemed under Section 7 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 to have an interest in the 

23,678,335 shares held directly by companies in which it is entitled to exercise or control the exercise of not less than 20% 

of the votes attached to the voting shares thereof.

(2)	 Hong Leong Enterprises Pte. Ltd. (“HLE”) is deemed under Section 7 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 to have an interest 

in the 19,968,812 shares held directly and/or indirectly by companies in which it is entitled to exercise or control the exercise 

of not less than 20% of the votes attached to the voting shares thereof.

(3)	 Hong Leong Investment Holdings Pte. Ltd. (“HLIH”) is deemed under Section 7 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 to have 

an interest in the 106,252,582 shares held directly and/or indirectly by companies in which it is entitled to exercise or control 

the exercise of not less than 20% of the votes attached to the voting shares thereof, which includes (i) the 46,949,705 shares 

held directly and indirectly by HR and (ii) the 24,453,859 shares held directly and indirectly by HLE.

(4)	 Davos Investment Holdings Private Limited and Kwek Holdings Pte Ltd are deemed under Section 7 of the Companies Act, 

Chapter 50, to have interests in the 205,860,758 shares held directly and/or indirectly by HLIH in which each of them is 

entitled to exercise or control the exercise of not less than 20% of the votes attached to the voting shares thereof.

(5)	 The deemed interest of Aberdeen Asset Management Asia Limited (“AAMAL”) relates to shares held by various accounts 

managed by AAMAL whereby AAMAL is given disposal rights without voting rights for 1,369,000 shares and both disposal 

and voting rights for 20,799,707 shares.

(6)	 The deemed interest of Aberdeen Asset Management plc and its subsidiaries (the “Aberdeen Group”) relates to shares held 

by various accounts managed by the Aberdeen Group whereby the Aberdeen Group is given disposal rights without voting 

rights for 1,369,000 shares and both disposal and voting rights for 20,799,707 shares.
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Fifty-Second Annual General Meeting (the “Meeting”) of HONG LEONG FINANCE LIMITED (the 
“Company”) will be held at M Hotel Singapore, Banquet Suite, Level 10, 81 Anson Road, Singapore 079908, on Thursday, 26 April 
2012 at 3.00 p.m. for the following purposes:

A)	 Ordinary Business:

1.	 To receive and adopt the Audited Financial Statements and Reports of the Directors and Auditors for the year ended 31 December 
2011.

2.	 To declare a tax exempt (1-tier) final dividend of 8 cents per share for the year ended 31 December 2011 as recommended by the 
Directors.

3.	 To approve Directors’ Fees of $487,584 for the year ended 31 December 2011 (year 2010: $495,668), Fees to the Audit Committee 
and Risk Management Committee of $25,000 (2011: $25,000 per quarter) and $45,000 (2011: $50,000 per quarter) each per 
quarter respectively for the year ending 31 December 2012. 

4.	 To re-elect the following Directors retiring in accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company and who, being eligible, 
offer themselves for re-election:

(a)	 Mr Kwek Leng Joo
(b)	 Mr Po’ad bin Shaik Abu Bakar Mattar
(c)	 Mr Raymond Lim Siang Keat (appointed on 1 March 2012)

5.	 To re-appoint the following Directors pursuant to Section 153(6) of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 to hold office from the date of 
this Meeting until the next Annual General Meeting:

(a)	 Mr Kwek Leng Beng
(b)	 Mr Cheng Shao Shiong @ Bertie Cheng

6.	 To re-appoint KPMG LLP as Auditors and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.

B)	 Special Business:

7.	 To consider and, if thought fit, to pass, with or without any modifications, the following resolution as an Ordinary Resolution:

That authority be and is hereby given to the Directors to:

(a)	 (i)	 issue shares in the capital of the Company (“shares”) whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise; and/or

(ii)	 make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might or would require shares to be issued, 
including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as adjustments to) warrants, debentures or other Instruments 
convertible into shares, 

at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the Directors may in their 
absolute discretion deem fit; and
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(b)	 (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Ordinary Resolution may have ceased to be in force) issue shares in pursuance 

of any Instrument made or granted by the Directors while this Ordinary Resolution was in force,

provided that:

(1)	 the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to this Ordinary Resolution (including shares to be issued in pursuance 

of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Ordinary Resolution but excluding shares which may be issued pursuant 

to any adjustments effected under any relevant Instrument), does not exceed 50% of the total number of issued shares in 

the capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below), of which the aggregate number 

of shares to be issued other than on a pro rata basis to shareholders of the Company (including shares to be issued in 

pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Ordinary Resolution but excluding shares which may be issued 

pursuant to any adjustments effected under any relevant Instrument) does not exceed 20% of the total number of issued 

shares in the capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below);

(2)	 (subject to such manner of calculation as may be prescribed by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-

ST”)) for the purpose of determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued under sub-paragraph (1) above, 

the total number of issued shares in the capital of the Company shall be based on the total number of issued shares in the 

capital of the Company at the time this Ordinary Resolution is passed, after adjusting for:

(i)	 new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities or share options which are outstanding 

or subsisting at the time this Ordinary Resolution is passed; and

(ii)	 any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares.

(3)	 in exercising the authority conferred by this Ordinary Resolution, the Company shall comply with the provisions of the 

SGX-ST Listing Manual for the time being in force (unless such compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST) and the Articles 

of Association for the time being of the Company; and

(4)	 (unless revoked or varied by the Company in General Meeting) the authority conferred by this Ordinary Resolution shall 

continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next 

Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier.

8.	 To consider and, if thought fit, to pass, with or without any modifications, the following resolutions as Ordinary Resolutions:

(a)	 That approval be and is hereby given to the Directors to offer and grant options in accordance with the provisions of the 

Hong Leong Finance Share Option Scheme 2001 (the “Share Option Scheme”) to eligible participants under the Share Option 

Scheme other than Parent Group Employees and Parent Group Non-Executive Directors (each as defined under the terms of the 

Share Option Scheme) and to allot and issue from time to time such number of shares in the capital of the Company as may be 

required to be issued pursuant to the exercise of the options granted under the Share Option Scheme provided that:

(i)	 the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to the Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 15% of the total 

number of issued shares in the capital of the Company from time to time; and 

(ii)	 the aggregate number of shares to be issued during the entire operation of the Share Option Scheme (subject to adjustments, 

if any, made under the Share Option Scheme) shall not exceed such limits or (as the case may be) sub-limits as may be 

prescribed in the Share Option Scheme.
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(b)	 That approval be and is hereby given to the Directors to offer and grant options in accordance with the provisions of the Share 

Option Scheme to eligible participants under the Share Option Scheme who are Parent Group Employees and Parent Group 

Non-Executive Directors (each as defined under the terms of the Share Option Scheme) and to allot and issue from time to time 

such number of shares in the capital of the Company as may be required to be issued pursuant to the exercise of the options 

granted under the Share Option Scheme, provided that:

(i)	 the aggregate number of shares to be issued to Parent Group Employees and Parent Group Non-Executive Directors shall 

not exceed 3% of the total number of issued shares in the capital of the Company from time to time; 

(ii)	 the aggregate number of shares to be issued to all participants (including Parent Group Employees and Parent Group Non-

Executive Directors) pursuant to the Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 15% of the total number of issued shares in the 

capital of the Company from time to time; and

(iii)	the aggregate number of shares to be issued during the entire operation of the Share Option Scheme (subject to adjustments, 

if any, made under the Share Option Scheme) shall not exceed such limits or (as the case may be) sub-limits as may be 

prescribed in the Share Option Scheme.

C)	 To Transact Any Other Ordinary Business

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Yeo Swee Gim, Joanne

Company Secretary

Singapore, 2 April 2012

Directors have recommended a tax exempt (1-tier) Final Dividend of 8 cents per share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2011 

for approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 26 April 2012.  Subject thereto, the dividend, will be payable 

on 25 May 2012.

The Company had on 28 February 2012 advised that the Share Transfer Books and Register of Members of the Company will be closed 

on 10 May 2012.  Duly completed registrable transfers received by the Company’s Share Registrar, M & C Services Private Limited of 

138 Robinson Road #17-00, The Corporate Office, Singapore 068906 up to 5.00 p.m. on 9 May 2012 will be registered to determine 

shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed dividend for the year ended 31 December 2011. 
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Notes:

1.	 A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting may appoint not more than two proxies to attend and 

vote in his stead.  A proxy need not be a member of the Company.  The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the 

Company Secretary’s Office at 36 Robinson Road, #03-01 City House, Singapore 068877, not less than 48 hours before the time 

appointed for holding the Meeting.

2.	 With reference to item 3 above (under the heading “Ordinary Business”), the Directors’ Fees of $487,584 for the year ended 

31 December 2011 excludes the quarterly fees of $25,000 and $50,000 paid to the Audit Committee (“AC”) and the Risk 

Management Committee (“RMC”) respectively for the year ended 31 December 2011, which have been approved by shareholders 

at the 2010 and 2011 Annual General Meetings of the Company. The payment of the fees to the AC and RMC for the year ending 

31 December 2012 shall be made in arrears at the end of each calendar quarter (except for the first quarter of 2012 which shall be 

made upon the approval by the shareholders at the Meeting). 

3.	 With reference to item 4(b) above (under the heading “Ordinary Business”), Mr Mattar will, upon re-election as a Director of the 

Company, remain as Lead Independent Director and chairman of the AC, Remuneration Committee (“RC”) and the Share Option Scheme 

Committee.  Mr Mattar is an independent Director.

4.	 With reference to item 5(a) above (under the heading “Ordinary Business”), Mr Kwek Leng Beng will, upon re-appointment as a 

Director of the Company, remain as Chairman of the Board, chairman of the Executive Committee (“Exco”), and a member of the 

Nominating Committee (“NC”) and RMC.  

5.	 With reference to item 5(b) above (under the heading “Ordinary Business”), Mr Cheng will, upon re-appointment as a Director 

of the Company, remain as chairman of the NC and RMC and also as a member of the RC, Exco and Share Option Scheme 

Committee.  Mr Cheng is an independent Director.

6.	 Mr Woo Tchi Chu, a Director retiring at the Meeting in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, has notified the 

Company that he will not be seeking re-election as a Director of the Company at the Meeting. Consequent thereto, Mr Woo will 

also cease to act as a member of the Exco, NC, RC, Share Option Scheme Committee and RMC, following the conclusion of the 

Meeting.

7.	 The ordinary resolution set out in item 7 above (under the heading “Special Business”), if passed, will empower the Directors of the 

Company from the date of the Meeting until the next Annual General Meeting to issue shares whether by way of rights, bonus or 

otherwise and/or make or grant Instruments that might require shares to be issued up to and not exceeding 50% of the Company’s 

total number of issued shares, with a limit of 20% of the Company’s total number of issued shares for any issue of shares not made 

on a pro rata basis to shareholders.  This authority will expire at the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, unless revoked 

or varied at a general meeting.

8.	  (a)	The ordinary resolution set out in item 8(a) above (under the heading “Special Business”), if passed, will empower the Directors to 

offer and grant options in accordance with the Share Option Scheme to eligible participants under the Share Option Scheme other 

than Parent Group Employees and Parent Group Non-Executive Directors (each as defined under the terms of the Share Option 

Scheme) and to issue from time to time such number of shares in the capital of the Company pursuant to the exercise of such options 

under the Share Option Scheme subject to such limits or sub-limits as prescribed in the Share Option Scheme. (see note below on 

voting restrictions)
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(b)	 The ordinary resolution set out in item 8(b) above (under the heading “Special Business”), if passed, will empower the Directors to 

offer and grant options in accordance with the Share Option Scheme to eligible participants under the Share Option Scheme who are 

Parent Group Employees and Parent Group Non-Executive Directors (each as defined under the terms of the Share Option Scheme) 

and to issue from time to time such number of shares in the capital of the Company pursuant to the exercise of such options under 

the Share Option Scheme subject to such limits or sub-limits as prescribed in the Share Option Scheme. (see note below on voting 

restrictions)

Note on voting restrictions pursuant to Rules 859 and 860 of the SGX-ST Listing Manual:

Please note that if a shareholder is eligible to participate in the Share Option Scheme (other than as a director and/or employee 
of Hong Leong Investment Holdings Pte. Ltd. (the “Parent Company”) and its subsidiaries (but not including the Company)), 
he should abstain from voting at the Meeting in respect of the ordinary resolution set out in item 8(a) in relation to the Share 
Option Scheme, and should not accept nominations as proxies or otherwise for voting at the Meeting, in respect of the 
aforesaid ordinary resolution, unless specific instructions have been given in the proxy form on how the vote is to be cast for 
the aforesaid resolution.

The Parent Company and its associates (as defined in the SGX-ST Listing Manual) and the directors and employees of the Parent 
Company and its subsidiaries, who are also shareholders of the Company and are eligible to participate in the Share Option 
Scheme (the “Parent Group Directors and Employees”), are required to abstain from voting at the Meeting in respect of the 
ordinary resolution set out in item 8(b) in relation to the Share Option Scheme. For the avoidance of doubt, the Parent Company 
and its associates and the Parent Group Directors and Employees are not required to abstain from voting at the Meeting in 
respect of the ordinary resolution set out in item 8(a).
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HONG LEONG FINANCE LIMITED 
Co. Reg. No. 196100003D 

(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

Proxy Form for Annual General Meeting 

I/We,  with NRIC/Passport No. 

of 
being a * member/members of HONG LEONG FINANCE LIMITED (the “Company”), hereby appoint

Name Address NRIC/Passport Number 
Proportion of 

Shareholdings (%)

and/or (delete as appropriate) 

as *my/our *proxy/proxies to vote for *me/us on *my/our behalf at the 52nd Annual General Meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) 
to be held at M Hotel Singapore, Banquet Suite, Level 10, 81 Anson Road, Singapore 079908 on Thursday, 26 April 2012 at 3.00 p.m. 
and at any adjournment thereof.  *I/We direct *my/our *proxy/proxies to vote for or against the Resolutions to be proposed at the 
AGM as indicated with an “X” in the spaces provided hereunder.  If no specific direction as to voting is given, the *proxy/proxies will 
vote or abstain from voting at *his/their discretion, as *he/they will on any other matter arising at the AGM. 

No. Resolutions For Against 
A ORDINARY BUSINESS: 

1. Adoption of Reports and Financial Statements 

2. Declaration of Final Dividend

3. Approval of Directors’ Fees, Audit Committee Fees and Risk Management Committee Fees  

4. Re-election of Directors: (a) Mr Kwek Leng Joo

(b) Mr Po’ad bin Shaik Abu Bakar Mattar

(c) Mr Raymond Lim Siang Keat

5. Re-appointment of Directors under Section 
153(6) of the Companies Act, Chapter 50: 

(a) Mr Kwek Leng Beng

(b) Mr Cheng Shao Shiong @ Bertie Cheng

6. Re-appointment of KPMG LLP as Auditors 

B SPECIAL BUSINESS: 

7. Authority for Directors to issue shares and/or make or grant offers, agreements or options 
pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 and the Listing Manual of the 
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited 

8. (a)	 Authority for Directors to offer and grant options to eligible participants under the Hong 
Leong Finance Share Option Scheme 2001 (the “Share Option Scheme”) other than 
Parent Group Employees and Parent Group Non-Executive Directors and to issue shares in 
accordance with the provisions of the Share Option Scheme

(b)	 Authority for Directors to offer and grant options to eligible participants under the Share 
Option Scheme who are Parent Group Employees and Parent Group Non-Executive 
Directors and to issue shares in accordance with the provisions of the Share Option 
Scheme

Dated this  day of  2012 

Total No. of Shares Held

Signature(s) of member(s)/Common Seal
* Delete accordingly

NOTES: SEE OVERLEAF 

IMPORTANT: 
1.	 For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy Hong Leong Finance Limited 

shares, the Annual Report is forwarded to them at the request of their CPF Approved 
Nominee and is sent solely FOR INFORMATION ONLY. 

2.	 This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF Investors and shall be ineffective for all 
intents and purposes if used or purported to be used by them. 

3.	 CPF Investors who wish to attend the 52nd Annual General Meeting as OBSERVERS 
have to submit their requests through their respective Agent Banks so that their Agent 
Banks may register with the Company Secretary of Hong Leong Finance Limited. 
(Agent Banks: Please see note 8 on required format.)



NOTES: 

1.	 A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the AGM is entitled to appoint one or two proxies to attend and vote in his/her 
stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. 

2.	 Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportion of his shareholding (expressed 
as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy. 

3.	 Please insert the total number of shares held by you.  If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register (as defined 
in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore), you should insert that number of shares.  If you have shares registered in 
your name in the Register of Members of the Company, you should insert that number of shares.  If you have shares entered against your 
name in the Depository Register and shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate number 
of shares.  If no number is inserted, this instrument of proxy will be deemed to relate to all the shares held by you. 

4.	 This instrument of a proxy must be signed by the appointor or his attorney duly authorised in writing.  Where the instrument appointing 
a proxy or proxies is executed by a body corporate, it must be executed either under its common seal or under the hand of its attorney or 
a duly authorised officer. 

5.	 A body corporate which is a member may also appoint by resolution of its directors or other governing body an authorised representative 
or representatives in accordance with its Articles of Association and Section 179 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore to attend 
and vote for and on behalf of such body corporate. 

6.	 This instrument appointing a proxy (together with the power of attorney, if any, under which it is signed or a certified copy thereof), must 
be deposited at the Company Secretary’s Office at 36 Robinson Road, #03-01 City House, Singapore 068877, not less than 48 hours 
before the time fixed for holding the AGM. 

7.	 The Company shall be entitled to reject an instrument of proxy if it is incomplete, improperly completed, illegible or where the true 
intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in this instrument of proxy. In addition, in 
the case of shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if the 
member, being the appointor, is not shown to have shares entered against his name in the Depository Register as at 48 hours before the 
time appointed for holding the AGM as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company. 

8.	 Agent Banks acting on the request of CPF Investors who wish to attend the AGM as Observers are required to submit in writing, a list with 
details of the investor’s name, NRIC/Passport Number, addresses and number of shares held.  The list, signed by an authorised signatory of 
the agent bank, should reach the Company Secretary, at her office at 36 Robinson Road, #03-01 City House, Singapore 068877, not less 
than 48 hours before the time fixed for holding the AGM.

The Company Secretary

HONG LEONG FINANCE LIMITED
36 Robinson Road, #03-01 City House

Singapore 068877
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